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BUILDING A GLOBAL
SCIENCE-FOCUSED
BIOPHARMA COMPANY
FROM AN ESTABLISHE
BASE IN CHINA




FULLY INTEGRATED R&D AND
COMMERCIALIZATION PLATFORM
BUILT OVER 22 YEARS

>4,600 personnel* "'1,500 person team

across HUTCHMED group in Oncology/Immunology

Global novel drug discovery and manufacturing
operations
Over 20 years novel drug discovery track-record

12 novel clinical-stage drug candidates discovered in-house
~820 integrated R&D staff focused on oncology & immunological diseases

Clinical development & regulatory operations

in all major markets

« China, U.S,, EU & Japan clinical infrastructure
More than 45 clinical studies underway world-wide
First 3 novel oncology drugs approved

Commercial teams in China & U.S. representing
around half of the global pharma market

~630 person China oncology commercial team
Covering over 2,500 China oncology hospitals
U.S. team set for possible first launch in 2022

*includes non-consolidated joint venture
HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 3



RETIREMENT OF CEOQ AND
APPOINTMENT OF NEW CEQ

On March 3, 2022, we announced the Dr. Su, has been with HUTCHMED
retirement of Mr. Christian Hogg after for about 17 years, including about
almost 22 years with HUTCHMED, 10 years as Chief Scientific Officer
including 15 years as Executive and almost five years as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer Director. He has been responsible for
(“CEO”), and the appointment of Dr. the establishment of all aspects of

Weiguo Su as the new CEO.

the oncology/immunology innovation
platform which led to the in-house

Dr. Su has been selected and discovery of 12 novel oncology drug
appointed to his additional role as the  candidates, the first three of which
CEOQ, as part of the Company’s ongoing  have achieved approval and successful

succession planning.

Simon To
Chairman

Christian Hogg

commercial launch. Weiguo SU

“On behalf of the Board, | would like to congratulate Dr. Su on his appointment to CEO of
HUTCHMED and wish him great success in this well-deserved appointment. | would also like to
extend our deepest appreciation to Christian for his contributions and wish him the best in his
retirement.

Christian was the first employee of HUTCHMED twenty-two years ago and he has worked tirelessly
to build the Company from its very beginning into the truly globally facing biopharmaceutical
company it is today. Christian will remain as a strategic advisor to the Company, with an emphasis
on organizational development, relations with our partners, global commercialization strategy
and investor relations matters.”

“After over 34 years away, and 27 years in China, | have taken the decision to return home to
Europe to focus on, and be close to, my important family responsibilities. | am glad to see the
Board’s new appointment of Dr. Weiguo Su, one of the industry’s most respected leaders, and a
person who | believe, with the support of our board and deeply experienced senior management
team, will take HUTCHMED to greater heights.”



CHAIRMAN'
STATEME

2021 was an exceptional
year for HUTCHMED”

SIMON TO, CHAIRMAN

Commercial success on ELUNATE® and the launches of SULANDA® and

ORPATHYS® contributed to an almost four-fold increase in consolidated

oncology/immunology revenues to $119.6 million, with momentum
continuing in 2022.

ORPATHYS® took a major step forward in 2021 with its first approval
and important, and as yet unpublished, data from the SAVANNAH

study in combination with TAGRISSO®. We and our partner AstraZeneca
initiated four Phase IlI studies and one Phase Il study, with registration

potential, for ORPATHYS® during 2021. These actions have triggered
$40 million in milestone payments to HUTCHMED since mid-2021.

A seventh registration study, a global Phase Il in NSCLC, the SAFFRON
study, is set to initiate in mid-2022.

We are rapidly progressing our plan to expand our oncology assets into

global markets. Led by our team of over 800-personnel in discovery,
development and manufacturing operations, we have an un-equaled
fifteen-year track-record of producing high quality novel oncology/
immunology drug candidates.

Seven of our assets are now being developed outside China. In addition

to the global progress of ORPATHYS®, surufatinib’s U.S. NDA and
EU MAA are in the later stages of regulatory review for advanced NETSs;

AstraZeneca =AstraZeneca PLC and its wholly owned subsidiary, AstraZeneca AB (publ)
NSCLC = Non-small cell lung cancer

NDA = New Drug Approval

MAA = Marketing Authorisation Application

NET = Neuroendocrine tumors

CRC = Colorectal cancer

All amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars unless otherwise stated.

enrollment was completed for fruquintinib in a fourteen-country
global Phase Ill study, the FRESCO-2 study, in CRC which reads-out
later in 2022; positive and differentiated POC data was presented

for amdizalisib and sovleplenib; and our FGFR, IDH1/2, ERK, third
generation BTK and CSF-1R inhibitors all made good progress in early
development.

With a strong track record in bringing innovative drugs to patients
through rigorous clinical trials, our seasoned clinical team is now
enrolling 13 registration studies for six assets with an additional

5 registration studies set to initiate in 2022. With over $1 billion in
cash, and the intention to divest further non-core assets, we anticipate
having sufficient runway to see our plans through.

Our strategy is to launch a stream of new products in both the China
and global markets over the coming years, helping patients with unmet
needs and creating value for all our stakeholders.

Simon To
Chairman
March 3, 2022

POC = Proof of concept

FGFR = Fibroblast growth factor receptor

IDH = Isocitrate dehydrogenase

ERK = Extracellular signal-requlated kinase
BTK = Bruton’s tyrosine kinase

CSF-1R = Colony stimulating factor-1 receptor

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 5



2021 FULLY
SUSINESS

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

. Total revenues increased 56% to $356.1 million in 2021 (2020:
$228.0m), driven by commercial progress on our three in-house
developed oncology drugs ELUNATE®, SULANDA® and ORPATHYS®,

. Full year 2021 Oncology/Immunology consolidated revenues
of $119.6 million, up 296% (2020: $30.2m), and in line with 2021
guidance of $110-130 million;

«  Continuing expansion of in-house oncology commercial
organization in China, which at the end of 2021 numbered
about 630 personnel (end 2020: ~390) covering over 2,500 oncology
hospitals and over 29,000 oncology physicians;

. ELUNATE?® (fruquintinib in China) in-market sales' increased
111% to $71.0 million (2020: $33.7m), reflecting a full year of
HUTCHMED management of all on-the-ground medical detailing,
promotion and local and regional marketing activities in China;

-SULTS

D

=5

SULANDA?® (surufatinib in China) launched for both extra-
pancreatic NET and pancreatic NET with in-market sales in
2021 of $11.6 million (2020: nil). An encouraging start in the self-
pay market and positioned well for national reimbursement which
started in January 2022;

ORPATHYS® (savolitinib in China) launched in mid-2021 through
AstraZeneca’s extensive oncology commercial organization,
with in-market sales of $15.9 million (2020: nil). Rapid initial self-
pay uptake due to being the first-in-class selective MET? inhibitor in
China;

Successful management of the NRDL® process to expand access
to our key products in January 2022. Concluded ELUNATE® NRDL
renewal and first time NRDL inclusion of SULANDA®; and

U.S. commercial team continued to build for the potential
surufatinib U.S. approval in 2022. The team, more than 30 personnel,
is fully engaged on all aspects of launch readiness including supply
chain, market access, marketing, sales and commercial operations.

(Growth vs. Prior Period) In-market Sales*

Consolidated Revenue**

Jan-Feb 2022

Jan-Feb 2022

2021 Unaudited 2021 Unaudited
ELUNATE® §71.0m (111%) §21.6m (51%) $53.5m (168%) $13.5m (33%)
SULANDA® §11.6m - $6.0m (21%) §11.6m - $6.0m (21%)
ORPATHYS® $15.9m - §7.4m - $11.3m - $4.8m -
Product Sales $98.5m (192%) $35.0m (81%) $76.4m (282%) $24.3m (61%)

Other R&D* service income

Milestone payments

$18.2m (77%)
$25.0m -

$3.7m (80%)
$15.0m -

Total Oncology/Immunology

$119.6m (296%)  $43.0m (151%)

* = For ELUNATE® and ORPATHYS®, represents total sales to third parties as provided by Lilly and AstraZeneca, respectively;

= For ELUNATE® and ORPATHYS®, represents manufacturing fees, commercial service fees and royalties paid by Lilly and AstraZeneca, respectively, to HUTCHMED, and sales to other third

parties invoiced by HUTCHMED; For SULANDA?®, represents the Company’s sales of the product to third parties.



REGULATORY ACHIEVEMENTS

China

Received China NMPA° NDA approval for ORPATHYS®
(savolitinib) as a treatment for patients with MET exon 14 skipping
alteration NSCLC in June 2021, making savolitinib the first-in-class
selective MET inhibitor in China;

Received second China NMPA NDA approval for SULANDA®
(surufatinib) in June 2021 as a treatment for patients with advanced
pancreatic NET;

A $25 million milestone payment was made to us by
AstraZeneca in July 2021 upon first sale of ORPATHYS® in China;

Received Breakthrough Therapy Designation in China for
amdizalisib (HMPL-689) in September 2021 for the treatment of
relapsed or refractory follicular lymphoma; and

Received Breakthrough Therapy Designation in China for
sovleplenib (HMPL-523) in January 2022 for the treatment of ITP®.

United States and Europe

Surufatinib U.S. FDA’ NDA process update:

o Completed submission of U.S. FDA NDA for surufatinib,
which was accepted in June 2021, for the treatment of both
pancreatic and extra-pancreatic NET;

o U.S.FDA NDA review, as well as the clinical site inspections
and pre-approval inspections of our manufacturing
facilities, are ongoing, several inspections have been
completed with others pending subject to COVID-19 travel
restrictions and security requirements for foreign visitors; and

o The PDUFA® goal date is April 30,2022 and mid- and late-
cycle review meetings with the FDA have completed. Timing
of completion of the NDA review is subject to FDA scheduling
limitations.

Surufatinib EMA° MAA process update:
o  Fully submitted EMA MAA for surufatinib, which was
validated and accepted in July 2021, for the treatment of both

pancreatic and non-pancreatic NET; and

o Completed the 120-day assessment, and now entering the
later stages of MAA review.

Savolitinib: conducted U.S. FDA EOP2"° meeting for SAVANNAH
study of savolitinib plus TAGRISSO® in EGFR! TKI* refractory NSCLC.

o  Continued evaluation of SAVANNAH study for potential
accelerated approval use; and

o  Completed clinical trial applications in U.S., EU and Japan for
the SAFFRON study, a global pivotal Phase Il study of savolitinib
and TAGRISSO® in patients with NSCLC who have progressed
following TAGRISSO® treatment due to MET amplification.

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 7



2021 FULL YEAR RESULTS
& BUSINESS UPDATES

CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT
ACTIVITIES

Savolitinib (ORPATHYS®), a highly selective oral inhibitor of MET
being developed broadly across MET-driven patient populations in
lung and gastric cancer and renal cell carcinoma

Major clinical milestones for savolitinib in 2021:

. Initiated SAMETA, a global Phase lll pivotal study of the
savolitinib plus IMFINZI® combination in MET-driven, unresectable
and locally advanced or metastatic PRCC in October 2021
(NCT05043090);

. Initiated SANOVO, a pivotal Phase Ill study in China for the
savolitinib plus TAGRISSO® combination in treatment naive patients
with EGFR mutant NSCLC with MET aberration in September 2021
(NCT05009836);

. Initiated SACHI, a pivotal Phase Il study in China for the
savolitinib plus TAGRISSO® combination in patients with EGFR
mutant NSCLC who have progressed following EGFR TKI treatment
due to MET amplification in November 2021 (NCT05015608);

« Initiated Phase Il study with potential for registration
(NCT04923932) for savolitinib in metastatic gastric cancer with MET
amplification in China in mid-2021,

. Initiated a confirmatory China Phase lllb post-approval study
(NCT04923945) of savolitinib monotherapy in MET exon 14 skipping
alteration patients in mid-2021; and

«  Afurther $15 million milestone payment, to us by AstraZeneca,
was triggered in February 2022 upon initiation of start-up activities
for SAFFRON.

Major savolitinib clinical data presentations in 2021:

«  Presented CALYPSO Phase Il study data in MET-driven PRCC
patients (NCT02819596) for savolitinib in combination with IMFINZI®
at the 2021 ASCO* Annual Meeting;

. Published in The Lancet Respiratory Medicine updated data
from the Phase Il study in patients with MET exon 14 skipping
alteration NSCLC (NCT02897479); and

. Presented final Phase Il data at WCLC'* 2020 for the TATTON
study (NCT02143466) in NSCLC patients with MET amplification who
had progressed after prior treatment with EGFR inhibitors.

Potential upcoming clinical and regulatory milestones for savolitinib in
2022:

+  Submit for presentation the SAVANNAH Phase Il study
(NCT03778229) for the savolitinib plus TAGRISSO® combination in
NSCLC patients harboring EGFR mutation and MET amplification or
overexpression at a scientific conference in the second half of 2022;
and

+ Commence enrollment in SAFFRON, a global, pivotal Phase IlI
study for the savolitinib plus TAGRISSO® combination in mid-
2022 (NCT05261399).

Surufatinib (SULANDA® in China), an oral inhibitor of VEGFR*, FGFR and
CSF-1R designed to inhibit tumor angiogenesis and promote the body’s
immune response against tumor cells via tumor associated macrophage
regulation; approved and launched in China

Major clinical milestones for surufatinib in 2021:

Initiated the SURTORI-01 Phase Ill trial in NEC'® patients in
China, the first pivotal study combining SULANDA® and TUOYI®,
Junshi’s'” anti-PD-1 antibody, in September 2021 (NCT05015621);

Initiated a bridging study in NET patients in Japan in September
2021 (NCT05077384) based on dialogue with the Japanese PMDA'S,
and

Initiated an international Phase Ib/Il study of surufatinib
combined with tislelizumab (NCT04579757), BeiGene’s* PD-1%
antibody, in the U.S. and Europe in March 2021.

Major surufatinib clinical data presentations in 2021:

Presented NEC cohort data from the China Phase Il study of
surufatinib plus TUOYI® (NCT04169672) at the 2021 ASCO and
ESMO 10%! 2021 annual meetings;

Presented data from the gastric and gastroesophageal junction
cancers cohort of the China Phase Il study of surufatinib plus
TUOVYI® (NCT04169672) at the 2021 ASCO and ESMO 10 2021 annual
meetings;

Presented data from two additional cohorts of the China Phase
1l study of surufatinib plus TUOYI® (NCT04169672) at the ESMO 10
2021 for esophageal and small cell lung cancer;

. Presented updated results from U.S. Phase Ib monotherapy
NET cohorts (NCT02549937) in heavily pretreated patients with NET
at the 2021 ASCO Annual Meeting;



. Presented a subgroup analysis by Ki-67 and baseline CgA” of
the Phase Il monotherapy study in pancreatic NET (SANET-p)
(NCT02589821) at the 2021 ASCO Annual Meeting; and

. Presented Phase Il data for surufatinib monotherapy in BTC*
patients (NCT02966821) at the 2021 ASCO Annual Meeting in U.S.
patients after first-line chemotherapy.

Potential upcoming clinical and regulatory milestones for surufatinib in
2022:

«  Submit for presentation data from the Phase Ib/Il combination
study with tislelizumab at a scientific conference in the second
half of 2022;

«  Submit for presentation further Phase Il data for the TUOYI®
combination study for biliary tract, thyroid cancer, non-small cell
lung cancer, endometrial cancer and sarcoma cohorts at a scientific
conference in the second half of 2022, and

«  Planto initiate SURTORI-02, a Phase Il study of surufatinib
in combination with TUOYI® in esophageal cancer in China in the
second half of 2022.

Fruquintinib (ELUNATE® in China), a highly selective oral inhibitor
of VEGFR 1/2/3 designed to improve kinase selectivity to minimize
off-target toxicity and thereby improve tolerability; approved and
launched in China

Major clinical milestones for fruquintinib in 2021:

+ Completed enrollment in the FRESCO-2 global Phase Il
registration study (NCT04322539) in refractory metastatic CRC
in late 2021, with 691 patients recruited in 15 months, across 14
countries including U.S., EU, Japan and Australia, ahead of schedule;

+ Initiated registration-intent Phase Il study in endometrial
cancer for fruquintinib in combination with TYVYT®
(NCT03903705) following discussion with the NMPA,

« Initiated a Phase Il study in China and Korea for fruquintinib in
combination with tislelizumab (NCT04716634) with advanced or
metastatic, unresectable gastric cancer, CRC or NSCLG;

. Initiated a Phase Ib/ll study in the U.S. for fruquintinib in
combination with tislelizumab (NCT04577963) in patients with
triple negative breast or endometrial cancer and metastatic CRC; and

Completed enrollment in four cohorts of the Phase Il study
of fruquintinib combined with TYVYT® (NCT03903705), in CRC,
endometrial cancer, HCC** and RCC* in China.

Major fruquintinib clinical data presentations in 2021:

Presented preliminary endometrial cancer, HCC and RCC
cohorts data from the Phase Ib/Il studies of fruquintinib
combined with TYVYT® at CSCO? 2021 (NCT03903705);

Presented preliminary CRC cohorts data from the Phase
Ib/1l studies of fruquintinib combined with TYVYT® and of
fruquintinib combined with geptanolimab, Genor’s” PD-1
antibody, at the 2021 ASCO Annual Meeting (NCT04179084 and
NCT03977090, respectively); and

Presented Phase Ib U.S. monotherapy data in two different
cohorts of patients with refractory metastatic CRC (NCT03251378) at
the 2022 ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium.

Potential upcoming clinical and regulatory milestones for fruquintinib in

2022:

Amd

Complete enrollment of the FRUTIGA China Phase Ill
registration study (NCT03223376) in advanced gastric cancer in
2022, which is expected to enroll about 700 patients in China;

Report outcome of the FRESCO-2 trial (NCT04322539) in the
second half of 2022 when the event-driven primary endpoint, 0S%, is
reached;

If FRESCO-2 is positive, HUTCHMED plans to initiate a
simultaneous submission program to apply for fruquintinib
marketing authorization with the U.S. FDA, the EMA and the PMDA;
and

Plan to initiate Phase Il studies of fruquintinib plus TYVYT®
combination in HCC, RCC and endometrial cancer in China.

izalisib (HMPL-689), an investigative and highly selective oral

inhibitor of PI3K&* designed to address the gastrointestinal and
hepatotoxicity associated with currently approved and clinical-stage
PI3KS& inhibitors

Major clinical milestones for amdizalisib in 2021:

Initiated two Phase Il studies with potential for registration
in China for the treatment of patients with follicular lymphoma and
patients with marginal zone lymphoma in April 2021; and

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 9



2021 FULL YEAR RESULTS
& BUSINESS UPDATES

. Initiated dose expansion portion of the Phase I/1b study in
the U.S. and Europe (NCT03786926) in the second half of 2021 in
multiple types of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma.

Major amdizalisib clinical data presentation in 2021:

+  Presented initial dose expansion data at ESMO in September
2021 at the RP2D*, in patients with multiple types of non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma in China.

Potential upcoming clinical and regulatory milestones for amdizalisib in
2022:

« Initiate additional Phase Il studies with potential for
registration intent in China in additional relapsed/refractory non-
Hodgkin’s lymphoma indications in the second half of 2022;

. Initiate studies in combination with other anti-cancer therapies
in China in early 2022; and

«  Complete recruitment of patients for Phase Il studies with
potential for registration intent in China for the treatment of
follicular lymphoma and marginal zone lymphoma in late 2022.

Sovleplenib (HMPL-523), an investigative and highly selective oral
inhibitor of Syk®, an important component of the B-cell receptor
signaling pathway, for the treatment of hematological cancers and
immune diseases

Major clinical and regulatory milestones for sovleplenib in 2021:

« Initiated the ESLIM-01 Phase Ill pivotal study in ITP
(NCT03951623) in China in October 2021; and

« Initiated dose expansion portion of the international Phase |
study in the second half of 2021 in multiple non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma indications.

Major sovleplenib clinical data presentations in 2021:

. Presented initial Phase Ib ITP study (NCT03951623) in China at
ASH 2021%; and

. Presented initial data from the dose escalation portion of the

international Phase I study (NCT03779113) in lymphoma patients
inthe U.S. and Europe at ASH 2021.

10

Potential upcoming clinical milestone for sovleplenib in 2022:

+  Complete U.S. IND and initiate Phase I study in the U.S. in
patients with ITP.

Tazemetostat (TAZVERIK® in the U.S. and Japan), an inhibitor of EZH2
licensed from Epizyme for which HUTCHMED is collaborating to research,
develop, manufacture and commercialize in Greater China

Potential upcoming clinical and regulatory milestones for tazemetostat in
2022:

« Initiate a bridging study in follicular lymphoma in China for
conditional registration based on U.S. approvals;

+ Initiate the China portion of the global SYMPHONY-1 Phase Il
trial (NCT04224493) of tazemetostat combined with lenalidomide
and rituximab in patients with relapsed or refractory follicular
lymphoma after at least one prior line of therapy;

. Initiate Phase Il combination studies with other HUTCHMED
assets; and

«  Engage with NMPA on potential path for regulatory approval for
the treatment of patients with epithelioid sarcoma, a rare disease for
which TAZVERIK® has FDA approval.

HMPL-453, an investigative and highly selective oral inhibitor of
FGFR 1/2/3

Initiated combination studies with other anti-cancer therapies,
including chemotherapies and/or PD-1 antibodies, in China in
January 2022 (NCT05173142).

HMPL-306, an investigative and highly selective oral inhibitor of
IDH1/2 designed to address resistance to the currently marketed IDH
inhibitors

Major clinical and regulatory milestones for HMPL-306 in 2021:

« Initiated Phase | dose escalation study in China in hematological
malignancies;

« Initiated dose escalation portion of a Phase I study
(NCT04764474) in the U.S. and Europe in patients with hematological
malignancies with an IDH1 and/or IDH2 mutation in early 2021; and



. Initiated dose escalation portion of a Phase | study
(NCT04762602) in the U.S. and Europe in patients with solid tumors
with an IDH1 and/or IDH2 mutation in early 2021.

Potential upcoming clinical and requlatory milestones for HMPL-306 in 2022:

+  Submit for presentation data from the dose escalation portion
of the Phase I study (NCT04272957) in China at a scientific
conference in mid-2022;

. Initiate dose expansion portion of the Phase | study in China in
mid-2022; and

« Initiate dose expansion portion of the Phase | studies in the U.S.
and Europe in mid-2022.

HMPL-295, an investigative and highly selective oral inhibitor of
ERK in the MAPK pathway® with the potential to address intrinsic or
acquired resistance from upstream mechanisms such as RAS-RAF-
MEK

. Initiated Phase | trial (NCT04908046) in patients with advanced
solid tumors in China in July 2021.

HMPL-760, an investigative, highly selective, third-generation oral
inhibitor of BTK with improved potency versus first generation BTK
inhibitors against both wild type & C481S mutant enzymes

Initiated Phase I trials in China (NCT05190068) and the
U.S. (NCT05176691) in patients with advanced hematological
malignancies in January 2022.

HMPL-653, an investigative, highly selective, and potent CSF-1R
inhibitor designed to target CSF-1R driven tumors as a monotherapy
or in combinations

. Initiated Phase I trial in China (NCT05190068) in patients with
advanced malignant solid tumors and tenosynovial giant cell tumors
in January 2022.

HMPL-A83, a differentiated, red blood cell sparing CD47 monoclonal
antibody

+  Completed IND submission for HMPL-A83 in China in early 2022.

MANUFACTURING

«  Commercial scale-up and launches of SULANDA® and
ORPATHYS®, alongside ongoing supply of ELUNATE®;

«  Completed all relevant amdizalisib and sovleplenib
manufacturing process studies, in preparation for potential NDA
submissions; and

«  Rapid progress in building our new flagship Shanghai
manufacturing facility, designed to increase our novel drug
product manufacturing capacity by over five-fold. Small molecule
and large molecule equipment installation is planned for late 2022,
with GMP compliance targeted for late 2023.

OTHER VENTURES

Other Ventures include our profitable prescription drug marketing
and distribution platforms covering about 290 cities and towns in China
with around 2,900 mainly manufacturing and commercial personnel.

«  Other Ventures delivered encouraging growth with
consolidated revenues up 20% (13% at CER**) to $236.5 million
(2020: $197.8m). This does not include revenues from our non-
consolidated joint venture SHPL*, which also grew by 20% (12% at
CER) to $332.6 million (2020: $276.4m);

. Consolidated net income attributable to HUTCHMED from our
Other Ventures grew by 24% (16% at CER) to $54.4 million
(2020: $44.0m), excluding one-time gains; and

«  One-time gains totaled $88.5 million (2020: $28.8m), including
$82.9 million (2020: nil) from the divestment of HBYS* and $5.6
million (2020: $28.8m) from land compensation, before withholding
tax.

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 11



2021 FULL YEAR RESULTS
& BUSINESS UPDATES

OTHER CORPORATE
DEVELOPMENTS

. Completed listing on the Main Board of HKEX®', raising net
proceeds of approximately $585 million;

. Completed divestment of interest in HBYS, a non-core and
non-consolidated over-the-counter drug joint venture business for
$159.1 million in cash, representing about 22 times HBYS’s adjusted
net profit attributable to HUTCHMED equity holders in 2020 with an
additional $46.4 million related to declared dividends expected to be
collected in 2022;

. Entered into a collaboration with Epizyme in August 2021 to
research, develop, manufacture and commercialize in Greater China
its drug TAZVERIK®, an EZH2 inhibitor approved by the U.S. FDA
for the treatment of certain patients with epithelioid sarcoma and
follicular lymphoma;

«  Changed our group company name/corporate identity to
HUTCHMED in April 2021, unifying the names of the majority of our
key subsidiaries;

+  Announced a strategic partnership with Inmagene® in January
2021 to further develop four novel preclinical drug candidates
discovered by HUTCHMED for the potential treatment of multiple
immunological diseases; and

«  Arbitral award in favor of Hutchison Sinopharm* in connection
with the termination of its distribution rights for SEROQUEL®
in mainland China by Luye Pharma Hong Kong Ltd. In 2021, the
Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre made a final award in
favor of Hutchison Sinopharm against Luye Pharma Hong Kong Ltd.
in the amount of RMB253.2 million ($39.6 million), plus costs and
interest. Payment of the award is expected in 2022.

Potential upcoming corporate developments:

. Divestment of further non-core operations, we continue to look
for opportunities to divest non-core businesses, including SHPL, to
better focus on the development and global commercialization of
our innovation-driven assets; and

. Large molecule advancement, we continue to evaluate

opportunities which might accelerate our capabilities in the large
molecule arena.
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IMPACT OF COVID-19

COVID-19 did not impact our research, our clinical studies or our
commercial activities in any material manner in 2021. Certain regulatory
inspections of our manufacturing facilities in China by the U.S. FDA have,
however, been postponed due to travel restrictions. We will continue to
closely work with regulators and monitor the evolving situation.

SUSTAINABILITY

As an innovative, commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company,
HUTCHMED embraces sustainability at the core of how we operate. Over
the past two decades, we worked hard to strengthen healthcare systems
by providing quality and accessible drugs. As the world is gradually
adapting to the changes brought about by COVID-19, the pandemic has
highlighted the importance of building sustainability and environmental,
social and governance factors into business strategy. HUTCHMED

has embarked on our sustainability journey in 2020 by publishing our
inaugural ESG report to demonstrate our efforts, and establishing a board
level Sustainability Committee in 2021 to support the Board of Directors in
fulfilling their responsibilities. We plan to publish our second sustainability
report for 2021 at the end of May 2022.

Going forward, HUTCHMED will be working with our stakeholders to
embrace sustainable business practices and develop a sustainability
strategy that will help focus our efforts on areas which are most relevant
to our business. Through a materiality assessment exercise for 2021,
priority areas include: Business ethics; Drug research-related topics; Drug
development; Commercial operations responsibilities; Environmental
topics; and Management of our people. Over the course of 2022, we will
continue to engage our stakeholders to identify areas for improvement to
building a more sustainable and responsible future.






ANCIAL

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments were
$1,011.7 million as of December 31, 2021 compared to
$435.2 million as of December 31, 2020.
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Adjusted Group (non-GAAP*) net cash flows excluding financing
activities were -$73.5 million (2020: -$78.4m), with the net decrease
mainly due to $159.1 million in proceeds from the divestment of
HBYS, which offset the increasing Oncology/Immunology R&D
spending and lower dividends received from our non-consolidated
joint ventures totaling $49.9 million (2020: $86.7m); and

Net cash generated from financing activities totaled $650.0 million
(2020: $296.4m) mainly resulting from the global offering of shares
and listing on the HKEX in June 2021 and a private placement in April
2021 to a fund affiliated with Baring Private Equity Asia.

L YEAR 2021
-SL

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 were
$356.1 million compared to $228.0 million in 2020.

Oncology/Immunology consolidated revenues increased 296%
(287% at CER) to $119.6 million (2020: $30.2m) resulting from:

ELUNATE® revenues increased 168% to $53.5 million (2020:
$20.0m) in manufacturing revenues, promotion and marketing
service revenues and royalties, as our in-house sales team increased
in-market sales 1119% to $71.0 million (2020: $33.7m), as provided by
Lilly*;

SULANDAZ® sales revenues of $11.6 million since mid-January
2021 launch, initially approved to treat patients with advanced
extra-pancreatic (non-pancreatic) NET and subsequently also
approved to treat patients with pancreatic NET in June 2021;

ORPATHYS® revenue of $36.3 million since mid-July 2021
launch, which was comprised of a $25.0 million first sale milestone
payment and $11.3 million in manufacturing revenues and royalties.
AstraZeneca reported $15.9 million in-market sales (2020: nil) of
ORPATHYS® in 2021; and

Other R&D service fee revenues of $18.2 million (2020: $10.2m),
which were primarily fees from AstraZeneca and Lilly for the
management of development activities in China.

Other Ventures consolidated revenues increased 20% (13% at
CER) to $236.5 million (2020: $197.8m), mainly due to continued sales
growth of third-party prescription drug products.



Net Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 were Net Loss attributable to HUTCHMED for the year ended

$550.7 million compared to $353.7 million in 2020. December 31, 2021 was $194.6 million compared to
$125.7 million in 2020.

«  Cost of Revenues were $258.2 million (2020: $188.5m), the majority

of which were the cost of third-party prescription drug products «  Asaresult, the net loss attributable to HUTCHMED in 2021 was $0.25
marketed through our profitable Other Ventures, as well as full per ordinary share/$1.23 per ADS*, compared to net loss attributable
year costs associated with ELUNATE®, including the provision of to HUTCHMED of $0.18 per ordinary share/$0.90 per ADS, in 2020.

promotion and marketing services to Lilly which commenced in
October 2020, and the costs for SULANDA® and ORPATHYS® which
commenced commercial sales in 2021;

. R&D Expenses were $299.1 million (2020: $174.8m), which increased
mainly as a result of an expansion in the active development
of eleven novel oncology drug candidates. Our rapidly scaling
international clinical and regulatory operations in the U.S. and
Europe incurred expenses of $140.1 million (2020: $63.3m), while R&D
expenses in China were $159.0 million (2020: $111.5m);

«  SG&A Expenses* were $127.1 million (2020: $61.3m), which
increased primarily due to higher staff costs and share-based
compensation expense to support rapidly expanding operations. This
included the build-up of a large-scale national oncology commercial
infrastructure in China and commercial launch readiness in the U.S.
to support our oncology products; and

«  Other Items generated net income of $133.7 million (2020: $70.9m),
which increased primarily due to a one-off gain on the divestment of
HBYS attributable to the Group of $82.9 million (comprised of a gain
of $121.3 million offset in part by related taxes of $14.4 million and
amounts attributable to a non-controlling interest of $24.0 million),
offset in part by lower one-time land compensation of $5.6 million
(2020: $28.8m) recognized for HBYS.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA

(in $°000)
As of December 31,
2021 2020

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments 1,011,700 435,176

Accounts receivable 83,580 47,870

Other current assets 116,796 47,694

Property, plant and equipment 41,275 24,170

Investments in equity investees 76,479 139,505

Other non-current assets 42,831 29,703
Total assets 1,372,661 724,118
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Accounts payable 41,177 31,612

Other payables, accruals and advance receipts 210,839 121,283

Bank borrowings 26,905 26,861

Other liabilities 54,226 25,413
Total liabilities 333,147 205,169
Company'’s shareholders’ equity 986,893 484,116
Non-controlling interests 52,621 34,833
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,372,661 724,118
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

(in $°000, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Revenues:
Oncology/Immunology - Marketed Products 76,429 19,953
Oncology/Immunology - R&D 43,181 10,262
Oncology/Immunology consolidated revenues 119,610 30,215
Other Ventures 236,518 197,761
Total revenues 356,128 227,976
Expenses:
Costs of revenues (258,234) (188,519)
Research and development expenses (299,086) (174,776)
Selling and general administrative expenses (127,125) (61,349)
Total expenses (684,445) (424,644)
Loss from Operations (328,317) (196,668)
Gain on divestment of an equity investee 121,310 -
Other (expense)/income (8,733) 6,934
Loss before income taxes and equity in earnings of equity investees (215,740) (189,734)
Income tax expense (11,918) (4,829)
Equity in earnings of equity investees, net of tax 60,617 79,046
Net loss (167,041) (115,517)
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests (27,607) (10,213)
Net loss attributable to HUTCHMED (194,648) (125,730)
Losses per share attributable to HUTCHMED - basic and diluted (US$ per share) (0.25) (0.18)
Number of shares used in per share calculation - basic and diluted 792,684,524 697,931,437
Losses per ADS attributable to HUTCHMED - basic and diluted (US$ per ADS) (1.23) (0.90)
Number of ADSs used in per share calculation - basic and diluted 158,536,905 139,586,287
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We discover, develop, manufacture and market targeted therapies and
immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer and immunological diseases
through a fully integrated team of approximately 820 scientists and

staff (December 31, 2020: >600), and an in-house oncology commercial
organization of about 630 staff (December 31, 2020: ~390).

We have advanced 13 oncology drug candidates into clinical trials in
China, with seven also in clinical development in the U.S. and Europe. Our
first three drug candidates, fruquintinib, surufatinib and savolitinib, have
all been approved and launched in China.

MARKETED PRODUCT SALES

Fruquintinib (ELUNATE® in China)

ELUNATE® is approved for the treatment of third-line metastatic CRC for
which there is an approximate incidence of 83,000 new patients per year
in China. We estimate that in 2021, approximately 22,000 new patients
were treated with ELUNATE® in China with resulting in-market sales of
$71.0 million, up 111% versus 2020 ($33.7m).

Under the terms of our agreement with Lilly, HUTCHMED manages all
on-the-ground medical detailing, promotion and local and regional
marketing activities for ELUNATE® in China. We consolidate as revenues
approximately 70-80% of ELUNATE® in-market sales from service fees
and royalties paid to us by Lilly. In 2021, we consolidated $53.5 million in
revenue for ELUNATE®, equal to 75.4% of in-market sales.

Following negotiations with the China National Healthcare Security
Administration (“NHSA”), ELUNATE® continues to be included in the NRDL
for a new two-year term starting in January 2022. For this renewal, we
agreed to a discount of 5% relative to the 2021 NRDL price.

During 2021, our medical marketing and affairs teams conducted about
4,800 educational/scientific events for ELUNATE® in China. As a result of
the above activities, ELUNATE® continues to expand with unaudited
in-market sales in the months of January and February 2022 increasing
51% to $21.6 million (Jan-Feb 2021: $14.3 million). In January 2022, a
total of 5,473 new and continuing patients were treated with ELUNATE®
representing a 50% increase as compared to 3,661 in January 2021.

=VIEW —

NCOLOGY/IMMUNOLOGY

The only other approved and NRDL reimbursed product in third-line CRC
in China is STIVARGA®. LONSURF®, a nucleoside metabolic and thymidine
phosphorylase inhibitor, is approved in China for third-line CRC but is not
on the NRDL.

Surufatinib (SULANDAZ® in China)

SULANDA® was launched in China in 2021 for the treatment of all
advanced NETs for which there is an approximate incidence of 34,000 new
patients per year in China.

In 2021, SULANDA® was sold as a self-pay drug. We used means-tested
early access and patient access programs to help patients afford
SULANDA®, and we estimate that approximately 4,800 new patients were
treated. Despite these access programs, duration of treatment was often
affected by the economic constraints of patients. As a result, total sales in
2021 were $11.6 million (2020: nil).

Following negotiations with the China NHSA, SULANDA® was included in
the NRDL starting in January 2022 at a 52% discount on our main 50mg
dosage form, relative to the 2021 self-pay price. Under the NRDL, actual
out-of-pocket costs for patients in 2022 represent approximately 15-20%
of the 2021 self-pay price.

During 2021, we introduced SULANDA® through a campaign of local,
regional and national launch events involving approximately 12,000
healthcare professionals. As a result of the above activities, patient

access to SULANDA®, as well as duration of treatment, are increasing with
unaudited in-market sales for the months of January and February 2022
up 21% to $6.0 million (Jan-Feb 2021: $4.9m). It should be noted that
January and February 2021 in-market sales included normal pipeline fill
behind the initial launch of SULANDA® whereas January and February 2022
figures represent consumption sales. In January 2022, a total of 1,497 new
and continuing patients were treated with SULANDA® representing an
over 7-fold increase as compared to 213 in January 2021.

There are two therapies for advanced NETs approved and NRDL
reimbursed in China: SUTENT® for the treatment of pancreatic NET
(approximately 10% of NET), and AFINITOR® in broadly the same
indication as SULANDA®.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW —
ONCOLOGY/IMMUNOLOGY

Savolitinib (ORPATHYS® in China)

On June 22,2021, ORPATHYS® became the first-in-class selective MET
inhibitor to be approved in China. Our partner, AstraZeneca, then
launched ORPATHYS® in mid-July 2021, less than three weeks after its
conditional approval by the NMPA for patients with MET exon 14 skipping
alteration NSCLC.

More than a third of the world’s lung cancer patients are in China and,
among those with NSCLC, approximately 2-3% have tumors with MET
exon 14 skipping alterations, representing an approximate incidence

of 13,000 new patients per year in China. Importantly also, MET plays a
role in multiple other solid tumors, with an estimated total incidence of
120,000 new patients per year in China.

In-market sales of ORPATHYS® since its launch in July 2021 were $15.9 million
(2020: nil) resulting in our consolidation of $11.3 million (2020: nil) in
revenues from manufacturing fees and royalties. We estimate that
approximately 1,900 patients were treated with ORPATHYS® in 2021.

Following negotiations with the China NHSA, AstraZeneca and HUTCHMED
declined inclusion in the 2022 NRDL, a position that will be reassessed for
potential 2023 inclusion.

AstraZeneca introduced a patient access program in late 2021 which
subsidizes use of ORPATHYS®, through progressive disease. As a result, in-
market sales for ORPATHYS® have started strongly in 2022 with unaudited
in-market sales in the months of January and February 2022 of $7.4
million (Jan-Feb 2021: nil).

ORPATHYS® is the first and only selective MET inhibitor on the market in
China, however XALKORI® is an approved multi-kinase inhibitor of ALK
and ROS1 with modest MET activity. Several selective MET inhibitors are
in development in China, but none are currently expected to reach the
market before 2023.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

SAVOLITINIB (ORPATHYS® IN CHINA)

Savolitinib is an oral, potent, and highly selective oral inhibitor of MET.
In global partnership with AstraZeneca, savolitinib has been studied in
NSCLC, PRCC and gastric cancer clinical trials with over 1,500 patients to
date, both as a monotherapy and in combinations.

In July 2021, we received a $25 million first sale milestone from
AstraZeneca upon launch of ORPATHYS® in China and in February 2022, a
$15 million milestone from AstraZeneca was triggered by the initiation of
start-up activities for the SAFFRON study. In total, AstraZeneca will have
paid HUTCHMED $85 million of the total $140 million in upfront payments,
development and approvals milestones that are potentially payable under
the 2011 license and collaboration agreement.
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Savolitinib — Lung cancer:

MET plays an important role in NSCLC. Savolitinib has made significant
development progress in lung cancer, completing NMPA NDA review,
gaining approval and successfully launching as a monotherapy in China.
Itis also now in multiple late stage registrational studies as a combination
therapy.

The table below shows a summary of the clinical studies for savolitinib in
lung cancer patients.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
Savolitinib MET exon China Il Registration Approved and NCT02897479
monotherapy 14 skipping launched

alterations
Savolitinib MET exon China 1l Ongoing NCT04923945
monotherapy 14 skipping Confirmatory

alterations
Savolitinib + SAVANNAH: Global I Ongoing. Data NCT03778229
TAGRISSO®  2L/3L EGFRm+*; Registration- has supported

TAGRISSO® intent progression

refractory; MET+ into Phase Ills
Savolitinib + SAFFRON: Global Il In planning. NCT05261399
TAGRISSO®  2L/3L EGFRm+; Intend to

TAGRISSO® initiate in mid-

refractory; MET+ 2022
Savolitinib +  SACHI: 2L EGFR ~ China Il Ongoing NCT05015608
TAGRISSO®  TKI refractory

NSCLC; MET+
Savolitinib + SANOVO: Naive  China Il Ongoing NCT05009836
TAGRISSO®  patients with

EGFRm & MET+

Update on monotherapy in MET altered NSCLC - In June 2021,
savolitinib was approved by the NMPA based on positive results from a
Phase Il trial conducted in China in patients with NSCLC with MET exon
14 skipping alterations (NCT02897479), having demonstrated effective
anti-tumor activity based on ORR*™ and DCR*. The approval is conditional
upon successful completion of a confirmatory study in this patient
population (NCT04923945), which is expected to enroll approximately 160
patients from approximately 40 sites.

Update on combination therapies in EGFR TKI-resistant NSCLC -
MET-amplification is a major mechanism for acquired resistance to both
first-generation EGFR TKiIs as well as third-generation EGFR TKis like
TAGRISSO®. As many as 30-40% of EGFR mutation positive NSCLC patients
develop MET amplification driven resistance to EGFR TKiIs. Savolitinib has
been studied extensively in these patients in the TATTON and SAVANNAH
studies. The successful results led to the initiation and planning of three
Phase Ill studies: SACHI and SANOVO were initiated in China in 2021,

and the global, pivotal Phase Ill study, the SAFFRON study, is planned to
commence enrollment in mid-2022.



SAVANNAH (NCT03778229) - This global, single-arm study in patients
who have progressed following TAGRISSO® due to MET amplification

or overexpression has three dose cohorts of savolitinib combined with
TAGRISSO®. We plan to submit results for presentation at a scientific
conference in 2022. In addition to the planned global Phase IlI, which will
initiate in mid-2022, we continue to evaluate the possibility of using the
SAVANNAH study as the basis for U.S. accelerated approval.

SACHI (NCT05015608) - In November 2021, we initiated this China Phase IlI
study of savolitinib in combination with TAGRISSO®, which is a multi-
center, open-label, randomized, controlled study in patients with

locally advanced or metastatic EGFR mutation-positive NSCLC with MET
amplification after disease progression on EGFR inhibitor therapy. The
study will evaluate savolitinib in combination with TAGRISSO®, compared
to platinum-based doublet-chemotherapy (pemetrexed plus cisplatin or
carboplatin), the standard-of-care treatment option in this setting. The
primary endpoint of the study is PFS.

SANOVO (NCT05009836) - In September 2021, we initiated this China
Phase Il study of savolitinib in combination with TAGRISSO® as a
first-line treatment in certain NSCLC patients whose tumors harbor

EGFR mutations and overexpress MET. The Phase Ill trial is a blinded,
randomized, controlled study in previously untreated patients with locally
advanced or metastatic NSCLC with activating EGFR mutations and MET
overexpression. The study will evaluate TAGRISSO® in combination with
savolitinib comparing to TAGRISSO® alone, a standard-of-care treatment
option for these patients. The primary endpoint of the study is PFS.

Savolitinib — Kidney cancer:

MET is a key genetic driver in RCC, and emerging evidence suggests
that combining immunotherapies with a MET inhibitor could enhance
anti-tumor activity. PRCC is a subtype of kidney cancer, representing
about 15% of patients, with no treatments approved for patients with
tumors that harbor MET-driven alterations. We have conducted multiple
global studies of savolitinib in PRCC patients, including the SAVOIR
monotherapy and CALYPSO combination therapy global Phase Il trials,
that both demonstrated highly encouraging results. These results led to
the initiation of a global Phase Ill, the SAMETA study, in 2021.

The table below shows a summary of the clinical studies for savolitinib in
kidney cancer patients.

Name, Line,

Treatment Patient Focus  Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
Savolitinib + SAMETA: Global Il Ongoing NCT05043090
IMFINZI® MET-driven,

unresectable and

locally advanced

or metastatic

PRCC
Savolitinib + CALYPSO: PRCC UK./ Il Data updated at  NCT02819596
IMFINZI® Spain ASCO 2021
Savolitinib + CALYPSO: Clear UK./ I Ongoing NCT02819596
IMFINZI® cell RCC; VEGFR  Spain

TKI refractory

SAMETA (NCT05043090) - In November 2021, we initiated this global

Phase Il study of savolitinib in combination with AstraZeneca’s PD-L1
inhibitor IMFINZI® in patients with MET-driven advanced PRCC. The

Phase Il trial is an open-label, randomized, controlled study in treatment-naive
patients with MET-driven, unresectable and locally advanced or metastatic
PRCC, to evaluate savolitinib in combination with IMFINZI®, compared

to single agent IMFINZI® or single agent SUTENT®, an oral multi-kinase
inhibitor considered the standard-of-care treatment option in PRCC. The
primary endpoint of the study is median PFS.

CALYPSO (NCT02819596) - This investigator-initiated open-label Phase I/II
study of savolitinib in combination with IMFINZI® is evaluating the
savolitinib/IMFINZI® combination in patients with PRCC and clear cell RCC.
Interim results of the PRCC cohort of the CALYPSO study were presented
at the ASCO 2021 and showed encouraging efficacy across all patients,
particularly in MET-driven PRCC patients. Importantly, for patients whose
tumors are MET-driven, ORR was 57%, median PFS was 10.5 months (95%
Cl: 2.9-15.7) and median OS was 27.4 months (95% Cl: 7.3-NR). Tolerability
was consistent with established single agent safety profiles.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW —
ONCOLOGY/IMMUNOLOGY

Savolitinib — Gastric cancer:

MET-driven gastric cancer has a very poor prognosis. Multiple Phase ||
studies have been conducted in Asia to study savolitinib in MET-driven
gastric cancer, of which approximately 5% of all gastric cancer patients,
demonstrated promising efficacy, including VIKTORY. The VIKTORY study
reported a 50% ORR with savolitinib monotherapy in gastric cancer
patients whose tumors harbor MET amplification.

Phase Il with potential for registration intent in 2L+ gastric cancer with
MET amplification (NCT04923932) - In July 2021, we initiated a Phase ||
registration-intent study in MET-amplified gastric cancer in China. This

is a two-stage, single-arm study which targets advanced gastric cancer
patients who have failed at least one line of treatment. The primary
endpoint is ORR. Subject to the results of the first stage of this study,
we will discuss with the CDE of NMPA the appropriate approach and
necessary criteria for registration.

SURUFATINIB (SULANDA® IN CHINA)

Surufatinib is a novel, oral angio-immuno kinase inhibitor that selectively
inhibits the tyrosine kinase activity associated with VEGFR and FGFR,

both shown to be involved in tumor angiogenesis, and CSF-1R, which
plays a key role in regulating tumor-associated macrophages, promoting
the body’s immune response against tumor cells. Surufatinib has been
studied in clinical trials with around 1,200 patients to date, both as a
monotherapy and in combinations, and is approved in China. We currently
retain all rights to surufatinib worldwide.

Initial approvals for surufatinib in China are for the treatment of advanced
NET patients. NETs present in the body’s organ system with fragmented
epidemiology. About 58% of NETs originate in the gastrointestinal tract
and pancreas, 27% in the lung or bronchus, and a further 15% in other
organs or unknown origins.

Surufatinib’s ability to inhibit angiogenesis, block the accumulation of
tumor associated macrophages and promote infiltration of effector T cells
into tumors could help improve the anti-tumor activity of PD-1 antibodies.
Several combination studies with PD-1 antibodies have shown promising
data.

A summary of the clinical studies of surufatinib is shown in the table
below.

22

Name, Line,

Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
Surufatinib SANET-ep: extra- China Il Approved & NCT02588170
monotherapy pancreatic NET launched
Surufatinib SANET-p: China Il Approved & NCT02589821
monotherapy ~ pancreatic NET launched;

subgroup analysis

at ASCO 2021
Surufatinib NETs u.s. Ib FDA accepted NCT02549937
monotherapy NDA (June 2021);

updated Ib data

at ASCO 2021
Surufatinib NETs Europe I EMA accepted NCT04579679
monotherapy MAA (July 2021)
Surufatinib NETs Japan Bridging Ongoing. Reg- NCT05077384
monotherapy enabling study.
Surufatinib BTC China Ib/lla Completed; data  NCT02966821
monotherapy at ASCO 2021
Surufatinib + SURTORI-01: China Il Ongoing NCT05015621
TUOYI® (PD-1) NEC
Surufatinib + NENs* China 1l Ongoing; data NCT04169672
TUOYI® (PD-1) at ASCO 2021 &

ESMO 10 2021
Surufatinib + BTC China 1l Ongoing NCT04169672

TUOYI® (PD-1)

Surufatinib + Gastric cancer China I

TUOYI® (PD-1)

Ongoing; data at  NCT04169672
ASCO 2021 and

updated at ESMO

102021

Surufatinib + NCT04169672

TUOYI® (PD-1)

Thyroid cancer ~ China |l Ongoing

Surufatinib + SCLC*® China 1l Ongoing; dataat  NCT04169672
TUOYI® (PD-1) ESMO 10 2021

Surufatinib + Soft tissue China 1l Ongoing NCT04169672
TUQYI® (PD-1) sarcoma

Surufatinib + Endometrial China I Ongoing NCT04169672
TUOYI® (PD-1) cancer

Surufatinib + Esophageal China 1l Ongoing; dataat NCT04169672
TUQYI® (PD-1) cancer ESMO 10 2021

Surufatinib + NSCLC China 1l Ongoing NCT04169672
TUOYI® (PD-1)

Surufatinib + Solid tumors us./ b/l Ongoing NCT04579757
tislelizumab Europe

(PD-1)

Surufatinib — monotherapy in NET updates:

Global development of surufatinib in NET: U.S. NDA and EU MAA under
review — The U.S. NDA and EU MAA are supported by data from two
positive Phase IlI studies of surufatinib in patients with pancreatic and
extra-pancreatic NET in China (SANET-p and SANET-ep both previously
reported in The Lancet Oncology, as mentioned below), and a surufatinib
Phase Ib study conducted in U.S. NET patients (N=107 for safety and N=67
for efficacy).




In June 2021, the U.S. FDA accepted our filing of the NDA for surufatinib for
the treatment of pancreatic and extra-pancreatic (non-pancreatic) NETSs.
Surufatinib received fast track designation in April 2020 for the treatment
of pancreatic and extra-pancreatic NET. Orphan Drug Designation for
pancreatic NET was also granted in November 2019. We have also initiated
an Expanded Access Protocol in the U.S. to ensure patients with NET with
limited therapeutic options have access to this treatment. Regulatory
clearance of this protocol has been granted by the U.S. FDA and this
program is open for site activation.

U.S. FDA NDA review, as well as the clinical site inspections and pre-
approval inspections of our manufacturing facilities, are ongoing. The
PDUFA goal date for the FDA’s completion of review is April 30, 2022.
Timing of completion of the NDA review is subject to FDA scheduling
limitations which are contingent on COVID-19 travel restrictions and
security requirements for foreign visitors. Remaining inspections must be
completed before regulatory action can be taken.

We have also submitted the EMA MAA for surufatinib, which was validated
and accepted in July 2021, for the treatment of both pancreatic and
non-pancreatic NET. The 120-day assessment has been completed,

and we are now entering the later stages of MAA review. In addition, we
initiated a registration-enabling bridging study in NET patients in Japan in
September 2021.

U.S. Phase Ib NET cohorts (NCT02549937) - Updated data from a study in
U.S. patients was presented at ASCO 2021, reinforcing the dosage, efficacy

and safety profile as comparable to the China trials data. At data cut-

off, confirmed response and DCR was observed in 18.8% and 87.5% of
pancreatic NET patients, and 6.3% and 93.8% of extra-pancreatic NET
patients, respectively. Median PFS was 11.5 months in both cohorts (95%
Cl:6.5-17.5).

Japan Bridging Study to Support Registration for Advanced NET
(NCT05077384) - Based on dialogue with the Japanese PMDA, it was
agreed that the Japanese NDA would include results from a 34-patient,

registration-enabling bridging study in Japan to complement the
registration data package submitted to the U.S. FDA and the EMA. It was
initiated in September 2021.

Surufatinib — combination therapy with checkpoint inhibitor
TUQYI® updates:

A Phase Il China study (NCT04169672) is enrolling approximately 260
patients in nine solid tumor indications, including NENs, BTC, gastric
cancer, thyroid cancer, SCLC, soft tissue sarcoma, endometrial cancer,
esophageal cancer and NSCLC. In 2021, we presented encouraging
preliminary data on several of these surufatinib-TUOYI® combination
cohorts at CSCO and ESMO 0. These have led to the initiation of the first
Phase IlI trial combining surufatinib with a PD-1 antibody, the SURTORI-01
study in NEC, and we are currently considering further registration studies
in gastric cancer, SCLC and esophageal cancer.

NEC (subset of NENs) cohort — At CSCO 2021, we presented data, with a
cutoff date of July 30, 2021, for all 21 enrolled NEC patients that were
efficacy evaluable. Average duration of treatment was 4.9 months (range
1-19) and median OS was 10.3 months (95% CI: 9.1-not reached). The
median PFS was 4.14 months (95% Cl: 1.5-5.5) and median DoR* was 4.1
months (95% Cl: 3.0-not reached). The confirmed ORR was 23.8% (95% Cl:
8.2-47.2) and DCR was 71.4% (95% Cl: 47.8-88.7).

All patients experienced TRAES™, including 9 (42.9%) who experienced
grade 3 or above TRAEs. One (4.8%) patient reported treatment-related
serious adverse events. Hyperglycemia (3 patients, 14.3%), hypertension (2
patients, 9.5%) and hypertriglyceridemia (2 patients, 9.5%) were the most
commonly (more than one patient) reported grade 3 or above TRAEs. No
TRAEs led to treatment discontinuation or treatment-related deaths.

SURTORI-01 (NCT05015621) - In September 2021, we initiated this
Phase Il study to evaluate the combination compared with FOLFIRI

to treat patients with advanced NEC who have progression of disease

or intolerable toxicity after previous first-line chemotherapy. It is

a randomized, controlled, open-label, multi-center study where
approximately 200 patients are expected to be enrolled. For the study
group, all patients will receive study treatment on a 21-day cycle. The
primary outcome measure is OS. HUTCHMED is the sponsor and is
responsible for the study’s execution. HUTCHMED and Junshi Biosciences
are jointly funding the study.

Surufatinib — combination with checkpoint inhibitor
tislelizumab:

In addition to the TUOYI® and TYVYT® combination studies in China, in
March 2021 we initiated an open-label, Phase Ib/Il study of surufatinib
in combination with BeiGene’s tislelizumab in the U.S. and Europe,
evaluating the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and efficacy in
patients with advanced solid tumors, including CRC, NET, small cell
lung cancer, gastric cancer and soft tissue sarcoma. The dose finding
phase of the study is now complete and the expansion phase is ongoing
(NCT04579757).

Surufatinib — Exploratory development:

In China, we support an Investigator Initiated Trial (“/IT”) program for
surufatinib, with about 50 IITs in various solid tumor settings being
conducted for both combination and single agent regimens. These trials
explore and answer important medical questions in addition to our own
company-sponsored clinical trials.
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FRUQUINTINIB (ELUNATE® IN CHINA)

Fruquintinib is a novel, selective, oral inhibitor of VEGFR 1/2/3 kinases that
was designed to improve kinase selectivity to minimize off-target toxicity
and thereby improve tolerability. Fruquintinib has been studied in clinical
trials with about 5,000 patients to date, both as a monotherapy and in
combinations.

Aside from its first approved indication of third-line CRC (in China),
several studies of fruquintinib combined with checkpoint inhibitors
(including TYVYT®, geptanolimab and tislelizumab) have been underway,
some of which presented encouraging data in 2021. Registration-intent
studies combined with chemotherapy (FRUTIGA study in gastric cancer)
or checkpoint inhibitors (TYVYT® combo, in endometrial cancer) are
ongoing in China, with further registration studies in HCC and RCC under
consideration.

We retain all rights to fruquintinib outside of China and are partnered with
Lilly in China. The table below shows a summary of the clinical studies for
fruquintinib.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus  Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
Fruquintinib ~ FRESCO: China Il Approved and  NCT02314819
monotherapy  =3L CRC; launched

chemotherapy

refractory
Fruguintinib ~ FRESCO-2: u.Ss./ 1l Fully enrolled  NCT04322539
monotherapy — metastatic CRC ~ Europe/

Japan/
Aus.

Fruguintinib ~ CRC*; TN & U.S. Ib Ongoing NCT03251378
monotherapy  HR+%/Her2->

breast cancer
Fruguintinib+ FRUTIGA: 2L China Il Ongoing; NCT03223376
paclitaxel gastric cancer completed 2nd

interim analysis
Fruguintinib+ CRC China I Ongoing; data  NCT04179084
TYWYT® (PD-1) at ASCO 2021
Fruquintinib + HCC China b/l Ongoing; data  NCT03903705
TYVYT® (PD-1) at CSCO 2021
Fruguintinib+ endometrial China I Ongoing; Ib NCT03903705
TYVYT® (PD-1)  cancer registration- data at CSCO
intent 2021

Fruguintinib+ RCC China  1b/ll Ongoing; data  NCT03903705
TYVYT® (PD-1) at CSCO 2021
Fruguintinib+  Gastrointestinal  China b/l Ongoing NCT03903705
TYVYT® (PD-1)  tumors
Fruguintinib TN breast cancer U.S. b/l Ongoing NCT04577963
+tislelizumab & endometrial
(PD-1) cancer
Fruguintinib  Solid tumors Korea/ Ib/ll Ongoing NCT04716634
+ tislelizumab China
(PD-1)
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Fruguintinib — CRC updates:

FRESCO-2 (NCT04322539) - This double-blind, placebo-controlled,

global Phase Il study in refractory metastatic CRC patients reached its
enrollment goal in December 2021. It recruited 691 patients from over

150 sites in 14 countries in fifteen months, ahead of schedule. The primary
endpoint of the study is OS. Topline results are expected to be reported

in the second half of 2022 when the event-driven primary endpoint, OS,

is mature. If positive, HUTCHMED would simultaneously initiate plans to
apply for marketing authorization of fruquintinib by the U.S. FDA, which
granted Fast Track Designation in 2020, the EMA and the Japanese PMDA.

U.S. Phase I/Ib CRC cohorts (NCT03251378) - Preliminary efficacy and
safety data of fruquintinib in patients with refractory, metastatic CRC were
presented at ASCO Gl in early 2022. In patients who had progressed on all
standard therapies, including LONSURF® and/or STIVARGA®, the DCR was
68.3% and the median duration of treatment was 19.3 weeks. In patients
who had not received LONSURF® or STIVARGA®, the DCR was 57.5% and
the median duration of treatment was 14.1 weeks. The safety profile in
both patient populations was consistent with what has previously been
reported.

Fruquintinib — Gastric cancer:

FRUTIGA (NCT03223376) - This randomized, double-blind, Phase Il study
in China to evaluate fruquintinib combined with paclitaxel compared with
paclitaxel monotherapy, for second-line treatment of advanced gastric
cancer, is expected to enroll approximately 700 patients. Its co-primary
endpoints are PFS and OS. We expect to complete enrollment of FRUTIGA
in2022.

Fruquintinib — combinations with checkpoint inhibitors:

Advanced endometrial cancer registration-intent cohort - Platinum-based
systemic chemotherapy is the standard first-line treatment for advanced
endometrial cancer. However, patients who progress following first-line
chemotherapy have limited treatment options, and the prognosis remains
poor. As disclosed at CSCO 2021, as of data cutoff date of August 31,

2021, 35 patients were enrolled (NCT03903705), including 7 treatment-
naive and 28 pretreated patients. Of them, 29 were efficacy evaluable,

4 were treatment-naive and 25 were pretreated. All 4 treatment-naive
patients experienced confirmed tumor response, for ORR of 100% (95%
Cl: 39.8-100.0), and median PFS was not reached. Among the 25 pretreated
patients, the confirmed ORR was 32.0% (95% Cl: 14.9-53.5), DCR was
92.0% (95% Cl: 74.0-99.0) and the median PFS was 6.9 months (95% Cl:
4.1-NR). Among the 19 proficient mismatch repair (pMMR) patients in the
pretreated cohort, the confirmed ORR was 36.8% (95% Cl: 16.3-61.6), DCR
was 94.7% (95% Cl: 74.0-99.9), median PFS was 6.9 months (95% Cl: 4.1-
NR), and the median OS was not reached. Among the 35 enrolled patients,
TRAEs of grade 3 or above that occurred in more than 10% of patients
were hypertension (4 patients, 11.4%) and proteinuria (11.4%). 5 (14.3%)
patients reported treatment-related serious adverse events.

Following discussion with the NMPA in late 2021, the cohort is now
targeting to enroll over 130 patients to meet the requirements to be a
single-arm, registration-intent Phase Il study.



CRC registration strateqy for mCRC under discussion — Encouraging
preliminary data disclosed at ASCO 2021 for fruquintinib in combination
with two PD-1 inhibitors, TYWYT® and geptanolimab, in advanced CRC
showed a five-fold increase in ORR and a doubling of median PFS as
compared to the FRESCO study for fruquintinib as a monotherapy.

In the TYVYT® combination study (NCT04179084), 44 patients were
enrolled into the CRC cohort, 22 of whom received the RP2D. ORR was
23% for all patients and 27% for those who received the RP2D. DCR was
86% for all patients and 96% for those who received the RP2D. Median PFS
was 5.6 months for all patients, and 6.9 months for those who received
the RP2D. Median OS was 11.8 months for all patients.

In the geptanolimab combination study (NCT03977090), for the 15
patients in the CRC cohort ORR was 26.7% (including 1 patient with
unconfirmed PR) and 33% in the group that received the RP2D. DCR for
all evaluable patients was 80% and median PFS was 7.3 months (95% Cl:
1.9-NR). Grade 3 TRAEs occurred in 47% of patients, and no incidences of
grade 4 or 5 TRAES were observed.

Tislelizumab combinations (NCT04577963 & NCT04716634) - In August 2021,
we initiated an open-label, multi-center, non-randomized Phase Ib/II

study in the U.S. to assess fruquintinib in combination with tislelizumab in
patients with locally advanced triple negative breast cancer or advanced
endometrial cancer. In addition, a Phase Il study in China and Korea for
fruquintinib in combination with tislelizumab was initiated and is being
led by BeiGene for the treatment of advanced or metastatic, unresectable
gastric cancer, CRC or NSCLC.

Fruguintinib — Exploratory development:

We are conducting multiple Phase Ib expansion cohorts in the U.S. to
explore fruquintinib in CRC and breast cancer. In China, there are about 40
ongoing IIT’s in various solid tumor settings.

Hematological Malignancies Candidates

HUTCHMED currently has five investigational drug candidates targeting
hematological malignancies in clinical development, with its sixth
expected to enter clinical development in mid-2022. Amdizalisib
(targeting PI3KS), sovleplenib (HMPL-523, targeting Syk) and HMPL-760
(targeting BTK) are being studied in several trials against B-cell dominant
malignancies. In addition to the three B-cell receptor pathway inhibitors,
HUTCHMED is also developing HMPL-306 (targeting IDH1 and IDH2);
tazemetostat (a methyltransferase inhibitor of EZH2); and HMPL-A83 (a
IND-stage anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody).

AMDIZALISIB (HMPL-689)

Amdizalisib is a novel, highly selective oral inhibitor targeting the isoform
PI3K®, a key component in the B-cell receptor signaling pathway.
Amdizalisib’s pharmacokinetic properties have been found to be favorable

with good oral absorption, moderate tissue distribution and low clearance
in preclinical studies. We also expect that amdizalisib will have low risk

of drug accumulation and drug-drug interactions. In 2021, registration-
intent studies for amdizalisib were initiated and Breakthrough Therapy
Designation was granted for relapse or refractory follicular lymphoma in
China. We currently retain all rights to amdizalisib worldwide. The table
below shows a summary of the clinical studies for amdizalisib.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
Amdizalisib Indolentnon-  China Ib Ongoing; NCT03128164
monotherapy  Hodgkin’s expansion data
lymphoma presented at
ESMO 2021
Amdizalisib Relapsed/ China I Ongoing: NCT04849351
monotherapy  refractory registration- initiated in
follicular intent Apr 2021.
lymphoma Breakthrough
Therapy
Designation
Amdizalisib Relapsed/ China 1l Ongoing;: NCT04849351
monotherapy  refractory registration- initiated in Apr
marginal zone intent 2021
lymphoma
Amdizalisib Indolent non- us./ I/Ib Dose expansion NCT03786926
monotherapy  Hodgkin’s Europe initiated in H2
lymphoma 2021

Phase Il registration-intent trial (NCT04849351) — In April 2021, we
commenced a registration-intent, single-arm, open-label Phase Il trial in

China in approximately 100 patients with relapsed/refractory follicular
lymphoma and approximately 80 patients with relapsed/refractory
marginal zone lymphoma, two subtypes of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. The
primary endpoint is ORR. The trial is being conducted in over 35 sites in
China.

This initiation is based on the highly promising preliminary results
presented at ESMO 2021 from the Phase Ib expansion study ongoing in
China (NCT03128164), which demonstrated that amdizalisib was well
tolerated with single-agent clinical activity in relapsed/refractory B-cell
lymphoma patients.

SOVLEPLENIB (HMPL-523)

Sovleplenib is a novel, selective, oral inhibitor targeting Syk, for the
treatment of hematological cancers and immune diseases. Syk is a
component in B-cell receptor signaling pathway.

In 2021 we initiated Phase Il study in China for ITP, for which it has
received Breakthrough Therapy Designation, and presented data on both
ITP and hematological malignancies at ASH 2021. We currently retain all
rights to sovleplenib worldwide. The table below shows a summary of the
clinical studies for sovleplenib.
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Name, Line,

ESLIM-01 (Evaluation of Sovleplenib for immunological diseases-01,

Treatment Patient Focus Sites  Phase Status/Plan NCT # NCT05029635) - In October 2021, we initiated a randomized, double-
Sovleplenib  ESLIM-01:TP  China Il Ongoing: NCT05029635 blinded, placebo-controlled Phase Ill trial in China of sovleplenib in
monotherapy initiated in approximately 180 adult patients with primary ITP, an autoimmune
oct zkoil‘ ; disorder that can lead to increased risk of bleeding. The primary endpoint
Breakthrou .
Therapy & of the study is the durable response rate. In January 2022, the NMPA
Designation granted Breakthrough Therapy Designation for this indication.
Sovleplenib ITP China  I/Ib Completed. Data NCT03951623
monotherapy at ASH 2021
Sovleplenib Indolent non- Australia |b Active, not NCT02503033
monotherapy  Hodgkin’s recruiting
lymphoma
Sovleplenib Indolent non- us./ 1/Ib Ongoing. Prelim. NCT03779113
monotherapy  Hodgkin’s Europe data at ASH 2021
lymphoma
Sovleplenib Multiple sub- China  I/Ib Completed NCT02857998
monotherapy  types of B-cell
malignancies
Sovleplenib WAIHA China Il In planning N/A
monotherapy
Phase Ib Study of Amdizalisib in Chinese Patients with Relapsed/Refractory Lymphoma:
Best response of target lesion (N=76)
lcr [Err [Jeo [WlsD
FL MZL CLL/SLL MCL DLBCL
n=22 n=14 n=3 n=8 n=29
100 PD-PD-PD-PD-PD-PD-PD-
75 ORR: 81.8% ORR: 50.0% ORR: ORR: 75.0% ORR: 24.1%
s CRrate: 36.4% CBR: 100% 100% CBR: 87.5% CBR: 48.3%
CBR: 90.9%

Best Reduction from Baseline in Target Lesion (%)

Yo, O 0 05 45 4x % 2 ¥ Og Oy 05 ¥y %o 2 Op 03 4s

0, 0, 0, 2, 07‘00‘0 ‘0ae‘007‘0 7‘0"0 0, "0, "0, 0, K2
0505 % % %0, %25 %5 %25% 25 %5 %4 % %2y %,

00505 0, 0 0y 0y 00, o % % % % % Yo % % % % % % % %,
% %% % Gy 0970 05 0579 T X0 ‘)e % Yo 0 %o %

% % 2, %2, %2 %2,

%, %%,

0,0, 0,0, 0, 0 0, 2y 0y 05 % 0,
2 %0y %5%, % s 05 0 25 05 75 %05 %5 %0, %,

e, %s, %00, % Ye, %, %0, % % %2 Y6 to %0 25, Yo % % 2 %2 15 2 % 7% %2 % % Yo 02 % % e % % 2 % %

0,0, 05 00y 0.2 0.0 0 0. O O 2.0 O O O 0 0 0y % P O 0p 0y 0y 00, 0,0,
0%, 0,% %505 %05, ©05%0, %05 %0505 05 %05 %2, %05 %5 %2y %25 <0, <0, 2, %5 %0p 205205 %, %5 %05

Notes:  Data cut-off as of June 15, 2021. Target lesion SPD (sum of the product of perpendicular diameters) increased more over 100%. Efficacy evaluable population: received at least one tumor assessment. FL = follicular

Source:

lymphoma; MZL = marginal zone lymphoma; CLL/SLL = chronic lymphocytic leukemia / small lymphocytic lymphoma; MCL = mantle cell lymphoma; DLBCL = diffuse large B cell lymphoma; n = number of patients;

CR = complete response; PR = partial response; PD = progressive disease; SD = stable disease; ORR = objective response rate; CBR = clinical benefit rate (CR + PR + SD)

CaoJN, et al. “A phase Ib study result of HMPL-689, a PI3KS inhibitor, in Chinese patients with relapsed/refractory lymphoma.” Presented at the 2021 European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Virtual Congress

on September 20, 2021. Presentation #8330

China Phase I/1b in ITP (NCT03951623) - ESLIM-01 was initiated based on
encouraging data from this Phase Ib study presented at ASH 2021. At

data cutoff, 34 patients received sovleplenib and 11 received placebo.
Among 16 patients who received the RP2D of 300mg once daily, 11 (68.8%)
experienced response (defined by at least one incident of platelet count
being > 50x10%/L in the initial 8-week double-blinded phase of the study),
compared to one placebo patient (9.1%). One additional patient at the
RP2D experienced response during the subsequent 16-week open-label
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phase of the study, and all four placebo patients that crossed over to
receive treatment at RP2D after the initial 8-week double-blinded phase
experienced response. In total, 16 out of 20 patients (80%) experienced
response during both phases of the study. Durable response (defined as
platelet count being > 50x10%/L in at least 4 out of 6 last scheduled visits)
was reported in 8 out of 20 patients (40%) who received RP2D in both
phases of the study.



Phase Ib Study of Sovleplenib in Adult Patients with Primary Immune Thrombocytopenia

Placebo

100mg

Overall response 9% 50% 33%
%(n) (1/11) (3/6) (2/6)
Durable response 9% 0
%(n) (1/11)

Initial 8-week
double-blind treatment

200mg

Subsequent 16-week
open-label treatment

300mg 400mg
69% 33% 80%
(11/16) (2/6) (16/20)
31% 0 40%
(5/16) (8/20)

Notes:  Data cut-off as of September 30, 2021. Overall Response was defined as at least one incident of platelet count being = 50x10%L in the initial 8-week double blinded phase of the studly. Durable Response was defined

as platelet count being = 50x10%L in at least 4 out of 6 last scheduled visits.

*The 300mg QD cohort includes 4 patients who, after receiving placebo in the first 8 weeks of double blind treatment, received sovleplenib 300mg QD in a 16-week open-label treatment period. QD= once daily

Source:  Yang R, et al. “Safety, Pharmacokinetics and Preliminary Efficacy of HMPL-523 in Adult Patients with Primary Immune Thrombocytopenia: A Randomized, Double-Blind and Placebo-Controlled Phase Ib Studly.”

Presented at the 63rd American Society of Hematology (ASH) Annual Meeting and Exposition on December 11, 2021. Abstract #149895.

Safety data were presented for all 41 patients treated by sovleplenib. The
median duration of treatment was 142 days (range: 23-170). No patients
discontinued treatment due to TRAE, and no cases of treatment-related
serious adverse events were reported. There were 30 patients (73%) who
experienced TRAEs, including 3 (7.3%) who experienced grade 3 or above
TRAEs, one of whom received the RP2D. No TRAEs of grade 3 or above
occurred in more than one patient.

Australia/China Phase I/Ib studies in multiple subtypes of B-cell
malignancies (NCT02503033/NCT02857998) - Our Phase I/Ib dose
escalation and expansion studies in Australia and China have now
enrolled over 200 patients in a broad range of hematological cancers and
have identified indications of interest for future development.

U.S./Europe Phase I/Ib in indolent non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma (NCT03779113)

- We presented preliminary results from this Phase | study at ASH 2021,
which support progressing sovleplenib into the ongoing dose expansion
phase of the study to evaluate its safety and efficacy in multiple subtypes
of B-cell and T-cell lymphoma at the RP2D of 700mg.

TAZVERIK® (TAZEMETOSTAT)

In August 2021, we entered into a strategic collaboration with Epizyme

to research, develop, manufacture and commercialize TAZVERIK® in
Greater China, including mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.
TAZVERIK® is an inhibitor of EZH2 developed by Epizyme that is approved

by the U.S. FDA for the treatment of certain epithelioid sarcoma and
follicular lymphoma patients. It received accelerated approval from the
FDA based on ORR and DoR in January and June 2020 for epithelioid
sarcoma and follicular lymphoma, respectively.

Under the terms of the agreement, we are responsible for the
development and commercialization of TAZVERIK® in Greater China.
Epizyme received a $25 million upfront payment and is eligible to
receive up to an additional $110 million in development and regulatory
milestone payments, across up to eight potential indications, and up to
an additional $175 million in sales milestone payments. Epizyme is also
eligible to receive tiered royalties of mid -teen to low-twenties percent
based on annual net sales of TAZVERIK® in Greater China. In addition,
we received a four-year warrant to acquire up to $65 million of Epizyme
shares at $11.50 per share.

We are developing and plan to seek approval for TAZVERIK® in various
hematological and solid tumors, including epithelial sarcoma, follicular
lymphoma and diffuse large b-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) in Greater China.
We are participating in Epizyme’s SYMPHONY-1 (EZH-302) study, leading
it in Greater China. The parties also intend to conduct additional global
studies jointly. We will generally be responsible for funding all clinical
trials of TAZVERIK® in Greater China, including the portion of global trials
conducted there. We are responsible for the research, manufacturing and
commercialization of TAZVERIK® in Greater China.
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The table below shows a summary of the clinical studies for TAZVERIK®.

Name, Line,

Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #

TAZVERIK® + R SYMPHONY-1:  Global Il Ongoing: NCT04224493
(lenalidomide & 2L follicular HUTCHMED is
rituximab) lymphoma leading China
portion of
global Ph il
TAZVERIK® Relapsed/ China I In planning Pending
monotherapy  refractory registration-
3L+ follicular intent
lymphoma (bridging)
TAZVERIK® Indolent China 1l In planning N/A
combinations  lymphoma

combinations

SYMPHONY-1 (NCT04224493) - This is a global, multicenter, randomized,
double-blind, active-controlled, 3-stage, biomarker-enriched, Phase
Ib/Ill study of TAZVERIK® in combination with R? in patients with
relapsed or refractory follicular lymphoma after at least one prior line of
therapy. Epizyme conducted the Phase Ib portion of the study in 2021,
which determined the recommended Phase Ill dose (“RP3D”) and also
demonstrated potential efficacy in second-line follicular lymphoma.
The safety profile of the combination was consistent with the previously
reported safety information in the U.S. prescribing information for both
TAZVERIK® and R?, respectively.

In the Phase Il portion of the trial, approximately 500 patients are
randomly assigned to receive the RP3D of TAZVERIK® + R? or placebo + R?.
The study will also include a maintenance arm with TAZVERIK® or placebo
following the first year of treatment with TAZVERIK® + R? or placebo + R
We anticipate the first patient enrollment in H1 2022 in the China Phase Il
portion of SYMPHONY-1.

We intend to initiate a bridging study in follicular lymphoma to support

China registration, as well as several combination studies of TAZVERIK®
with HUTCHMED assets.

28

HMPL-306

HMPL-306 is a novel dual-inhibitor of IDH1 and IDH2 enzymes. IDH1 and
IDH2 mutations have been implicated as drivers of certain hematological
malignancies, gliomas and solid tumors, particularly among acute myeloid
leukemia patients. We currently retain all rights to HMPL-306 worldwide.
The table below shows a summary of the clinical studies for HMPL-306.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
HMPL-306 Hematological China | Ongoing: close  NCT04272957
monotherapy  malignancies to establishing
the RP2D, dose
expansion in
mid-2022
HMPL-306 Solid tumors u.s. Ongoing: NCT04762602
monotherapy including but not initiated in
limited to gliomas, Mar 2021 Dose
chondrosarcomas or expansion phase
cholangiocarcinomas is expected to
start in mid-2022
HMPL-306 Hematological U.S. Ongoing: NCT04764474
monotherapy — malignancies initiated in Mar
2021
HMPL-760

HMPL-760 is an investigational, non-covalent, third-generation BTK
inhibitor. It is a highly potent, selective, and reversible inhibitor with long
target engagement against BTK, including wild-type and C481S-mutated
BTK. China and U.S. Phase I studies initiated in early 2022 will include
patients treated with a prior regimen containing a BTK inhibitor. We
currently retain all rights to HMPL-760 worldwide.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus  Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
HMPL-760 CLL, SLL, other ~ China | Ongoing: initiated ~ NCT05190068
monotherapy  NHL in Jan 2022
HMPL-760 CLL, SLL, other  U.S. Initiating NCT05176691

monotherapy  NHL




HMPL-453

HMPL-453 is a novel, selective, oral inhibitor targeting FGFR 1/2/3.
Aberrant FGFR signaling is associated with tumor growth, promotion of
angiogenesis, as well as resistance to anti-tumor therapies. We currently
retain all rights to HMPL-453 worldwide. The table below shows a
summary of the clinical studies for HMPL-453.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
HMPL-453 2L China I Ongoing. ~10- NCT04353375
monotherapy  Cholangiocarcinoma 15% of IHCC pts’
(IHCC with FGFR tumors harbor
fusion) FGFR2 fusion
HMPL-453 + Multiple China  1/ll Ongoing: NCT05173142
chemotherapies initiated in Jan
2022
HMPL-453 Multiple China  1/ll Ongoing: NCT05173142
+TUOYI® (PD 1) initiated in Jan
2022
HMPL-295

HMPL-295 is a novel ERK inhibitor. ERK is a downstream component of
the RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK signaling cascade (MAPK pathway). This is our first
of multiple candidates in discovery targeting the MAPK pathway. A China
Phase I study was initiated in July 2021. We currently retain all rights to
HMPL-295 worldwide.

RAS-MAPK pathway is dysregulated in cancer, in which mutations or
non-genetic events hyper-activate the pathway in more than 50% of
cancers. RAS and RAF predict worse clinical prognosis in a wide variety of
tumor types, mediate resistance to targeted therapies, and decrease the
response to the approved standards of care, namely, targeted therapy and
immunotherapy. ERK inhibition has the potential to overcome or avoid
the intrinsic or acquired resistance from the inhibition of RAS, RAF and
MEK upstream mechanisms.

Name, Line,

Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
HMPL-295 Solid tumors China | Ongoing: initiated  NCT04908046
monotherapy inJul2021

HMPL-653

HMPL-653 is a novel, highly selective, and potent CSF-1R inhibitor
designed to target CSF-1R driven tumors as a monotherapy or in
combination with other drugs. We initiated a China Phase | study in
January 2022. We currently retain all rights to HMPL-653 worldwide.

CSF-1R is usually expressed on the surface of macrophages and can
promote growth and differentiation of macrophages. Studies have shown
that blocking the CSF-1R signaling pathway could effectively modulate
the tumor microenvironment, relieve tumor immunosuppression, and
synergize with other anti-cancer therapies such as immune checkpoint
inhibitors to achieve tumor inhibition. It has been demonstrated in several
clinical studies that CSF-1R inhibitors could treat tenosynovial giant cell
tumors, and treat a variety of malignancies combined with immuno-
oncology or other therapeutic agents. Currently no CSF-1R inhibitor has
been approved in China.

Name, Line,
Treatment Patient Focus Sites Phase Status/Plan NCT #
HMPL-653 Solid tumors China | Ongoing: initiated  NCT05190068
monotherapy & tenosynovial in Jan 2022, ~110

giant cell tumors patients expected

to be enrolled

IMMUNOLOGY COLLABORATION WITH INMAGENE

In January 2021, we entered into a strategic partnership with Inmagene,
a clinical development stage company with a focus on immunological
diseases, to further develop four novel preclinical drug candidates

we discovered for the potential treatment of multiple immunological
diseases. Funded by Inmagene, we will work together to move the drug
candidates towards IND. If successful, Inmagene will then advance the
drug candidates through global clinical development. INDs for the first
two compounds are expected to be submitted in China in 2022.
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Our Other Ventures include drug marketing and distribution platforms
covering about 290 cities and towns in China with around 2,900 mainly
manufacturing and commercial personnel. Built over the past 20 years,
it primarily focuses on prescription drug and science-based nutrition
products through several joint ventures and subsidiary companies.

In 2021, our Other Ventures delivered encouraging growth with
consolidated revenues up 20% (13% at CER) to $236.5 million (2020:
$197.8m). Consolidated net income attributable to HUTCHMED from our
Other Ventures grew by 24% (15% at CER) to $54.4 million (2020: $44.0m),
excluding one-time gains. One-time gains in 2021 totaled $88.5 million
(2020: $28.8m), including $82.9 million (2020: nil) from the divestment of
HBYS and $5.6 million (2020: $28.8m) from one-time land compensation.

Hutchison Sinopharm:

Our prescription drugs commercial services business, which in addition
to providing certain commercial services for our own products, provides
services to third-party pharmaceutical companies in China, grew sales by
24% (16% at CER) to $204.1 million in 2021 (2020: $165.1m).

In 2021, the Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre made a final
award in favor of Hutchison Sinopharm against Luye Pharma Hong Kong
Ltd. in the amount of RMB253.2 million ($39.6 million), plus costs and
interest, in connection with the termination of Hutchison Sinopharm’s
right to distribute SEROQUEL® in China. Payment of the award is expected
in2022.
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Hutchison Sinopharm has a dedicated team of about 130 commercial
staff focused on two key areas of operation. First, a team that markets
third-party prescription drug products directly to about 700 public and
private hospitals in the Shanghai region and through a network of about
50 distributors to cover all other provinces in China. Second, a team that
markets HUTCHMED’s science-based maternal and infant supplements
through a network of over 32,000 promoters in China.

SHPL:

Our own-brand prescription drugs business, operated through our non-
consolidated joint venture SHPL, grew sales by 20% (12% at CER) to
$332.6 million (2020: $276.4m). This sales growth and favorable product
mix led to an increase of 33% (24% at CER) in net income attributable to
HUTCHMED to $44.7 million (2020: $33.5m).

The SHPL operation is large-scale, with a commercial team of over 2,200
staff managing the medical detailing and marketing of its products not just
in hospitals in provincial capitals and medium-sized cities, but also in the
majority of county-level hospitals in China. SHPL’s Good Manufacturing
Practice-certified factory holds 74 drug product manufacturing licenses
and is operated by over 530 manufacturing staff.
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SXBX** pill: SHPL’s main product is SXBX pill, an oral vasodilator
prescription therapy for coronary artery disease. SXBX pill is the third
largest botanical prescription drug in this indication in China, with a
national market share in January to December 2021 of 19.6% (2020:
18.2%). Sales increased by 23% (15% at CER) to $307.1 million in 2021
(2020: $250.0m).

SXBX pill is protected by a formulation patent that expires in 2029, but
also retains certain state protection that extends indefinitely, and is one of
less than two dozen proprietary prescription drugs represented on China’s
National Essential Medicines List (“NEML”). Inclusion on the NEML means
that all Chinese state-owned health care institutions are required to carry
it. SXBX pillis fully reimbursed in all China.

Dividends: Our share of SHPL'’s profits are passed to the HUTCHMED
Group through dividend payments. In 2021, dividends of $49.9 million
(2020: $36.1m) were paid from SHPL to the HUTCHMED Group level with
aggregate dividends received by HUTCHMED since inception of over $240
million.

HBYS disposal:

In September 2021, we divested our entire indirect interest in HBYS, a
non-core and non-consolidated over-the-counter drug joint venture
business, to GL Capital for $159.1 million in cash and including $46.4
million expected to be received related to undistributed profits, this
represents about 22 times of HBYS’ adjusted 2020 net profit attributable
to HUTCHMED equity holders of $7.7 million®. The sale of this non-
core consumer health products business resulted in a one-time gain of
approximately $82.9 million attributable to HUTCHMED equity holders.

Christian Hogg
Chief Executive Officer
March 3, 2022
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In addition to financial information prepared in accordance with U.S.
GAAP, this annual report also contains certain non-GAAP financial
measures based on management’s view of performance including;

«  Adjusted Group net cash flows excluding financing activities
. CER

Management uses such measures internally for planning and forecasting
purposes and to measure the HUTCHMED Group’s overall performance.
We believe these adjusted financial measures provide useful and
meaningful information to us and investors because they enhance
investors” understanding of the continuing operating performance of our
business and facilitate the comparison of performance between past and
future periods. These adjusted financial measures are non-GAAP measures
and should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, the
information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Other companies
may define these measures in different ways.

Adjusted Group net cash flows excluding financing activities: We include
the change in short-term investments for the period to the change in cash
and cash equivalents for the period, and exclude the net cash generated
from financing activities for the period to derive our adjusted Group net
cash flows excluding financing activities. We believe the presentation of
adjusted Group net cash flows excluding financing activities provides
useful and meaningful information about the change in our cash
resources excluding those from financing activities which may present
significant period-to-period differences.

CER: We remove the effects of currency movements from period-to-
period comparisons by retranslating the current period’s performance
at previous period’s foreign currency exchange rates. Because we have
significant operations in China, the RMB to U.S. dollar exchange rates
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used for translation may have a significant effect on our reported results.
We believe the presentation at CER provides useful and meaningful
information because it facilitates period-to-period comparisons of our
results and increases the transparency of our underlying performance.

Reconciliation of GAAP change in cash and cash equivalents
and short-term investments to Adjusted Group net cash
flows excluding financing activities:

$’millions 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments at end of year 1,011.7 4352
Excludes: Cash and cash equivalents and short-
term investments at beginning of year (435.2) (217.2)
Excludes: Net cash generated from financing
activities for the year (650.0) (296.4)
Adjusted Group net cash flows excluding financing
activities (73.5) (78.4)
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Reconciliation of GAAP revenues and net income attributable to HUTCHMED to CER:

$’millions (except %) Year Ended Change Amount Change %
December December Exchange Exchange
31,2021 31,2020 Actual CER effect Actual CER effect
Consolidated revenues
Oncology/Immunology 119.6 30.2 89.4 86.6 2.8 296% 287% 9%
Other Ventures® 236.5 197.8 38.7 25.2 13.5 20% 13% 7%
M Includes:
— Hutchison Sinopharm
- prescription drugs 204.1 165.1 39.0 26.2 12.8 24% 16% 8%
Non-consolidated joint venture
revenues
— SHPL 3326 276.4 56.2 34.1 22.1 20% 12% 8%
— SXBX pill 307.1 250.0 57.1 36.5 20.6 23% 15% 8%
Consolidated net income attributable
to HUTCHMED
Other Ventures 142.9 72.8 70.1 66.4 3.7 96% 91% 5%
— Consolidated entities 2.6 2.8 (0.2) (0.3) 0.1 -8% -12% 4%
— Equity investees 140.3 70.0 70.3 66.7 3.6 100% 95% 5%
— SHPL 447 335 11.2 7.9 33 33% 24% 9%
— HBYS* 95.6 36.5 59.1 58.8 0.3 162% 161% 1%
Excluding one-time gains
Other Ventures 54.4 44.0 10.4 6.7 3.7 24% 15% 9%
— Consolidated entities 2.6 2.8 0.2) (0.3) 0.1 -8% -12% 4%
— Equity investees 51.8 41.2 10.6 7.0 3.6 26% 17% 9%
— SHPL 44.7 335 11.2 7.9 3.3 33% 24% 9%
— HBYS* 7.1 1.7 (0.6) (0.9) 0.3 -1% -12% 5%

* Period from January 1, 2021 to September 28, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2021, one-time gains include gain on divestment of $82.9 million (2020:
nil) and land compensation gain of $5.6 million (2020: $28.8 million), respectively.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
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To date, we have taken a multi-source approach to fund our operations,
including through cash flows generated and dividend payments from
our Oncology/Immunology and Other Ventures operations, service and
milestone and upfront payments from our collaboration partners, bank
borrowings, investments from third parties, proceeds from our listings on
various stock exchanges and follow-on offerings.

Our Oncology/Immunology operations have historically not generated
significant profits or have operated at a net loss, as creating potential
global first-in-class or best-in-class drug candidates requires a significant
investment of resources over a prolonged period of time. As such, we
incurred net losses of $194.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
and net losses of $125.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents and short-
term investments of $1,011.7 million and unutilized bank facilities of
$157.4 million. As of December 31, 2021, we had $26.9 million in bank
borrowings.

Certain of our subsidiaries and joint ventures, including those registered
as wholly foreign-owned enterprises in China, are required to set aside

at least 10.0% of their after-tax profits to their general reserves until such
reserves reach 50.0% of their registered capital. In addition, certain of our
joint ventures are required to allocate certain of their after-tax profits as
determined in accordance with related regulations and their respective
articles of association to the reserve funds, upon approval of the board.

Profit appropriated to the reserve funds for our subsidiaries and joint
ventures incorporated in the PRC was approximately $89,000 and $44,000
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In addition,
as a result of PRC regulations restricting dividend distributions from

such reserve funds and from a company’s registered capital, our PRC
subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a certain amount of
their net assets to us as cash dividends, loans or advances. This restricted
portion amounted to $0.1 million as of December 31, 2021.

2 CAPITAL

In addition, our non-consolidated joint venture, SHPL, held an aggregate
of $50.0 million in cash and cash equivalents and no bank borrowings as
of December 31, 2021. Such cash and cash equivalents are only accessible
by us through dividend payments from the joint venture. The level of
dividends declared by the joint venture is subject to agreement each year
between us and our joint venture partner based on the profitability and
working capital needs of the joint venture.

CASH FLOW

Year Ended
December 31,
2021 2020
(in $°000)

Cash Flow Data:
Net cash used in operating activities (204,223) (62,066)
Net cash used in investing activities (306,320) (125,441)
Net cash generated from financing activities 650,028 296,434
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 139,485 108,927
Effect of exchange rate changes 2,427 5,546
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year 235,630 121,157
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 377,542 235,630

Net Cash used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $62.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, compared to net cash used in operating activities of
$204.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The net change of
$142.1 million was primarily attributable to higher operating expenses

of $259.8 million from $424.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2020 to $684.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, partially
offset by an increase in revenues of approximately $128.1 million from
$228.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to $356.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Net Cash used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $125.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, compared to net cash used in investing activities of
$306.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The net change of
$180.9 million was primarily attributable to an increase in net deposits

in short-term investments of $331.1 million from $103.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020 to $434.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The net change was also attributable to the payment
of $15.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 to acquire a
warrant to purchase Epizyme shares. The net change was partially offset
by the proceeds received from the divestment of Hutchison Baiyunshan of
$159.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Net Cash generated from Financing Activities

Net cash generated from financing activities was $296.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020, compared to net cash generated from
financing activities of $650.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.
The net change of $353.6 million was primarily attributable to net
proceeds of $685.4 million from a private placement in April 2021 and from
our public offering on the SEHK with over-allotment option exercised in
fullin June and July 2021, as compared to net proceeds of $310.0 million
from our follow-on offering in the United States and private placements
in 2020. The net change was partially offset by an increase in purchases of
ADSs by our Company for the settlement of certain equity awards which
totaled $12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared
to $27.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, as well as an
increase in dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
which totaled $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as
compared to $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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LOAN FACILITIES

In November 2018, our subsidiary renewed a three-year revolving loan
facility with HSBC®. The facility amount of this loan was HK$234.0 million
($30.0 million) with an interest rate at HIBOR® plus 0.85% per annum.
This credit facility was guaranteed by us and includes certain financial
covenant requirements. The revolving loan facility expired in November
2021.

In May 2019, our subsidiary entered into additional credit facility
arrangements with HSBC for the provision of unsecured credit facilities

in the aggregate amount of HK$400.0 million ($51.3 million). The 3-year
credit facilities include (i) a HK$210.0 million (526.9 million) term loan
facility and (i) a HK$190.0 million ($24.4 million) revolving loan facility,
both with an interest rate at HIBOR plus 0.85% per annum. These credit
facilities are guaranteed by us and include certain financial covenant
requirements. In October 2019, we drew down HK$210.0 million

($26.9 million) from the term loan facility and as of December 31, 2021, no
amount was drawn from the revolving loan facility.

In August 2020, our subsidiary entered into a 24-month revolving credit
facility with Deutsche Bank AG* in the amount of HK$117.0 million
($15.0 million) with an interest rate at HIBOR plus 4.5% per annum.

This revolving facility is guaranteed by us and includes certain financial
covenant requirements. As of December 31, 2021, no amount was drawn
from the revolving loan facility.

In October 2021, our subsidiary entered into a 10-year fixed asset loan
facility agreement with Bank of China Limited for the provision of a
secured credit facility in the amount of RMB754.9 million ($118.1 million)
with an annual interest rate at the 5-year China Loan Prime Rate less
0.65%. This credit facility is guaranteed by another subsidiary of the Group,
and secured by the underlying leasehold land and buildings, and includes
certain financial covenant requirements. As of December 31, 2021, no
amount was drawn from the fixed asset loan facility.

Our non-consolidated joint venture SHPL had no bank borrowings
outstanding as of December 31, 2021.



CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2021. Our purchase obligations relate to property, plant and equipment that
are contracted for but not yet paid. Our lease obligations primarily comprise future aggregate minimum lease payments in respect of various factories,
warehouse, offices and other assets under non-cancellable lease agreements.

Payment Due by Period (in $°000)

Total Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5Years More than 5 Years
Bank borrowings 26,923 26,923 - - -
Interest on bank borrowings 104 104 - - -
Purchase obligations 44,204 42,519 1,685 - -
Lease obligations 12,818 5,348 5,316 1,359 795
84,049 74,894 7,001 1,359 795

SHPL

The following table sets forth the contractual obligations of our non-consolidated joint venture SHPL as of December 31, 2021. SHPL’s purchase obligations
comprise capital commitments for property, plant and equipment contracted for but not yet paid. SHPL’s lease obligations primarily comprise future
aggregate minimum lease payments in respect of various offices under non-cancellable lease agreements.

Payment Due by Period (in $°000)

Total Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5Years More than 5 Years
Purchase obligations 155 155 - - -
Lease obligations 3,149 859 1,577 713 -
3,304 1,014 1,577 713 -

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Most of our revenues and expenses are denominated in renminbi, and our consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. We do not
believe that we currently have any significant direct foreign exchange risk and have not used any derivative financial instruments to hedge our exposure
to such risk. In general, our exposure to foreign exchange risks is limited.

The value of the renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among other things, changes in China’s political
and economic conditions. The conversion of renminbi into foreign currencies, including U.S. dollars, has been based on rates set by the PBOC™. If we
decide to convert renminbi into U.S. dollars for the purpose of making payments for dividends on our ordinary shares or ADSs or for other business
purposes, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the renminbi would have a negative effect on the U.S. dollar amounts available to us. On the other hand,
if we need to convert U.S. dollars into renminbi for business purposes, e.g. capital expenditures and working capital, appreciation of the renminbi against
the U.S. dollar would have a negative effect on the renminbi amounts we would receive from the conversion. In addition, for certain cash and bank
balances deposited with banks in the PRC, if we decide to convert them into foreign currencies, they are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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CREDIT RISK

Substantially all of our bank deposits are in major financial institutions,
which we believe are of high credit quality. We limit the amount of credit
exposure to any single financial institution. We make periodic assessments
of the recoverability of trade and other receivables and amounts due

from related parties. Our historical experience in collection of receivables
falls within the recorded allowances, and we believe that we have made
adequate provision for uncollectible receivables.

INTEREST RATE RISK

We have no significant interest-bearing assets except for bank deposits.
Our exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to our
bank borrowings, which bear interest at floating interest rates and expose
us to cash flow interest rate risk. We have not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge our exposure to interest rate risk. We have performed sensitivity
analysis for the effects on our results for the period from changes in
interest rates on floating rate borrowings. The sensitivity to interest rates
used is based on the market forecasts available at the end of the reporting
period and under the economic environments in which we operate, with
other variables held constant. According to the analysis, the impact on
our net loss of a 1.0% interest rate shift would be a maximum increase/
decrease of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently
have, any material off-balance sheet arrangements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than as disclosed in note 16 to the full year financial statements, the
Group does not have any other significant commitments or contingent
liabilities.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio of the Group, which was calculated by dividing total
interest-bearing loans by total equity, was 2.6% as of December 31, 2021, a
decrease from 5.2% as of December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the increase in equity due to the primary offering of shares
on HKEX.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for our investment in a non-consolidated joint venture SHPL with
a carrying value of $76.0 million including details below and those as
disclosed in note 11 to the full year financial statements, we did not hold
any other significant investments in the equity of any other companies as
of December 31, 2021.

Place of Nominal Value Equity Interest
establishment of Registered Attributable to Principal
and operations Capital the Group activities
(in RMB’000)
PRC 229,000 50% Manufacture and

distribution of
prescription drug
products

Our own-brand prescription drugs business under Other Ventures is
operated through SHPL. Dividends received from SHPL for the year ended
December 31, 2021 were $49.9 million.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

Note 16 to the full year financial statements discloses our planned
expenditures on capital assets as of December 31, 2021. At this date
there were no other plans to incur material expenditures on additional
investments or capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the year ended December 31, 2021, except for the HBYS disposal as
disclosed in note 23 to the full year financial statements, we did not have
any other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.



PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any pledge of assets (as of
December 31, 2020: nil). Our 10-year fixed asset loan facility agreement
with Bank of China Limited is secured by the underlying leasehold land
and buildings; however, no amount was drawn from the fixed asset loan
facility as of December 31, 2021.

INFLATION

In recent years, China has not experienced significant inflation, and thus
inflation has not had a material impact on our results of operations.
According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the Consumer
Price Index in China increased by 4.5%, 0.2% and 1.5% in 2019, 2020
and 2021, respectively. Although we have not been materially affected
by inflation in the past, we can provide no assurance that we will not be
affected in the future by higher rates of inflation in China.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend any final dividend for the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG")
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses
and the communities in which it conducts business. The Group supports
the proposition that enterprises should give back to society and bear
social responsibility. It encourages its business units to contribute to

the welfare of the communities in which it operates. Moreover, the
Group’s business is anchored to the purpose of serving medical needs of
the public and distributing its drugs to those in need. While advancing
breakthroughs with its novel drugs, the Group ensures every drug product
is marketed and manufactured in a high quality, safe, traceable and
affordable manner. Furthermore, the Group is continually improving its
business practices and employee training in such best practices. It has
adopted a proactive approach to ESG responsibility and has established
a Sustainability Committee comprising four Directors to spearhead the
ESG initiatives and activities of the Group and to enhance the Group’s ESG
efforts.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, April
22,2022 to Wednesday, April 27, 2022, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected, to determine shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 Annual General Meeting (or

at any adjournment or postponement thereof). All share certificates

with completed transfer forms, either overleaf or separately, must be
lodged with (a) the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong or (b) the Principal Share Registrar of the Company, Computershare
Investor Services (Jersey) Limited c/o Computershare Investor Services
PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol, BS99 6ZY, United Kingdom,
no later than 4:30 pm Hong Kong time on Thursday, April 21, 2022.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2021, the Group employed approximately 1,760
(2020: ~1,280) full time staff members. Staff costs during the year
ended December 31, 2021, including directors’ emoluments, totaled
$180.2 million (2020: $101.0m).

The Group fully recognizes the importance of high-quality human
resources in sustaining market leadership. Salary and benefits are kept at
competitive levels, while individual performance is rewarded within the
general framework of the salary, bonus and incentive system of the Group,
which is reviewed annually. Employees are provided with a wide range of
benefits that include medical coverage, provident funds and retirement
plans, and long-service awards. The Group stresses the importance of
staff development and provides training programs on an ongoing basis.
Employees are also encouraged to play an active role in community care
activities.



USE OF NET PROCEEDS

On June 30, 2021, the Company issued 104,000,000 new ordinary shares for total gross proceeds of approximately $534.7 million from the listing and
offering of the Company’s ordinary shares on HKEX.

On July 15,2021, the over-allotment option was fully exercised and the Company issued an aggregate of 15,600,000 ordinary shares for total gross
proceeds of approximately $80.2 million.

The intended use of total net proceeds of approximately $585.2 million from the offering and the over-allotment option for the purposes and in the
amounts (adjusted on pro rata basis based on the actual net proceeds) as disclosed in the Prospectus is as below:

Actual Usage

Percentage of up to Unutilized Net  Expected Timeline
Total Net Approximate December 31, Proceeds as of for Utilization of
Use of Proceeds Proceeds Amount 2021 December 31,2021 Proceeds (note)
(%) ($’millions) ($’millions) ($’millions)
Advance our late-stage clinical programs 50% 292.7 99.8 192.9 2023
for savolitinib, surufatinib, fruquintinib,
amdizalisib and sovleplenib through
registration trials and potential NDA
submissions
Support further proof-of-concept studies 10% 58.5 17.9 40.6 2023

and fund the continued expansion of
our product portfolio in cancer and
immunological diseases through internal
research, including the development cost of
early-clinical and preclinical-stage pipeline
drug candidates
Further strengthen our integrated capabilities 20% 117.1 219 95.2 2023
across commercialization, clinical and
regulatory and manufacturing
Fund potential global business development 15% 87.8 25.0 62.8 2023
and strategic acquisition opportunities
to complement our internal research and
development activities and enhance our
current drug candidate pipeline
Working capital, expanding internal 5% 29.1 17.2 11.9 2022
capabilities globally and in China and
general corporate purposes

100% 585.2 181.8 4034

Note: There was no change in the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed, and the Company plans to gradually utilize the remaining net proceeds in
accordance with such intended purposes depending on actual market conditions and business needs, which is expected to be fully utilized by the end of year 2023.

AUDIT REPORT ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies for the year ended December 31, 2021 have been audited by the
Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. The unqualified auditor’s report is
set out on pages 92 to 95 of this annual report. The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies for the year ended
December 31, 2021 have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Save as disclosed above, no important events affecting the Company occurred since December 31, 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS

TO Chi Keung, Simon

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr To, aged 70, has been a Director since 2000 and

an Executive Director and Chairman of HUTCHMED

(China) Limited (the “Company”) since 2006. He

is also a member of the Nomination Committee,

Remuneration Committee and Technical Committee of the Company.

He is the managing director of Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited
(“Hutchison China”) and has been with Hutchison China for over 40 years,
building its business from a small trading company to a multi-billion
dollar investment group. He has negotiated major transactions with
multinational corporations such as Procter & Gamble, Lockheed, Pirelli,
Beiersdorf, United Airlines, and British Airways. He is currently chairman
of Gama Aviation Plc and formerly served as independent non-executive
director on the boards of China Southern Airlines Company Limited and
Air China Limited. In addition, Mr To is a director of certain substantial
shareholders (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance)
of the Company and certain companies controlled by substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Mr To’s career in China spans more than 45 years. He is the original
founder of the China healthcare business of Hutchison Whampoa
Limited (currently a subsidiary of CK Hutchison Holdings Limited,
(“CKHH”)) and has been instrumental in its acquisitions made to date.
He received a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from Imperial
College, London and a Master in Business Administration from Stanford
University’s Graduate School of Business.

42

RMATION ON

Weiguo SU

Executive Director, Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Scientific Officer

Dr Su, aged 64, has been an Executive Director

since 2017 and Chief Executive Officer of the

Company since March 4, 2022. He is also executive

vice president and Chief Scientific Officer of the Company since 2012.

He is also a member of Technical Committee of the Company. Dr Su has
headed all drug discovery and research since he joined the Company,
including master-minding the scientific strategy of the Company, being

a key leader of the Oncology/Immunology operations, and responsible
for the discovery of each and every small molecule drug candidate in our
pipeline. Prior to joining the Company in 2005, Dr Su worked with the U.S.
research and development department of Pfizer, Inc. (“Pfizer”).

In 2017, Dr Su was granted the prestigious award by the China
Pharmaceutical Innovation and Research Development Association
(PhIRDA) as one of the Most Influential Drug R&D Leaders in China.

Dr Su received a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemistry from Fudan
University in Shanghai and completed a PhD and Post-Doctoral Fellowship
in Chemistry at Harvard University under the guidance of Nobel Laureate
Professor E. J. Corey.



CHENG Chig Fung, Johnny

Executive Director and Chief Financial
Officer

Mr Cheng, aged 55, has been an Executive
Director since 2011 and Chief Financial Officer

of the Company since 2008. He is a member of the
Sustainability Committee of the Company.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr Cheng was Vice President, Finance

of Bristol Myers Squibb in China and was a director of Sino-American
Shanghai Squibb Pharmaceuticals Ltd. and Bristol-Myers Squibb (China)
Investment Co. Ltd. in Shanghai between late 2006 and 2008.

Mr Cheng started his career as an auditor with Price Waterhouse (currently
PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Australia and then KPMG in Beijing before
spending eight years with Nestlé China where he was in charge of a
number of finance and control functions in various operations. Mr Cheng
received a Bachelor of Economics, Accounting Major from the University
of Adelaide and is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand.

Dan ELDAR

Non-executive Director

Dr Eldar, aged 68, has been a Non-executive

Director of the Company since 2016. He has more

than 30 years of experience as a senior executive,

leading global operations in telecommunications,

water, biotech and healthcare. He is an executive director of Hutchison
Water Israel Ltd which focuses on large scale projects including
desalination, wastewater treatment and water reuse. He was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Leumi Card Ltd., a subsidiary of
Bank Leumi Le-Israel B.M., one of Israel’s leading credit card companies.

Dr Eldar received a Doctor of Philosophy degree in Government from
Harvard University, Master of Arts degree in Government from Harvard
University, Master of Arts degree in Political Science and Public
Administration from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem and a Bachelor of
Arts degree in Political Science from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem.

Edith SHIH

Non-executive Director and Company
Secretary

Ms Shih, aged 70, has been a Non-executive

Director since 2006, the Company Secretary of

the Company and the company secretary of Group

companies since 2000. She is also chairman of the Sustainability
Committee of the Company. She has over 35 years of experience in legal,
regulatory, corporate finance, compliance and corporate governance
fields. She is also executive director and company secretary of CKHH.
She has been with the Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (“CKH”) group
since 1989 and with Hutchison Whampoa Limited (“HWL”) from 1991 to
2015. Both CKH and HWL became wholly-owned subsidiaries of CKHH

in 2015. She has acted in various capacities within the HWL group,
including head group general counsel and company secretary of HWL

as well as director and company secretary of HWL subsidiaries and
associated companies. Ms Shih is in addition a non-executive director of
Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Limited, Hutchison
Port Holdings Management Pte. Limited as the trustee-manager of
Hutchison Port Holdings Trust and a member of Board of Commissioners
of PT Duta Intidaya Tbk. In addition, Ms Shih is a director of certain
substantial shareholders (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance) of the Company and certain companies controlled

by substantial shareholders of the Company. The aforementioned
companies are either subsidiaries or associated companies of CKHH of
which Ms Shih has oversight as director of CKHH. She is the immediate
past international president and current member of the Executive
Committee of The Chartered Governance Institute (“CGl”), as well as a
past president and current chairperson of the Nomination Committee of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (‘HKCGI”, formerly known
as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). She is also chairman
of the Process Review Panel for the Financial Reporting Council, a panel
member of the Securities and Futures Appeals Tribunal and a member of
the Hong Kong- Europe Business Council.

Ms Shih is a solicitor qualified in England and Wales, Hong Kong and
Victoria, Australia. She is a fellow of both the CGI and HKCGI, holding
Chartered Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional dual
designations. Ms Shih holds a Bachelor of Science degree and a Master
of Arts degree from the University of the Philippines as well as a Master of
Arts degree and a Master of Education degree from Columbia University,
New York.
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Paul Rutherford CARTER

Senior Independent Non-executive
Director

Mr Carter, aged 61, has been a senior Independent

Non-executive Director of the Company since 2017.

He is also chairman of the Remuneration Committee

and a member of the Audit Committee and Technical Committee

of the Company. He has more than 26 years of experience in the
pharmaceutical industry. From 2006 to 2016, Mr Carter served in various
senior executive roles at Gilead Sciences, Inc. (“Gilead”), a research-based
biopharmaceutical company, with the last position as executive vice
president, commercial operations. In this role, Mr Carter headed the
worldwide commercial organization responsible for the launch and
commercialization of all of the products of Gilead. He also worked as

a senior executive at GlaxoSmithKline Plc. He is currently a director of
Mallinckrodt plc. He is also a director of Immatics N.V. and VectivBio
Holding AG. He is chairman of Evox Therapeutics and a retained advisor to
several firms active in the life sciences sector. He was formerly a director
of Alder Biopharmaceuticals, Inc.

Mr Carter received a degree in Business Studies from the Ealing School of
Business and Management (now merged into University of West London)
and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in

the United Kingdom.
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Karen Jean FERRANTE

Independent Non-executive Director

Dr Ferrante, aged 64, has been an Independent

Non-executive Director of the Company since

2017. She is also chairman of the Technical

Committee and a member of the Audit Committee

of the Company. She has more than 26 years of experience in the
pharmaceutical industry. She was the former chief medical officer and
head of research and development of Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,

a biopharmaceutical company focused on developing and commercializing
innovative therapies for prostate cancer and other hormonally driven
diseases. Dr Ferrante previously held senior positions at Millennium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its parent company, Takeda Pharmaceutical
Company Limited, including chief medical officer and most recently

as oncology therapeutic area and Cambridge USA site head. She had
also held positions of increasing responsibility at Pfizer, with the last
position as vice president, oncology development. Dr Ferrante is currently
a member of the board of directors of MacroGenics, Inc., and Cogent
Biosciences, Inc. (formerly Unum Therapeutics Inc.). She is also currently
a member of the Scientific Advisory Board of Kazia Therapeutics Limited.
Dr Ferrante was previously a director of Baxalta Incorporated until it was
acquired by Shire plc in 2016 and a director of Progenics Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., until it was acquired by Lantheus Holdings, Inc. in 2020.

She was previously a member of the Scientific Advisory Board of Trillium
Therapeutics Inc. until it was acquired by Pfizer in November 2021.

Dr Ferrante is an author of a number of papers in the field of oncology,
an active participant in academic and professional associations and
symposia and holder of several patents. Dr Ferrante received a Bachelor
of Science degree in Chemistry and Biology from Providence College and
a Doctor of Medicine from Georgetown University.



Graeme Allan JACK

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr Jack, aged 71, has been an Independent

Non-executive Director of the Company since

2017. He is also chairman of the Audit Committee

and a member of the Nomination Committee

and Remuneration Committee of the Company. He has more than

40 years of experience in finance and audit. He retired as partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2006 after a distinguished career with the firm
for over 33 years. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. (an international supplier of equipment
and services to the freight rail transportation markets) and Hutchison Port
Holdings Management Pte. Limited as the trustee-manager of Hutchison
Port Holdings Trust (a developer and operator of deep water container
terminals). He was formerly a director of COSCO SHIPPING Development
Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “China Shipping Container Lines Company
Limited”, an integrated financial services platform principally engaged in
vessel and container leasing).

Mr Jack received a Bachelor of Commerce degree from University of
New South Wales, Australia and is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an Associate of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand.

MOK Shu Kam, Tony

Independent Non-executive Director

Professor Mok, aged 61, has been an Independent

Non-executive Director of the Company since 2017.

He is also chairman of the Nomination Committee

and a member of the Sustainability Committee and

Technical Committee of the Company. Professor Mok has more than

31 years of experience in clinical oncology with his main research interest
focusing on biomarker and molecular targeted therapy in lung cancer.
He is currently Li Shu Fan Medical Foundation named professor and
chairman of department of clinical oncology at The Chinese University of
Hong Kong.

Professor Mok has contributed to over 250 articles in international

peer reviewed journals, as well as multiple editorials and textbooks. In
October 2018, Professor Mok was the first Chinese to be bestowed with
the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Lifetime Achievement
Award, one of the most prestigious international honors and recognitions
given to cancer researchers, for his contribution to and leadership in lung
cancer research worldwide.

Professor Mok is a non-executive director of AstraZeneca PLC, a board
director of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (‘ASCO”) and a
steering committee member of the Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology
(“CSCO”). Heis also currently chairman of the board of ACT Genomics
Holdings Ltd. (“ACT Genomics”) and a non-executive independent director
of Lunit USA Inc. He is past president of the International Association for
the Study of Lung Cancer, and co-founder of Sanomics Limited (acquired
by ACT Genomics in November 2021) and Aurora Tele-Oncology Limited.
Professor Mok is also closely affiliated with the oncology community in
China and has been awarded an Honorary Professorship at Guangdong
Province People’s Hospital, Guest Professorship at Peking Union Medical
College Hospital and Visiting Professorship at Shanghai Jiao Tong
University. He received his Bachelor of Medical Science degree and a
Doctor of Medicine from University of Alberta, Canada. He is also a fellow
of the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada, Hong Kong
College of Physicians, Hong Kong Academy of Medicine, Royal College of
Physicians of Edinburgh and ASCO.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the changes in information of
Directors of the Company, as notified to the Company, subsequent to the date of the 2021 Interim Report or the date of announcement of appointment
of Chief Executive Officer are set out below:

Directors Details of changes

Paul Rutherford CARTER Appointed as a Director, Chairman of Compensation Committee and a Member of Governance
and Nomination Committee of VectivBio Holding AG on September 2, 2021

MOK Shu Kam, Tony Appointed as Chairman of the board of ACT Genomics Holdings Limited on November 22, 2021

Edith SHIH Appointed as a member of Nomination Committee of Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong
Holdings Limited on February 28, 2022
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company were deemed or
taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the HKEX pursuant to the Code on Dealings in Shares by Directors adopted by the Company (the
“Share Dealings Code”) were as follows:

Interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of Shares/
Underlying Approximate%
Directors Capacity Nature of Interests Shares Held Total of Shareholding
TO Chi Keung, Simon Beneficial owner Personal interest 1,020,000

Interest of spouse Family interest 1,446,185 2,466,185 0.29%

Christian Lawrence HOGG2% Beneficial owner Personal interest 13,478,405?
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 336,840 13,815,245 1.60%

CHENG Chig Fung, Johnny Beneficial owner Personal interest 3,275,865
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 135,755 3,411,620 0.39%

Weiguo SU Beneficial owner Personal interest 6,487,575
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 346,005 6,833,580 0.79%

Dan ELDAR Beneficial owner Personal interest 75,950
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 74,710 150,660 0.02%
Edith SHIH Beneficial owner Personal interest 1,200,0001% 1,200,000 0.14%

Paul Rutherford CARTER Beneficial owner Personal interest 45,4250
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 63,5002 108,925 0.01%

Karen Jean FERRANTE Beneficial owner Personal interest 40,9101
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 68,8951 109,805 0.01%

Graeme Allan JACK Beneficial owner Personal interest 11,9859

Interest of spouse Family interest 15,0001¢
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 7471007 101,695 0.01%

MOK Shu Kam, Tony Beneficial owner Personal interest 61,9951
Beneficiary of a trust Personal interest 74,7109 136,705 0.02%
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Notes:

(1) The spouse of Mr To Chi Keung, Simon is interested in 780,000 ordinary shares (“Shares”) and 133,237 American depositary shares (“ADSs”, each representing five
Shares) in the Company as beneficiary of trusts. Mr To Chi Keung, Simon is the settlor of the same trusts in which his spouse has interests.

(2) Includes (1) 10,938,020 Shares and 68,035 ADSs held by Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg and (2) entitlement of Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg to receive up to 440,042 ADSs
pursuant to the exercise of options granted to him under the 2015 Share Option Scheme of the Company (the “2015 Share Option Scheme”), subject to the vesting
conditions of those options. Details of the interests of Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg in the options are set out on page 60.

(3) Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg is interested in 67,368 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to a Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), subject to vesting conditions.

(4) Includes (1) 2,561,460 Shares and 14,401 ADSs held by Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny, (2) entitlement of Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny to receive up to 128,480 ADSs
pursuant to the exercise of options granted to him under the 2015 Share Option Scheme, subject to the vesting conditions of those options. Details of the interests of
Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny in the options are set out on page 60.

(5) Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny is interested in 27,151 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(6) Includes (1) 74,317 ADSs held by Dr Weiguo Su, (2) entitlement of Dr Weiguo Su to receive up to 5,000,000 Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted to him
under the 2015 Share Option Scheme, subject to the vesting conditions of those options, and (3) entitlement of Dr Weiguo Su to receive up to 223,198 ADSs pursuant
to the exercise of options granted to him, subject to the vesting conditions of those options. Details of the interests of Dr Weiguo Su in the options are set out on
page 60.

(7) Dr Weiguo Su is interested in 69,201 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(8) Includes 19,000 Shares and 11,390 ADSs held by Dr Dan Eldar.

(9) Dr Dan Eldar is interested in 14,942 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(10)  Includes 700,000 Shares and 100,000 ADSs held by Ms Edith Shih.

(11)  Includes 35,240 Shares and 2,037 ADSs held by Mr Paul Rutherford Carter.

(12)  MrPaul Rutherford Carter is interested in 12,700 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(13)  Represents 8,182 ADSs held by Dr Karen Jean Ferrante.

(14)  DrKaren Jean Ferrante is interested in 13,779 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(15)  Represents 2,397 ADSs held by Mr Graeme Allan Jack.

(16)  The spouse of Mr Graeme Allan Jack is interested in 3,000 ADSs.

(17)  MrGraeme Allan Jack is interested in 14,942 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(18)  Represents 12,399 ADSs held by Professor Mok Shu Kam, Tony.

(19)  Professor Mok Shu Kam, Tony is interested in 14,942 ADSs as beneficiary of a trust pursuant to LTIP, subject to vesting conditions.

(20)  Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg retired as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer on March 4, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company and their respective associates had any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the HKEX pursuant to the Share Dealings Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, none of the Directors had any interests in certain businesses (apart from the business of the Company or
its subsidiaries) which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal businesses of the Company or its subsidiaries
conducted during the year, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Marek Krzysztof KANIA

Executive President, Managing Director and Chief Medical
Officer

Dr Kania, aged 59, is the Executive President, Managing Director and Chief
Medical Officer of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in 2018,

Dr Kania spent 25 years with Eli Lilly where he led teams on multiple
oncology products around the world. While at Eli Lilly, Dr Kania was
involved in clinical research and development, global medical affairs
including product launches and medical policy and strategy. Prior to
joining Eli Lilly, Dr Kania practiced as an anesthesiologist and critical
care physician. Dr Kania is a member of the American Society of Clinical
Oncology and the American Association for Cancer Research. He received
his medical training at the Silesian School of Medicine in Katowice,
Poland, and subsequently completed an anesthesiology and critical-care
residency, with board certification from Jagiellonian University School

of Medicine in Krakow. Dr Kania also holds an MBA degree from The
University of Chicago Booth Graduate School of Business.

ON ON S

Karen Jane ATKIN

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Dr Atkin, aged 56, is the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in 2021, Dr Atkin
spent 24 years at AstraZeneca in senior Medical, Regulatory,
Pharmacovigilance, R&D and Commercial leadership roles, including as
Senior Vice President of Medical for Biopharmaceuticals, Vice President of
the Global Infection, Neuroscience and Autoimmunity Therapy Area and
the Established Brand Business, Country President of Indonesia and led
China R&D for over four years. Dr Atkin is also a registered physician with
advanced level qualifications in internal medicine and pharmaceutical
medicine. Dr Atkin holds three Bachelor’s degrees in Physiology, Medicine
and Surgery, respectively, from University College London. She graduated
with a First Class Honors degree in Medicine, holds an MBA from the Open
University, is a Member of the Royal College of Physicians and a fellow of
the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Medicine in the UK.

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 49



INFORMATION ON SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Zhenping WU
Senior Vice President, Pharmaceutical Sciences

Dr Wu, aged 62, joined the Company in 2008 and has been the Senior
Vice President of Pharmaceutical Sciences since 2012. Dr Wu has

over 28 years of experience in drug discovery and development. His
past positions include Senior Director of Pharmaceutical Sciences at
Phenomix Corporation, a US-based biotechnology company, Director of
Pharmaceutical Development at Pfizer Global Research & Development
in California (formerly Agouron Pharmaceuticals) and a group leader

at Roche at its Palo Alto site. He is a past Chairman and President of

the Board of the Sino-American Biotechnology and Pharmaceutical
Association. Dr Wu received a PhD from the University of Hong Kong and
a Master in Business Administration from the University of California at
Irvine.

Mark Kin Hung LEE

Senior Vice President, Corporate Finance and Development

Mr Lee, aged 44, is the Senior Vice President of Corporate Finance

and Development of the Company. He began working in healthcare
investment banking in the United States and Europe in 1998 and joined
the Company in 2009. Based in the New York and London offices of Credit
Suisse, Mr Lee was involved in the execution and origination of mergers,
acquisitions, public and private financings and corporate strategy for

life science companies such as AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb and
Genzyme, as well as others medical product and service companies.

Mr Lee received his Bachelor’s Degree in Biochemical Engineering

with First Class Honors from University College London, where he was
awarded a Dean’s Commendation. He also received a Master of Business
Administration from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s Sloan
School of Management.

May Qingmei WANG

Senior Vice President, Business Development & Strategic
Alliances

DrWang, aged 58, is the Senior Vice President of Business Development &
Strategic Alliances of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in 2010,
Dr Wang spent 16 years with Eli Lilly where she was the Head of Eli Lilly’s
Asian Biology Research and responsible for establishing and managing
research collaborations in China and across Asia. Dr Wang holds
numerous patents, has published more than 50 peer-reviewed articles
and has given dozens of seminars and plenary lectures. Dr Wang received
a PhD in Biochemistry from Purdue University.
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Hong CHEN

Senior Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer (China)

Mr Chen, aged, 51, is the Senior Vice President and Chief Commercial
Officer (China) of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in 2011,
Mr Chen spent 12 years with Bristol-Myers Squibb and was last serving
as its National Sales & Marketing Director in China. Mr Chen received a
Bachelor’s degree in Medicine from Nanjing Medical University and an
EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business.

Thomas R. HELD

Senior Vice President, Commercial (US)

Mr Held, aged 61, is the Senior Vice President, Commercial (US) of the
Company. He is responsible for establishing and leading the commercial
presence in the US and building the commercial infrastructure for the
international operations, inclusive of launch strategy, marketing, sales,
market access, and operational planning.

Mr Held has more than 30 years of experience in the pharmaceutical
industry with a majority of time spent in the oncology commercial
space. In his most recent assignment at Daiichi Sankyo, he served as
Vice President of Daiichi Sankyo’s emergent Antibody Drug Conjugate
strategic platform. Prior to this, he held commercial roles of increasing
responsibility at Novartis Oncology, where he worked from 1997 to
2017, gaining invaluable experience in the solid tumor arena, including
importantly neuroendocrine tumors.

Mr Held holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Allegheny College
and an MBA from Ashland University.

Charles George Rupert NIXON

Group General Counsel

Mr Nixon, aged 52, has been Group General Counsel of the Company since
May 2015 and has worked with the Company since 2006. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr Nixon was Group Senior Legal Counsel for Hutchison
Whampoa Limited (previously a listed company in Hong Kong and after

a restructuring, a subsidiary of CK Hutchison Holdings Limited) in both
Hong Kong and London and prior to that Senior Legal Counsel for Three
UK, the mobile phone operator. Mr Nixon has been with the CK Hutchison
Group since 2001.

Mr Nixon received an LLB (Hons) from Middlesex University and is a
qualified solicitor in England & Wales with 30 years of experience.



—CTORS

The Directors have pleasure in submitting to shareholders their report and
the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company of a
biopharmaceutical group with operations in China, the U.S. and Europe. It
is focused on the research, development, manufacture and marketing of
pharmaceutical products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review of the performance, business activities and future
development of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is set out
in the Chairman’s Statement and the Operations Review.

RESULTS

The Consolidated Statements of Operations are set out on page 98 and
show the Group’s results for the year ended December 31, 2021.

D)

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend for the year ended December 31, 2021 was declared
and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended December
31,2021 are set out in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders’ Equity on page 100.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations to charitable organizations by the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2021 amounted to approximately US$1.89 million (2020 -
approximately US$0.3 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

Particulars of the movements of property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital of the Company is set out in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets on page 97. Details of the ordinary shares of the Company are set
outin note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company as of December 31, 2021 were:

Executive Directors:

TO Chi Keung, Simon
Christian Lawrence HOGG
CHENG Chig Fung, Johnny
Weiguo SU

Non-executive Directors:

Dan ELDAR
Edith SHIH

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Paul Rutherford CARTER
Karen Jean FERRANTE
Graeme Allan JACK
MOK Shu Kam, Tony

During the year ended December 31, 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the following changes to the Board composition took place on
March 4, 2022:

(i) Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg retired as Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer; and

(i) DrWeiguo Su was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, in
additional to his roles as Executive Director and Chief Scientific
Officer.

Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg has confirmed that he has no disagreement
with the Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed
to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

The Board would like to record its appreciation for the contribution of
Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg made to the Group during his tenure and
is pleased to congratulate Dr Weiguo Su on his appointment to Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

The Company’s articles of association require not less than one-third

of the Directors to retire by rotation at each annual general meeting,

and a retiring Director is eligible for re-election. In the interests of good
corporate governance, all Directors, being Mr To Chi Keung, Simon,

Dr Weiguo Su, Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny, Dr Dan Eldar, Ms Edith Shih,
Mr Paul Rutherford Carter, Dr Karen Jean Ferrante, Mr Graeme Allan Jack
and Professor Mok Shu Kam, Tony will all retire at the 2022 annual general
meeting (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election by shareholders.
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The Company has received written confirmation from all Independent
Non-executive Directors regarding their independence as required
under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HK Listing Rules”) as well as
Rule 5605(a)(2) of the Nasdaq Listing Rules. The Board considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out on pages 42 to 45.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

None of the Directors of the Company who are proposed for re-election at
the 2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company not terminable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL
INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are of
significance subsisting during or at the end of the year in which a Director
of the Company or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

1. Supply of Products by the Group to A.S. Watson Group and
Provision of Associated Marketing Services by A.S. Watson Group

From time to time, the Group may supply products to A.S. Watson
Holdings Limited (“A.S. Watson”), an indirect subsidiary of CK
Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CKHH”), and/or its subsidiaries (‘A.S.
Watson Group”), including the retail grocery and pharmacy chains,
Park N Shop (HK) Ltd. (“PARKNSHOP”) and A.S. Watson Retail (HK)
Ltd (“Watsons”), which are owned and operated by A.S. Watson. In
connection with the supply and sale of the products by the Group,
A.S. Watson Group may also from time to time provide marketing
services associated with the products to the Group.

The Company entered into a framework products supply and
marketing services agreement with A.S. Watson (the “A.S. Watson
Framework Connected Transactions Agreement”) on June 15, 2021
to govern all existing and future supply of products by the Group
to A.S. Watson Group and the associated provision of marketing
services by A.S. Watson Group to the Group.



The A.S. Watson Framework Connected Transactions Agreement
expires on December 31, 2023 and is automatically renewable for a
successive period of three years thereafter, subject to compliance
with the applicable provisions of the HK Listing Rules, unless
terminated earlier by not less than one month’s prior notice

or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the A.S. Watson
Framework Connected Transactions Agreement.

In relation to the supply of products by the Group, it is expected
that the maximum annual transaction amount receivable by the
Group from A.S. Watson Group for the financial years 2021, 2022
and 2023 will not exceed US$12.46 million, US$14.95 million and
USS$17.94 million, respectively.

In relation to the provision of associated marketing services by
A.S. Watson Group to the Group, it is expected that the maximum
annual transaction amount payable by the Group to A.S. Watson
Group for the financial years 2021, 2022 and 2023 will not exceed
USS$1.25 million, US$1.50 million and USS$1.79 million, respectively.

As A.S. Watson is a subsidiary of CKHH, it is a connected person
of the Company by virtue of being an associate of a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and the supply of products by the
Group to A.S. Watson Group and the provision of associated
marketing services by A.S. Watson Group to the Group constitutes
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

Product Labelling Services

The Company has entered into the A.S. Watson Framework
Connected Transactions Agreement with A.S. Watson (as described
above), which provides for the provision of product labelling
services by A.S. Watson Group, whereby Hutchison Hain Organic
(Hong Kong) Limited (“HHOHK?”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of a
consolidated joint venture of the Company, engaged PARKNSHOP
to provide product labelling services for products supplied by
HHOHK to PARKNSHOP, a retail grocery chain owned and operated
by the A.S. Watson Group.

It is expected that the maximum annual transaction amount
payable by the Group to A.S. Watson Group for the financial years
2021, 2022 and 2023 will not exceed USS$0.66 million, USS0.79
million and US$0.95 million, respectively.

Provision of Travel Services

The Company entered into a framework travel services agreement
with Hutchison Travel Limited (“Hutchison Travel”) on June 15,
2021 (the “Framework Travel Services Agreement”) whereby
Hutchison Travel and/or its subsidiaries (together, the “Hutchison
Travel Group”) provide travel services (e.g. bookings and
reservations for air tickets) to the Group and charge the Group
services fees based on market prices. The Framework Travel
Services Agreement governs all existing and future provision of
travel services by Hutchison Travel Group to the Group.

The Framework Travel Services Agreement expires on December
31,2023 and is automatically renewable for a successive period of
three years thereafter, subject to compliance with the applicable
provisions of the HK Listing Rules, unless terminated earlier by not
less than one month’s prior notice or otherwise in accordance with
the terms of the Framework Travel Services Agreement.

Itis expected that the maximum annual service fees payable by
the Group to Hutchison Travel Group for the financial years 2021,
2022 and 2023 will not exceed USS$1.00 million, US$1.50 million and
US$2.25 million, respectively.

As Hutchison Travel is a subsidiary of CKHH, it is a connected
person of the Company by virtue of being an associate of a
substantial shareholder of the Company, the supply of travel
services by Hutchison Travel Group to the Group constitutes
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

Hain Products Supply Agreement

As part of the commercial reasons for the establishment of HHOHK,
and pursuant to the terms of the joint venture agreement entered
into between The Hain Celestial Group, Inc. (“Hain Celestial”) and
Hutchison Organic Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, on October 8, 2009 (the “Hain JV Agreement”),

a Hain Products Supply Agreement (the “Hain Products Supply
Agreement”) was entered into between Hain Celestial and HHOHK
on October 27,2009 (as amended and supplemented on July
1,2011), pursuant to which Hain Celestial appointed HHOHK to
market, distribute and sell the products within the current brands
of Hain Celestial in certain territories and agreed to supply such
products in connection with the appointment.

The supply price for each product will be an amount equal to
Hain Celestial’s standard cost plus a margin of 10%, or such
other percentage that is equal to Hain Celestial’s sales margin
for intercompany sales among its group companies plus 2%. The
standard cost will consist of the actual cost of the raw materials,
packaging materials, manufacturing expenses, amortization of

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 53



DIRECTORS' REPORT

54

mold and die expenses, variation and logistics. HHOHK will also
reimburse Hain Celestial for any necessary licensing fees in relation
to the third-party endorsement incurred in connection with the
supply of the products to HHOHK.

Unless terminated in accordance with the Hain Products Supply
Agreement, the Hain Products Supply Agreement became effective
on the date of signing and will continue in full force and effect so
long as the Hain JV agreement is in full force and effect. Pursuant
to the Hain Products Supply Agreement, either party may terminate
the Hain Products Supply Agreement if, among other things, (i)

the other party files a petition of any type as to its bankruptcy, be
declared bankrupt or become insolvent, or (i) the other party is in
material breach of the Hain Products Supply Agreement and shall
have failed to cure such breach within 30 days of receipt of written
notice thereof.

It is expected that the maximum annual transaction amount to be
recorded by the Group from Hain Celestial for the financial years
2021, 2022 and 2023 will not exceed US$23.14 million, US$27.76
million and US$33.32 million, respectively.

Hutchison Hain Organic Holdings Limited (“Hutchison Hain
Organic”) is a consolidated joint venture of the Company and
therefore a subsidiary of the Company under the HK Listing Rules.
As Hain Celestial holds 50% of the interest in Hutchison Hain
Organic, Hain Celestial is a connected person of the Company

by virtue of being a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company. Accordingly, the transactions under the Hain Products
Supply Agreement constitutes continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the HK Listing Rules.

Framework Sinopharm Products Supply and Purchase Agreement

Hutchison Whampoa Sinopharm Pharmaceuticals (Shanghai)
Company Limited has been supplying/purchasing prescription
drugs to/from Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd., (“Sinopharm”) and/or

its associates. The Company entered into a framework products
supply and purchase agreement with Sinopharm (the “Framework
Sinopharm Products Supply and Purchase Agreement”) on June
15,2021 to govern all existing and future (i) supply of products by
the Group to Sinopharm and/or its associates and (ii) purchase of
products by the Group from Sinopharm and/or its associates.

The Framework Sinopharm Products Supply and Purchase
Agreement expires on December 31, 2023 and is automatically
renewable for a successive period of three years thereafter, subject
to compliance with the applicable provisions of the HK Listing
Rules, unless terminated earlier by not less than one month’s prior
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the Framework
Sinopharm Products Supply and Purchase Agreement.

In relation to the supplying of products by the Group, it is expected
that the maximum annual transaction amount receivable by the
Group from Sinopharm and/or its associates for the financial years
2021, 2022 and 2023 will not exceed US$134.50 million, US$236.75
million and US$335.78 million, respectively.

In relation to the purchase of products by the Group, it is expected
that the maximum annual transaction amount payable by the
Group to Sinopharm and/or its associates for the financial years
2021, 2022 and 2023 will not exceed US$4.08 million, US$4.90
million and US$5.88 million, respectively.

As Sinopharm is a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of

the Company, it is a connected person of the Company and the
supply to and purchase from Sinopharm of products by the Group
constitutes continuing connected transactions of the Company.

HBYS Brand License Royalty Agreement

Hutchison Chinese Medicine Holding Limited (“HCMHL”, a
subsidiary of the Company) entered into a brand license royalty
agreement (“HBYS Brand License Royalty Agreement”), pursuant
to which HCMHL will pay to Hutchison Whampoa Enterprises
Limited (“HWEL”, a subsidiary of CKHH) an annual fee of HK$12
million in consideration of the grant of the royalty-free right to

use the “Hutchison Whampoa” related trade marks and logos by
HWEL to Hutchison Whampoa Guangzhou Baiyunshan Chinese
Medicine Company Limited (“HBYS”) and certain of its subsidiaries,
which commenced on the completion date of sale of the entire
interest in HBYS by the Company (i.e. 28 September 2021) and

up to and including December 31, 2023. Subject to compliance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules or, alternatively, any
waivers obtained from strict compliance with such requirements,
upon expiration of the initial term or subsequent renewal term,
the agreement is automatically renewed for a successive period of
three years thereafter (or such other period permitted under the
Listing Rules).

The royalty payable by HCMHL under the HBYS Brand License
Royalty Agreement for each year ending December 31 for the
duration of the HBYS Brand License Royalty Agreement will be
HKS$12 million. The aggregate royalty payable under the HBYS
Brand License Royalty Agreement (including any renewal thereof)
shall not be more than HK$120 million, even if the HBYS Brand
License Royalty Agreement is not terminated and continues to be
renewed after 10 years.

As HWEL is a subsidiary of CKHH, it is a connected person of

the Company by virtue of being an associate of a substantial
shareholder of the Company and the license granted under the
HBYS Brand License Royalty Agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.



The annual caps of the Continuing Connected Transactions in respect of the year ended December 31, 2021 and the corresponding aggregate transaction
amounts for the year are set out below:

Aggregate amount

for year ended
Continuing Connected Transactions December 31, 2021 Cap Amount
(US$ millions) (USS$ millions)
(1)(a) Supply of products by the Group under the A.S. Watson Framework Connected 4.26 12.46
Transactions Agreement
(b) Provision of marketing services by A.S. Watson Group under the A.S. Watson 0.35 1.25
Framework Connected Transactions Agreement
) Product Labelling Services under A.S. Watson Framework Connected Transactions 0.18 0.66
Agreement
(3) Framework Travel Services Agreement - 1.00
4) Hain Products Supply Agreement 9.77 23.14
(5)(a) Supply of products under the Framework Sinopharm Products Supply and Purchase 55.74 134.50
Agreement
(b) Purchase of products by the Group under the Framework Sinopharm Products Supply 2.58 4.08
and Purchase Agreement
(6) HBYS Brand License Royalty Agreement 1.54 1.54

The internal audit of the Group has reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the relevant internal
control procedures in respect of the negotiation, review, approval, agreement management, reporting, consolidation and monitoring process of the
Continuing Connected Transactions, and is of the view that the Continuing Connected Transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms of
the relevant agreements (including the pricing policy/mechanism thereunder), and that the internal control procedures in respect of the Continuing
Connected Transactions are sound and effective.

All the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, having reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions for the year ended December 31,
2021 and the findings provided by the Group’s internal audit, confirmed that such transactions had been entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (b) on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) according to the respective agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged its external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions for the year ended
December 31, 2021 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on the work performed, the external auditor of the
Company has confirmed in its letter to the Board that nothing has come to its attention which causes it to believe that:

(i) the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(i) fortransactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, they were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(i) thetransactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

(iv)  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected transactions, the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

Related party transactions of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2021 are described in note 24 to the financial statements. Except as
disclosed above, none of such related party transactions constitutes a non-exempted connected transaction under the HK Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty. Directors liability insurance is in place for the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries in respect of
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims that may be brought against the Directors. The relevant provisions in the Articles of Association and the
Directors’ liability insurance were in force during the financial year ended December 31, 2021 and as of the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures are set out in the section “Information on
Directors” on pages 47 to 48.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

So far as the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are aware, as at December 31, 2021, other than the interests of the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company as disclosed in the section titled “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” under
“Information on Directors”, the following persons had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall

to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”) under Part XV of the SFO:

Interests and short positions of substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Long positions and short positions in the shares of the Company

Number of Shares Approximate% of
Names Capacity Held/Interested Total Shareholding
CKHHW Interest of controlled corporations 332,574,650 332,574,650 38.46%
CK Hutchison Global Investments Limited (“CKHGIL")® Interest of controlled corporations 332,574,650 332,574,650 38.46%
Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited (“‘HWCL”)® Interest of controlled corporations 332,526,710 332,526,710 38.46%
Hutchison Healthcare Holdings Limited (“HHHL”)W Beneficial owner 332,478,770 332,478,770 38.46%
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.?’ Interest of controlled corporations 77,676,002 77,676,002 8.98%

JP Morgan Chase & Co.® Interest of controlled corporations 11,700,542 )

9,239,182(S))

)

Investment Manager 13,134,405)

)

Person having a security interest in shares 56,970)

)

Trustee 7,865)

)
Approved lending agent 35,167,154) 60,066,936 6.94%
) 9,239,182 (S) 1.06%
) 35,167,154 4.06%

) (Lending pool)
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Notes:

(1) CKHH wholly owns CKHGIL, which holds more than one-third of the issued share capital of HWCL, which wholly owns HHHL. Accordingly, for the purpose of Part XV of
the SFO, HWCL is deemed to be interested in the shares HHHL holds and is deemed to be interested in the Company; CKHGIL is deemed to be interested in the shares
HWCL holds and is deemed to be interested in the Company; and CKHH is deemed to be interested in the shares CKHGIL holds and is deemed to be interested in the
Company.

()332,478,770 shares are held by HHHL; (i) 2,397 American depositary shares (“ADSs”) are held by Hutchison Capital Holdings Limited (“HCHL”); (iii) 2,397 ADSs are
held by Genius Wisdom Limited (“GWL”); (iv) 7,191 ADSs will be transferred to HCHL upon vesting of the non-performance based Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) of
Mr To Chi Keung, Simon, subject to vesting conditions; and (v) 7,191 ADSs will be transferred to GWL upon vesting of the non-performance based LTIP of Ms Edith Shih,
subject to vesting conditions.

HHHL, HCHL and GWL are indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of CKHH. For the purposes of the SFO, CKHH is deemed to be interested in a total of 332,574,650 shares
held by HHHL, HCHL and GWL for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

(2) (i) 49,441,485 shares are held by Capital Research and Management Company; (i) 3,145,615 shares are held by Capital International Sarl; (iii) 23,785,782 shares are held
by Capital International, Inc.; (iv) 13,365 shares are held by Capital Bank and Trust Company; and (v) 1,289,755 shares are held by Capital Group Private Client Services,
Inc.

Capital Research and Management Company, Capital International Sarl, Capital International, Inc., Capital Bank and Trust Company and Capital Group Private Client
Services, Inc. are wholly owned by The Capital Group Companies, Inc. For the purposes of the SFO, The Capital Group Companies, Inc. is deemed to be interested in
an aggregated 77,676,002 shares. Among them, 67,130,085 shares are physically settled listed derivatives.

(3) An aggregated 60,066,936 shares (long position), 9,239,182 shares (short position) and 35,167,154 shares (lending pool) of the Company are held by JPMorgan Chase &
Co. indirectly through its certain subsidiaries. Among them, 915,547 shares (long position) and 335,734 shares (short position) are cash settled unlisted derivatives.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2021, no other person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had any interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the HKEX for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:-

On July 2, 2020, the Company and General Atlantic entered into an ordinary shares subscription warrant which upon exercise entitles General Atlantic
to subscribe for 16,666,670 shares at an exercise price of US$6.00 per share. The warrant was exercisable during the period from July 2, 2020 to January 3,
2022. The warrant expired on January 4, 2022.

On April 14,2021, the Company issued 16,393,445 ordinary shares to Pachytene Limited (an investment vehicle wholly-owned by Baring Private Equity
Asia Fund VII) for an aggregate price of US$100 million at the price equivalent to US$30.50 per ADS pursuant to a securities subscription agreement.

On June 30, 2021, the Company issued 104,000,000 ordinary shares at the price of HK$40.10 per ordinary share pursuant to the Global Offering and listing
of the ordinary shares of the Company on HKEX. Following the exercise of an over-allotment option granted by the Company in the context of the Global
Offering, the Company issued an additional 15,600,000 ordinary shares at the same price per ordinary share on July 15, 2021. Details of the Global Offering
and the over-allotment option are set out in the prospectus issued by the Company dated June 18, 2021.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

(i) Share option scheme adopted in 2015 by the
Company

To replace the share option scheme adopted on June 4, 2005 which

expired on June 3, 2016 and since this date no further options have

been granted under the 2005 Share Option Scheme (see further

details below), the Company conditionally adopted a share option

scheme on annual general meeting held on April 24, 2015 which

was amended on April 27, 2020 (the “2015 Share Option Scheme”).

Pursuant to the 2015 Share Option Scheme, the Board of Directors

of the Company may, at its discretion, offer any employees and

directors (including Executive and Non-executive Directors but

excluding Independent Non-executive Directors) of the Company, (4)
holding companies of the Company and any of their subsidiaries

or affiliates, and subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company share

options to subscribe for shares of the Company. Among the Board,

only Executive Directors of the Company, Mr Christian Lawrence

Hogg, Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny and Dr Weiguo Su, have been (5)
granted share options under the 2015 Share Option Scheme.

A summary of the 2015 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(1) Purpose of the Scheme - the purpose of the 2015
Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company with a
flexible means of either retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to (6)
2015 Eligible Persons (as defined below).

(2)  Scheme Administration - the Remuneration Committee of
the Company consists of Mr Paul Rutherford Carter,
Mr Graeme Allan Jack and Mr To Chi Keung, Simon, with Mr Paul
Rutherford Carter serving as chairman of the committee. The
Remuneration Committee is responsible for considering all
material elements of remuneration policy and recommends
to the Board the remuneration and incentives of the
Directors and key employees with reference to independent
remuneration research and professional advice. The
Remuneration Committee meets formally at least once each
year and otherwise as required and makes recommendations
to the Board of Directors on the framework for executive
remuneration and on proposals for the granting of share
options and other equity incentives. The Board is responsible
for implementing these recommendations and agreeing the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors.
No Director is permitted to participate in discussions or
decisions concerning his/her own remuneration. Directors
are also abstained from voting in respect of his/her own
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proposed share awards/remuneration, such that no Director
is involved in determining his or her own share awards/
remuneration.

Eligible Person - share options may be granted to a “2015
Eligible Person”, being any person who is (or will be on and
following the date of offer of the relevant option) a
non-executive director (excluding any independent
non-executive directors) or an employee or a director
holding salaried office or employment under a contract
with the Company, its listed parent company and any of

its subsidiaries or affiliates, and any holding company,
subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company or other companies
which the Board determines will be subject to the 2015 Share
Option Scheme, who is notified by the Board that he or she
is an eligible person.

No Payment for the Option other than Exercise Price -

share option holders are not required to pay for the grant of
any share option other than the exercise price for exercising
the options.

No Holding Period but Vesting Schedule Applies - unless
otherwise determined by the Board and stated in the offer of
the grant of share options to a 2015 Eligible Person, there is
no minimum period required under the 2015 Share Option
Scheme for the holding of a share option but there are
vesting periods which apply to the share option before which
it cannot be exercised.

Exercise Price - subject to any adjustment according to the
rules of the 2015 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price
shall be, in respect of any share option, the 2015 Market
Value (as defined below) of the shares as at the offer date,

where “2015 Market Value” on any particular day means:

(@) where the shares of the same class are admitted to
trading on any stock exchange, the higher of:

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares
on the five dealing days immediately preceding
the offer date;

(i) theclosing price of the shares as stated on a
recognized stock exchange’s daily quotations

sheet of such shares on the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of the shares; or



(b)  where the shares of the same class are not admitted to
trading on any recognized stock exchange, the value
of a share is determined in such manner as the Board
considers reasonable according to objective criteria.

Scheme Limit - the maximum number of shares which may
be allotted and issued pursuant to the 2015 Share Option
Scheme is subject to the following:

(@) thetotal number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the
2015 Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 4% of the shares in issue as at May 13, 2016,
being the date on which the 2015 Share Option
Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting (the “Scheme Limit”).
On April 27, 2020, rules of the 2015 Share Option
Scheme was amended to increase the Scheme Limit
to 5% of the shares in issue as at the adoption date.
The Scheme Limit was also refreshed to 34,528,738
shares, representing about 5% of the shares in issue as
at April 27, 2020. Share options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2015 Share Option Scheme will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
Scheme Limit;

(b)  the Board may refresh the Scheme Limit by reference
to the issued share capital of the Company then
prevailing with the approval of the shareholders of
its listed parent company, if required, under the HK
Listing Rules in a general meeting, provided that the
total number of the Company Shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of share options to be
granted under the 2015 Share Option Scheme and
any options under any other share option schemes
of the Company under the limit as refreshed shall not
exceed 10% of the shares in issue at the date on which
shareholders of the listed parent company approve
the refreshed limit (where applicable). Share options
previously granted under the 2015 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant
scheme, or exercised options) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed. As at
December 31, 2021, the total number of the Company
Shares available for issue under the 2015 Share
Option Scheme (including the share options granted
but yet to be exercised) was 50,059,198, representing
approximately 5.79% of the total number of shares in
issue;

(c)  share options may be granted to any 2015 Eligible
Person(s) specifically identified by the Board which
would cause the Scheme Limit (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, any such limit as refreshed under
paragraph (7)(b) above) to be exceeded, but only with
the approval of the shareholders of the Company in a
general meeting (and by the shareholders of the listed
parent company, if required under the HK Listing
Rules), and subject always to paragraphs (7)(d) and
(7)(e) below and restrictions on grant to key individuals
under the 2015 Share Option Scheme;

(d)  theBoard shall not grant any share options (the
“Relevant Company Options”) to any 2015 Eligible
Person which, if exercised, would result in such person
becoming entitled to subscribe for such number of
shares as, when aggregated with the total number
of shares already issued or to be issued to him/her
under all share options (including both exercised and
outstanding share options) granted to him/her in the
12-month period up to, and including, the offer date
of the Relevant Company Options, exceeds 1% of the
shares in issue at such date; but notwithstanding the
aforesaid, the Board may grant the Relevant Company
Options to any 2015 Eligible Person(s) which would
cause the aforesaid limit to be exceeded, but only with
the approval of the shareholders of the listed parent
company in a general meeting (with such 2015 Eligible
Person and his/her associates abstaining from voting)
and subject to paragraph (7)(e) below; and

(e)  thetotal number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding share options granted
and not yet exercised under the 2015 Share Option
Scheme, and under any other share option scheme of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the shares in
issue from time to time.

Subject to and in accordance with the rules of the 2015 Share
Option Scheme, a share option may be exercised during a period
which is notified at the offer date of the share option, such period
will not exceed the period of 10 years from such offer date.
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Particulars of share options outstanding under the 2015 Share Option Scheme at the beginning and at the end of the year 2021 and share options

granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2015 Share Option Scheme during 2021 were as follows:

Lapsed/ .
Number of Granted Exercised cancelled Number of Price of share
share options during the during the duringthe  share options prior to prior to the
Name or Date of grant held as at year ended year ended year ended held as at Exercise Exercise thegrant  exercise date
category of of share Januaryl, December3l, December3l,  December3l,  December 31, period of price of date of of share
participants options 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021  shareoptions  share options share options options
Director
Christian Apr 28,2020 9 1,291,700 - - - 1,291,700 Apr 28,2020 US$22.090 US$21.920 N/A
Lawrence (258,340 ADS) (258,340 ADS) to Apr 27,2030 per ADS per ADS
HOGG ™ Dec, 142020 39610 f f . 3610 Decld, 2020 US$29.000 US$28.160 N/A
(57,922 ADS) (57,922 ADS) to Dec 13,2030 per ADS per ADS
Mar 26,2021 - 868,900 - - 868,900 Mar 26,2021 US$27.940 US$27.640 N/A
(=173,780 ADS) (=173,780 ADS) to Mar 25,2031 per ADS per ADS
CHENG Chig Apr 28,2020 © 401,900 - - - 401,900 Apr 28,2020 US$22.090 US$21.920 N/A
Fung, Johnny (=80,380 ADS) (=80,380ADS)  toApr 27,2030 per ADS per ADS
Mar 26,2021 ¥ - 240,500 - - 240,500 Mar 26,2021 US$27.940 US$27.640 N/A
(=48,100 ADS) (=48,100ADS)  to Mar 25,2031 per ADS per ADS
Weiguo SU Jun 15,2016 @ 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 June 15,2016 £1.970 £19751 N/A
to Dec 19, 2023 per share per share
Mar 27,2017 © 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 Mar 27,2017 £3.105 £3.000 N/A
to Mar 26, 2027 per share per share
Mar 19,2018 © 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 Mar 19,2018 £4.974 £4.890 N/A
to Mar 18,2028 per share per share
Apr 28,2020 © 789,700 - - - 789,700 Apr 28,2020 US$22.090 US$21.920 N/A
(157,940 ADS) (157,940 ADS) to Apr27,2030 per ADS per ADS
Dec 14,2020 9 18,960 - - - 18,960 Dec 14,2020 15$29.000 US$28.160 N/A
(=3,792 ADS) (=3,792ADS)  to Dec 13,2030 per ADS per ADS
Mar 26,2021 ¥ - 282,400 - - 282,400 Mar 26, 2021 US$27.940 US$27.640 N/A
(=56,480 ADS) (=56,480 ADS)  to Mar 25,2031 per ADS per ADS
Dec 14,2021 ¥ - 24930 - - 24930 Dec 14,2021 US§35.210 US835.064 N/A
(=4,986 ADS) (=4,986 ADS)  to Dec 13,2031 per ADS per ADS
Employees in Jun 15,2016 @ 2,936,860 - - - 2,936,860 Jun 15,2016 £1.970 £19759 N/A
aggregate to Dec 19,2023 per share per share
Apr 20,2018 © 4535220 - (191,720) - 4,343 500 Apr 20,2018 £4.645 £4.590 £6.1009
to Apr 19, 2028 per share per share per share
Jun6,2018 © 162,450 - (40,000) - 122,450 Jun6,2018 £4.166 £41109 £5.890
to June 5,2028 per share per share per share
Aug6,2018 ¥ 680,000 - - (50,000) 630,000 Aug6,2018 £4.860 £5.000 N/A
to Aug5,2028 per share per share
0Oct 19,2018 9 255,000 - - - 255,000 Oct 19,2018 £4.610 £4.600 ¥ N/A
to Oct 18, 2028 per share per share
May 21,2019 © 100,000 - - - 100,000 May 21,2019 £4.220 £41759 N/A
to May 20,2029 per share per share
Oct9,2019 % 1,290,000 - (50,000) - 1,240,000 Oct9,2019 £2.978 £2.950 £49159
to Oct 8, 2029 per share per share per share
Dec 11,2019 ¥ 400,000 - - - 400,000 Dec 11,2019 £3.592 £3.600 N/A
to Dec 10, 2029 per share per share
Apr 20,2020 © 775,000 - (50,000) (150,000) 575,000 Apr 20,2020 £3.340 £3.060 £5.660
to Apr 19, 2030 per share per share per share
Apr 28,2020 © 7,146,400 - (72,350) (203,550) 6,870,500 Apr 28,2020 US$22.090 US$21.920 US$35.283
(21,429,280 ADS) (=14,470 ADS) (=40,710ADS)  (=1,374,100 ADS) to Apr 27,2030 per ADS per ADS per ADS
Aug 11,2020 745,000 - - (280,000) 465,000 Aug 11,2020 US$32.820 US832.320 N/A
(=149,000 ADS) (=56,000 ADS) (=93,000ADS)  toAug 10,2030 per ADS per ADS
Dec 14,2020 ¥ 1,477,010 - - (150,000) 1,327,010 Dec 14,2020 US529.000 US528.160 N/A
(295,402 ADS) (=30,000 ADS) (265,402 ADS)  to Dec 13,2030 per ADS per ADS
Mar 26, 2021 © - 6,388,100 - (496,500) 6,391,600 Mar 26,2021 US$27.940 US$27.640 N/A
(=1,377,620 ADS) (=99,300ADS)  (=1,278,320 ADS) to Mar 25,2031 per ADS per ADS
Sep1,2021 % - 1,086,000 - - 1,086,000 Sep 1,2021 US$39.740 USS$37.564 N/A
(217,200 ADS) (217,200 ADS) to Aug 31,2031 per ADS per ADS
Dec 14,2021 % - 784,010 - - 784,010 Dec 14,2021 US$35.210 US$35.064 N/A
(=156,802 ADS) (F156,802ADS)  toDec 13,2031 per ADS per ADS
Total: 28,044,810 10,174,840 (404,070) (1,330,050) 36,485,530




(i)

Effective from May 30, 2019, each ordinary share of US$1.00 each
of the Company was subdivided into 10 new ordinary shares of
US$0.10 each (the “Share Division”). Accordingly, adjustments have
been made to the number of share options by multiplying the
number by 10 and to the share price and exercise price by dividing
the price by 10 pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Share Option
Scheme. (1)

The share options granted on or after April 28, 2020 were in the

form of ADS and the relevant exercise prices were stated in US

dollars per ADS. For disclosure purposes, these share options are

presented in the form of ordinary shares. Each ADS represents five

ordinary shares. (2)

Notes:

(1) Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg retired as Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer on March 4, 2022.

) The share options granted are exercisable subject to, amongst other
relevant vesting criteria, the vesting schedule of approximately 50%
on the day after the acceptance of the offer, approximately 25% on
December 20, 2016 and approximately 25% on December 20, 2017.

3) The share options granted are exercisable subject to, amongst other
relevant vesting criteria, the vesting schedule of 25% on each of the
first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant of
share options.

(4) The stated prices were the adjusted prices as a result of the Share
Subdivision. The prices prior to the adjustment were closing prices
of the shares quoted on AIM on the trading day immediately prior to
the respective dates of grant of share options.

(5) The stated price was the weighted average closing price of the
ordinary shares/ADSs immediately before the date on which the
share options were exercised.

Share option scheme adopted in 2005 by the
Company - expired on June 3, 2016 E)

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on
June 4, 2005 which was amended on March 21, 2007 (the “2005
Share Option Scheme”). The 2005 Share Option Scheme had a term
of 10 years. It expired on June 3, 2016 and no further share option
can be granted. Pursuant to the 2005 Share Option Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may, at its discretion, offer any
employees and directors (including Executive and Non-executive
Directors but excluding Independent Non-executive Directors)

of the Company, holding companies of the Company and any of
their subsidiaries or affiliates, and subsidiaries or affiliates of the
Company share options to subscribe for shares of the Company.
Among the Board, only Executive Directors of the Company,

Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg, Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny and
Dr Weiguo Su, received share options under the 2005 Share Option
Scheme.

A summary of the 2005 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

Purpose of the Scheme - the purpose of the 2005

Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company with a
flexible means of either retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
2005 Eligible Persons (as defined below).

Scheme Administration - the Remuneration Committee of
the Company consists of Mr Paul Rutherford Carter,

Mr Graeme Allan Jack and Simon Mr To Chi Keung, Simon,
with Mr Paul Rutherford Carter serving as chairman of the
committee. The Remuneration Committee is responsible
for considering all material elements of remuneration

policy and recommends to the Board the remuneration

and incentives of the Directors and key employees with
reference to independent remuneration research and
professional advice. The Remuneration Committee meets
formally at least once each year and otherwise as required
and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors

on the framework for executive remuneration and on
proposals for the granting of share options and other equity
incentives. The Board is responsible for implementing these
recommendations and agreeing the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors. No Director is permitted to
participate in discussions or decisions concerning his/her
own remuneration. Directors are also abstained from voting
in respect of his/her own proposed share awards, such that
no Director is involved in determining his or her own share
awards.

Eligible Person - share options may be granted to a “2005
Eligible Person”, being any person who is (or will be on and
following the date of offer of the relevant option) a
non-executive director (other than an independent
non-executive director) or an employee or a director
holding salaried office or employment under a contract
with the Company, its listed parent company and any

of its subsidiaries or affiliate, and any holding company,
subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company or other companies
which the Board determines will be subject to the 2005 Share
Option Scheme, who is notified by the Board that he or she
is an eligible person. Actual participation is at the discretion
of the Board.

No Payment for the Option other than Exercise Price -

share option holders are not required to pay for the grant of
any share option other than the exercise price for exercising
the options.
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No Holding Period but Vesting Schedule Applies - unless
otherwise determined by the Board and stated in the offer of

the grant of share options to a 2005 Eligible Person, there is

no minimum period required under the 2005 Share Option

Scheme for the holding of a share option before it can be

exercised but there are vesting period which apply to the

share option before which it cannot be exercised.

Exercise Price - subject to any adjustment according to the

rules of the 2005 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price
shall be:

(@)

in the case of the one-time initial grants of share
options by the Company under the 2005 Share Option
Scheme to founders and non-founders prior to the
Listing (as defined below), the price determined by
the Board and notified to the relevant share option
holder; and

in respect of any other share option, the 2005 Market
Value (as defined below) of the shares as at the offer
date, where “2005 Market Value” on any particular day
on or after the Listing means the higher of:

(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares
on the five dealing days immediately preceding
the offer date;

(ii) the closing price of the shares as stated on a
recognised stock exchange’s daily quotations (d)

sheet of such shares on the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of the shares.

Scheme Limit - the maximum number of the shares which
may be allotted and issued pursuant to the 2005 Share
Option Scheme is subject to the following:

(@)

the total number of the shares which may be issued

upon the exercise of all share options to be granted

under all share option schemes of the Company must

not in aggregate exceed 5% of the shares in issue on

the date on which the shares are listed for trading on

a recognised stock exchange (including the AIM) (the

“Listing”); (e)

the Board may refresh and recalculate the limit in
paragraph (7)(a) above by reference to the issued
share capital of the Company then prevailing with
the approval of the shareholders of its listed parent

company, if required, under the HK Listing Rules in a
general meeting, provided that the total number of the
shares issued and issuable pursuant to the exercise

of share options under all share option schemes

of the Company may not exceed 10% of the issued
ordinary share capital on the date of the approval of
the refreshed limit. Share options previously granted
under the 2005 Share Option Scheme and any other
employee share schemes of the Company (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised)

will not be counted for the purpose of calculating

the limit as refreshed. As at December 31,2021, the
total number of shares available for issue under

the 2005 Share Option Scheme (including the share
options granted but yet to be exercised) was 705,060,
representing approximately 0.08% of the total number
of the shares in issue;

share options may be granted to any 2005 Eligible
Person(s) specifically identified by the Board in excess
of the limit, including the refreshed limit, under
paragraphs (7)(a) and (7)(b) above, with the approval
of the shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting and by the shareholders of the listed parent
company, if required under the HK Listing Rules, and
subject to paragraphs (7)(d) and (7)(e) below and
restrictions on grant to key individuals under the 2005
Share Option Scheme;

no 2005 Eligible Person may be granted a share
option if, as a result, the total number of the Company
Shares over which that 2005 Eligible Person holds
share options granted in the previous 12 months,
when added to the number of Shares, the subject of
the proposed grant, would exceed 1% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company on that date;
but notwithstanding the aforesaid, share options may
be granted to any 2005 Eligible Person(s) which would
cause the aforesaid limit to be exceeded, but only with
the approval of the shareholders of the listed parent
company in a general meeting (with such 2005 Eligible
Person and his/her associates abstaining from voting)
and subject to paragraph (7)(e) below; and

the total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding share options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2005 Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option scheme of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the shares in
issue from time to time.



Subject to and in accordance with the rules of the 2005 Share Option Scheme, a share option may be exercised during a period which is notified at
the offer date of the share option, such period will not exceed the period of 10 years from such offer date.

Particulars of share options outstanding under the 2005 Share Option Scheme at the beginning and at the end of the year 2021 and share options
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2005 Share Option Scheme during 2021 were as follows:

Price of Share

Number of Lapsed/  Number of
share Granted Exercised cancelled share prior to the
options  duringthe  duringthe  during the options exercise
heldasat yearended yearended yearended held as at Exercise Exercise  prior to the date of
Category of Date of grant of January 1, December3l, December3l, December3l, December 31, period of price of share grant date of share

participants share options 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 share options options share options options ®

Employees in Jun24,2011 ¥ 400,000 - (400,000) - - Jun24,2011 £0.4405 £0.4490 @ £4.2300
aggregate to Jun 23,2021 per share per share per share
Dec 20,2013 ¥ 716,180 - (11,120) - 705,060 Dec 20,2013 £0.6100 £0.6130 @ £4.5000
to Dec 19,2023 per share per share per share

Total: 1,116,180 - (411,120) - 705,060

The Share Subdivision is also applicable to the 2005 Share Option Scheme.

Notes:

(1) The share options granted are exercisable subject to, amongst other relevant vesting criteria, the vesting schedule of 25% on each of the first, second, third and
fourth anniversaries of the date of grant of share options.

) The stated price was the adjusted prices as a result of the Share Subdivision. The prices prior to the adjustment were closing prices of the shares quoted on
AIM on the trading day immediately prior to the respective dates of grant of share options.

3) The stated price was the weighted average closing price of the ordinary shares immediately before the date on which the share options were exercised.

As at December 31, 2021, the Company had 705,060 share options and 36,485,530 share options outstanding under the 2005 Share Option Scheme
and the 2015 Share Option Scheme, respectively.

The fair values of share options in the form of ADS granted during the period, determined using the Polynomial Model were as follows:

Value of each share option in the form of ADS USS11.18

Significant inputs into the valuation model:
Exercise price US$29.78
Share price at effective grant date US$29.53
Expected volatility 41.14%
Risk-free interest rate 1.62%
Contractual life of share options 10 years
Expected dividend yield 0%

The volatility of the underlying stock during the life of the share options was estimated with reference to the historical volatility prior to the
issuance of share options. Changes in such subjective input assumptions could affect the fair value estimate.
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Conditional Right to receive Shares Bought on the Market by the LTIP Scheme Trustee - the Company grants awards under the LTIP which was
adopted on April 24, 2015, to participating directors or employees giving them a conditional right to receive ordinary shares of the Company or the
equivalent ADS (collectively the “Awarded Shares”) to be purchased by an independent third party trustee (the “Trustee”) in the market up to a cash
amount. Such awards are not satisfied out of new ordinary shares, as is the case with the share options.

Vesting of LTIP Awards - vesting will depend upon continued employment of the award holder with the Group and will otherwise be at the discretion
of the Board of Directors of the Company. Such awards can be either performance based awards or non-performance based awards. In relation to any
awards to the Independent Non-executive Directors, these are strictly non-performance based awards and typically vest 25% annually in equal amounts
over a four-year period.

Performance Based LTIP Awards - in relation to the salaried executive directors and employees, the Company grants performance based awards
which are subject to change based on annual performance targets which vary by award, and may include targets for shareholder returns, financings, free
cash flows, revenues, net profit after taxes and the achievement of clinical and regulatory milestones. Upon determination of the annual performance
targets, the Company will pay a determined monetary amount, up to the maximum cash amount based on the actual achievement of the performance
target specified in the award, to the Trustee to purchase the Awarded Shares. These type of annual performance based awards typically vest 100% three
years after the date of grant.

Administration of the LTIP Scheme - the Remuneration Committee meets and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on proposals for
the granting of LTIP Awards. The Board of Directors is responsible for implementing these recommendations. No Director is permitted to participate in
discussions concerning his/her own LTIP Awards. Directors are also abstained from voting in respect of his/her own proposed LTIP Awards, such that no
Director is involved in determining his or her own share awards. Any shares bought to satisfy any LTIP Award are purchased by the Trustee of the LTIP
Scheme, Computershare Trustees (Jersey) Limited and such shares are held by the Trustee on behalf of the awardee until the awards have vested.

Summary of the Different types of LTIP Awards

LTIP Award - Non-performance Shares Bought by Trustee and

LTIP Awardee - Eligibility Based/Performance Based held by Trustee until vested Vesting Period/Schedule
Salaried Executive Directors (including Chief Annual Performance Based Award, Cash Amount determined based ~ 100% vests around three
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer & Chief tied to Annual Performance Targets on achievement of Annual years after the date of grant
Scientific Officer) & Employees Performance Targets, used by

Trustee to buy shares in the

market
The Chairman, Non-executive Directors and Non-performance Based Award Cash Amount Award used by 25% of the Award vesting
Independent Non-executive Directors & Employees Trustee to buy shares in the annually over a four-year

market period
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(i) Grant of LTIP

On March 26, 2021, the Company granted performance based awards under the LTIP to three Executive Directors and 585 employees, giving a
conditional right to cash amounts which are used by the Trustee to purchase Awarded Shares in the Company, on market up to a maximum total
cash amount of US$57,311,165 depending upon the achievement of the performance targets in 2021. Details of the grants are as follows:

Maximum amount per annum
for the LTIP period stipulated
Name or category of participants of performance based LTIP awards in the LTIP awards

Executive Directors

Christian Lawrence HOGG W USS$1,616,538
CHENG Chig Fung, Johnny US$657,211
Weiguo SU US$1,622,123
Senior managers and executives in aggregate US$53,415,293
Total: US$57,311,165
Note:

(1) Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg retired as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on March 4, 2022.

Vesting will occur two business days after the date of announcement of the annual results for the financial year 2023.
On September 1, 2021, the Company granted:

(1) non-performance based LTIP awards of US$503,077 to three employees. It is a one-off cash amount to be allocated to the grantees and
used by the Trustee to purchase Awarded Shares which will be subject to a vesting schedule of 25% per year over four years; and

(2)  performance based LTIP awards to 119 employees, giving a conditional right to cash amounts which are used by the Trustee to purchase
Awarded Shares in the Company, on market up to a maximum total cash amount of US$7,279,340 depending on the achievement of the
performance targets in 2021. Vesting will occur two business days after the date of announcement of the annual results for the financial year
2023.
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On October 20, 2021, the Company granted non-performance based LTIP awards of US$250,000 each to seven Directors. It is a one-off cash
amount to be allocated to the grantees and used by the Trustee to purchase Awarded Shares which will be subject to a vesting schedule of 25%
per year over four years. Details of the grants are as follows:

Amount for the LTIP
period stipulated in the
Name or category of participants of the non-performance based LTIP awards LTIP awards

Executive Director
TO Chi Keung, Simon US$250,000 W

Non-executive Directors
Dan ELDAR US$250,000
Edith SHIH US$250,000 @

Independent Non-executive Directors

Paul Rutherford CARTER US$250,000
Karen Jean FERRANTE US$250,000
Graeme Allan JACK US$250,000
MOK Shu Kam, Tony US$250,000
Total: US$1,750,000
Notes:

(1) Similar to the arrangement for his Director’s fees, this cash amount would be used by the Trustee to buy shares which will be held by the Trustee until the LTIP

concerned is vested, with 25% to be vested in each of the next four years, whereupon the shares will be received by or for the account of his employer, HWCL.

) Similar to the arrangement for her Director’s fees, this cash amount would be used by the Trustee to buy shares which will be held by the Trustee until the
LTIP concerned is vested, with 25% to be vested in each of the next four years, whereupon the shares will be received by or for the account of her employer,
Hutchison International Limited (“HIL”).

On December 14, 2021, the Company granted non-performance based LTIP award of US$200,000 to two employees. It is a one-off cash amount to
be allocated to the grantees and used by the Trustee to purchase Awarded Shares, out of which US$100,000 awards will be vested one year after
grant and US$100,000 awards will be vested 25% per year over four years.

Any Awarded Shares purchased on behalf of a LTIP grantee are to be held by the Trustee until they are vested. Vesting will also depend upon the
continued employment of the award holder and will otherwise be at the discretion of the Board.



(ii) Vesting of LTIP

On March 9, 2021, performance based LTIP awards granted under the LTIP on March 15,2017 in respect of the annual performance targets for the
financial year 2018 were vested. Details of the vesting are as follows:

Name or category of participants of the performance based LTIP awards Number of ordinary shares Number of ADS

Executive Director

Weiguo SU - 2,656
Senior managers and executives in aggregate 143,510 3,339
Total: 143,510 5,995

On April 20, 2021, awards granted under the LTIP on April 20, 2020, which do not stipulate performance targets, were vested. Details of the vesting
are as follows:

Name or category of participants of the non-performance based LTIP awards Number of ordinary shares Number of ADS

Executive Director
TO Chi Keung, Simon - 2,397

Non-executive Directors
Dan ELDAR - 2,397

Edith SHIH - 2)397 (2)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Paul Rutherford CARTER — 2,037 3)
Karen Jean FERRANTE - 2,397
Graeme Allan JACK - 2,397
MOK Shu Kam, Tony - 2,397
Employees in aggregate 16,015 -
Total: 16,015 16,419
Notes:

(1) Similar to the arrangement for his Director’s fees, this cash amount would be used by the Trustee to buy shares which will be held by the Trustee until the LTIP

concerned is vested, with 25% to be vested in each of the next four years, whereupon the shares will be received by or for the account of his employer, HWCL.

) Similar to the arrangement for her Director’s fees, this cash amount would be used by the Trustee to buy shares which will be held by the Trustee until the LTIP
concerned is vested, with 25% to be vested in each of the next four years, whereupon the shares will be received by or for the account of her employer, HIL.

(3) Mr Paul Rutherford Carter opted receiving 15% of the LTIP award in cash and therefore, on April 20, 2021, 2,037 ADSs together with US$7,500 cash were vested.

On October 10, 2021, 1,390 ADSs awards granted to an employee under the LTIP on October 10, 2019, which do not stipulate performance targets,
were vested.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR
REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the year ended December 31, 2021:

(@) OnApril 14,2021, the Company issued 16,393,445 ordinary shares,
equivalent to 3,278,689 ADSs, to Pachytene Limited (an investment
vehicle wholly-owned by Baring Private Equity Asia Fund VII) for
an aggregate price of US$100 million at the price equivalent to
US$30.50 per ADS pursuant to a securities subscription agreement.

(b)  OnJune 30,2021, the Company issued 104,000,000 ordinary shares
at the price of HK$40.10 per ordinary share pursuant to the Global
Offering and listing of the ordinary shares of the Company on HKEX.
Following the exercise of an over-allotment option granted by the
Company in the context of the Global Offering, the Company issued
an additional 15,600,000 ordinary shares at the same price per
ordinary share on July 15, 2021. Details of the Global Offering and
the over-allotment option are set out in the prospectus issued by
the Company dated June 18, 2021.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, unless the Company
by special resolution directs otherwise, any new shares will be offered
to the existing shareholders pro rata to their holdings. In 2021 AGM, the
Company obtained approval from shareholders by passing of special
resolutions to disapply the pre-emption rights.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchase attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total purchase
of the Group.
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During the year, the percentages of revenue attributable to the major
customers of the Group were as follows:

Percentage of total
revenue of the Group

The largest customer 16%
Five largest customers combined 53%

As at December 31, 2021, none of the Directors, their close associates or
any shareholders (which to the knowledge of Directors own more than 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in the major
customers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of
the Company, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the HK Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Certified Public Accountants, and PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian
LLP who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the 2022 AGM.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Wednesday, April 27,2022 at
6:00 pm (Hong Kong time) at the Conference Room, 18th Floor, Hutchison
Telecom Tower, 99 Cheung Fai Road, Tsing Yi, Hong Kong. Details of the
business/resolutions proposed are set out in the Notice of the AGM.

By Order of the Board

Edith Shih
Director and Company Secretary

March 3, 2022
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The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance best suited to the needs and interests of the Company

and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as it believes that effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing
shareholder value. Accordingly, the Company has adopted and applied
corporate governance principles and practices that emphasize a quality
board of Directors (the “Board”), effective risk management and internal
control systems, stringent disclosure practices, transparency and
accountability as well as effective communication and engagement with
shareholders and other stakeholders. It is, in addition, committed to
continuously enhancing these standards and practices and inculcating
a robust culture of compliance and ethical governance underlying the
business operations and practices across the Group.

Following the listing of the ordinary shares of the Company on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”) on June 30, 2021, the Board
has adopted the Hong Kong Corporate Governance Code (“HK CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Listing
Rules”) in replacement of the UK Corporate Governance Code and the
Company is in compliance with all code provisions of the HK CG Code.
Although the American depositary shares of the Company are listed on
NASDAQ Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”), being a foreign private issuer,
the Company is permitted to follow Cayman Islands law for certain
corporate governance practices. In addition, the Company is subject to
and complies with certain applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act (the “SOX”). Prior to the listing of its ordinary shares on the HKEX, the
Company had adopted the principles of the UK Corporate Governance
Code applicable to companies listed on the premium segment of the
London Stock Exchange main market.

The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
discussed below.
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D)

THE BOARD

CORPORATE CULTURE

As a leading biopharmaceutical company, the Group instils a culture

of innovation that is driven by science, with the ambition to create
world-class cancer and immunological therapies, for the improvement

of the lives of patients. This includes its commitment to encouraging,
valuing and challenging every employee, so that the collective scientific
and commercial expertise of the Group better serves the broader
community. The Board, together with senior management, set the tone
and shapes and define the corporate culture and strategic direction,
which is underpinned by the core values of acting lawfully, ethically and
responsibly across all levels of the Group. The desired culture is developed
and reflected consistently in the operating practices and policies of the
Group, as well as its relations with stakeholders. Board oversight of the
culture of the organization encompasses a range of measures and tools,
including employee engagement, retention and training, robust financial
reporting, whistleblowing, data privacy and security and legal and
regulatory compliance (including compliance with the Code of Ethics and
other Group policies), as well as staff safety, wellbeing and support. Taking
into account the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board
considers that the culture, purpose, values and strategy of the Group are
aligned.



CORPORATE STRATEGY

The primary objective of the Company is to become a fully integrated
global leader in the discovery, development and commercialization of
targeted therapies and immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer

and immunological diseases. The strategy of the Company is to leverage
the highly specialized expertise of the drug discovery division, known

as the Oncology/Immunology operations, to develop and expand the
drug candidate portfolio of the Group for the global market while also
building on the first-mover advantage in the development and launch of
novel cancer drugs in China. This is aligned with the Company’s culture of
innovation and high engagement and empowerment with a high focus on
reward and recognition. The Chairman’s Statement and the Operations
Review contain discussions and analyses of the Group’s opportunities,
performance and the basis on which the Group generates or preserves
value over the longer term and the basis on which the Group will execute
its strategy for delivering the objective of the Group. Further information
on the sustainability initiatives of the Group and its key relationships with
stakeholders can also be found in the standalone sustainability report of
the Group.

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the long-term sustainable
success of the Company. It is responsible for shaping and overseeing

the corporate culture, setting and guiding the long-term strategic
objectives of the Company with appropriate focus on value creation and
risk management, directing, supervising and monitoring the managerial
performance and operating practices of the Group to ensure they align
with the desired culture. It also ensures ongoing effective communication
with shareholders and engagement with key stakeholders as it develops
the purpose and values of the Company. Directors are charged with the
task of promoting the long-term sustainable success of the Company and
making decisions in the best interests of the Company with due regard to
sustainability considerations.

The Board, led by the Chairman, Mr To Chi Keung, Simon, fosters and
oversees the culture, determines and monitors the Group’s long term
objectives and commercial strategies, annual operating and capital
expenditure budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance

of the Company, and supervises the management of the Company (the
“Management”). Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations
of the Group under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer (the
“CEQ”), and putting in place mechanisms for ensuring the desired culture
of the Company is understood and shared at all levels of the Group.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As of December 31, 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprised ten Directors, including the Chairman, CEOQ, Chief Financial
Officer (the “CFQ”), Chief Scientific Officer, two Non-executive Directors
and four Independent Non-executive Directors (one of whom is the
Senior Independent Non-executive Director). The number of Independent
Non-executive Directors on the Board meets the one-third requirement
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

On March 4, 2022, Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg retired as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer. Dr Weiguo Su was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer and remains as the Chief Scientific Officer.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Information on
Directors” section on pages 42 to 45 and on the website of the Company
(www.hutch-med.com). A list setting out the names of the Directors and
their roles and functions is posted on the websites of the Company and
HKEX (www.hkexnews.hk).

CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the CEO. Such division of
responsibilities reinforces the independence and accountability of these
Directors.

The Chairman is responsible for the effective conduct of the Board,
ensuring that it as a whole plays an effective role in the development and
determination of the Group’s strategy and overall commercial objectives
and acts as the guardian of the Board’s decision-making processes. He

is responsible for setting the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into
account, where appropriate, matters proposed by Directors. He also
ensures that the Board receives accurate, timely and clear information

on the Group’s performance, issues, challenges and opportunities facing
the Group and matters reserved to it for decision. With the support of the
other Executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks
to ensure that the Board complies with approved procedures, including
the schedule of matters and functions reserved to the Board for its
decision and the Terms of Reference of all Board Committees. The Board,
under the leadership of the Chairman, has adopted good corporate
governance practices and procedures and taken appropriate steps to
provide effective communication with shareholders, as outlined later in
this report.

The CEO is responsible for managing the businesses of the Group,
formulating and developing the Group’s strategy and overall commercial
objectives in close consultation with the Chairman and the Board. With
the executive management team of each core business division, the CEO
implements the decisions of the Board and its Committees. He maintains
an ongoing dialogue with the Chairman to keep him fully informed of

all major business development and issues. He is also responsible for
ensuring that the development needs of senior management reporting to
him are identified and met as well as leading the communication program
with shareholders.
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BOARD PROCESS

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year with dates of
regular meetings scheduled prior to the beginning of the year. Between
scheduled meetings, senior management of the Group provides to
Directors, on a regular basis, monthly updates and other information

with respect to the activities and development of the Group. Throughout
the year, in addition to Board meetings, Directors participate in the
deliberation and approval of routine and operational matters of the
Company by way of written resolutions with supporting explanatory
materials, supplemented by additional verbal and/or written information
from the Company Secretary or other executives as and when required.
Whenever warranted, additional Board meetings are held. Further,
Directors have full access to information on the Group and to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary. They also have full access to
independent professional advice at all times whenever deemed necessary
by the Directors and they are at liberty to propose appropriate matters for
inclusion in Board agendas.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, Directors receive written
notice of the meetings generally about a month in advance and a draft
agenda for review and comment prior thereto. The full set of Board papers
is supplied no less than three days prior to the meetings. With respect to
other meetings, Directors are given as much notice as is reasonable and
practicable in the circumstances.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association

of the Company, a Director who has a material interest in any contract,
transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration abstains from voting on the relevant resolution
and such Director is not counted for quorum determination purposes.

In 2021, the Company held eight Board meetings with 100% attendance of

its members.

Board

Meetings
Attended/ Attendance
Name of Eligible to at 2021
Position Director attend AGM
Chairman: To Chi Keung, Simon 8/8 v
Executive Directors: Christian Lawrence Hogg "t 8/8 v
Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny 8/8 v
Weiguo Su 8/8 v
Non-executive Directors: Dan Eldar 8/8 4
Edith Shih 8/8 v
Independent Non-executive  Paul Rutherford Carter 8/8 v
Directors: Karen Jean Ferrante 8/8 v
Graeme Allan Jack 8/8 v
Mok Shu Kam, Tony 8/8 v

Note: Retired on March 4, 2022
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In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman also met with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors, with full attendance. Such meetings provide an effective forum
for the Chairman to listen to the views of the Independent Non-executive
Directors including corporate governance improvement, effectiveness

of the Board, and any other issues they may wish to raise in the absence
of other Directors and senior management of the Company. The Senior
Independent Non-executive Director, Mr Paul Rutherford Carter, also
held a meeting with all Non-executive Directors without the presence of
the Chairman, with full attendance, for the appraisal of the Chairman’s
performance.

All Non-executive Directors are engaged on service contracts for an initial
term ending on December 31 of the year of appointment or until the

next following annual general meeting of the Company. Thereafter, such
contracts are automatically renewed for successive 12-month periods
unless terminated by written notice given by either party. The Chairman of
the Board is of the view that the performance of each of the Non-executive
Directors continues to be effective and they all demonstrate commitment
to their role as a Non-executive Director. Under the Articles of Association
of the Company, one-third of Directors are subject to re-election by
shareholders at annual general meetings (the “AGM”) and at least once
every three years on a rotation basis. A retiring Director is eligible for
re-election and re-election of retiring Directors at general meetings is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. In the interests of good corporate
governance, the Directors and the Board have resolved that all Directors
will retire at the upcoming AGM of the Company and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election by shareholders. Save as mentioned
herein, there are no existing or proposed service contracts between any

of the Directors and the Company which cannot be terminated by the
Company within 12 months and without payment of compensation.
Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed and put
forward to the Board for consideration and approval, with the objective
of appointing to the Board individuals with expertise in the businesses

of the Group and leadership qualities to complement the capabilities of
the existing Directors thereby enabling the Company to retain as well as
improve its competitive position.



BOARD PERFORMANCE

In 2021, the Company conducted a performance evaluation on the Board,
its Committees and the Chairman of each Committee. The evaluation
involved each Director completing a questionnaire, the findings of which
were then analyzed and reviewed by the Board. The objective of the
evaluation is to ensure that the Board, its Committees and the Chairman
of each Committee continue to act effectively in fulfilling the duties and
responsibilities expected of them. The performance criteria included
amongst others, the composition, expertise, leadership and processes

of the Board. The contribution and performance of the Chairman and
individual directors are taken into account in their re-appointment. The
Directors’ attendance, participation in and out of meetings, their skills set
and expertise are also reviewed. The Board considers the existing practice
as effective. The Board has reviewed and is satisfied that it has met its
performance objectives and each Director has contributed positively to
the overall effectiveness of the Board.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key to good
corporate governance. As part of the established governance framework,
the Group has in place effective mechanisms that underpin a strong
independent Board and that independent views and input from Directors
are conveyed to the Board. The governance framework and mechanisms
are kept under regular review to align with international best practice,
ensuring their effectiveness.

The current composition of the Board (comprising more than one

third Independent Non-Executive Directors) and the Audit Committee
(comprising all Independent Non-executive Directors) comply with

the independence requirements under the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee are both
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director. The Company has

a vigorous selection, nomination and appointment/re-appointment
process for Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors), see
“Nomination Process” on pages 85 to 86 of this report. The fees payable
to Independent Non-executive Directors (including the additional fees
to reflect membership or chairmanship of Board committees) are fixed
fees without a discretionary element. The LTIP awards to Independent
Non-executive Directors are non-performance based. As such, none of
the Independent Non-executive Directors receives remuneration based
on performance of the Group. The remuneration of Independent Non-
executive Directors is also subject to a regular review mechanism to
maintain competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities
and workload as well as compliance with regulatory requirements.

To facilitate attendance and participation at the Board and other

Board committee meetings, the Company plans meeting schedules

for the year well in advance, with remote facilities for attendance also
available to all Directors. External independent professional advice is
also available to all Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) whenever deemed necessary. The Board process, ranging
from agenda setting, provision of information and focus on constructive
debates and discussions, facilitates effective and active participation by
all independent Non-executive Directors, see “Board Process” on page 72
on this report.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have historically and
consistently demonstrated strong commitment, and the ability to devote
sufficient time to discharging their responsibilities at the Board. Their
commitment is also subject to self-confirmation each year.

TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

Upon appointment to the Board, a Director is provided with a package of
comprehensive orientation materials on the Group including information
on the Group, duties as a director and board committee member, as well
as internal governance and sustainability policies of the Group. These
orientation materials are presented to the Directors by senior executives
in the form of a detailed induction to the Group’s businesses, strategic
direction and governance practice.

The Company arranges and provides Continuous Professional
Development (“CPD”) training such as seminars, webcasts and relevant
reading materials to Directors to help them to keep abreast of current
trends and issues facing the Group, including the latest changes in the
commercial (including industry-specific and innovative changes), legal
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its businesses
and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
as a listed company director. In addition, CPD training may take the form
of attendance at external forums or briefing sessions (including delivery of
speeches) on relevant topics. CPD training of approximately 18 hours had
been provided to Directors during the year.
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The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of CPD training undertaken by them from time to time. The training records are
maintained by the Company Secretary and are made available for regular review by the Audit Committee. Based on the details so provided, the CPD
training undertaken by the Directors during the year is summarized as follows, representing an average of approximately 11 hours undertaken by each
Director during the year:

Areas

Corporate Governance/ Financial Reporting/ Group’s Businesses/
Directors Legal and Regulatory Sustainability Practices Risk Management Directors’ Duties
Chairman:
To Chi Keung, Simon v 4 v v
Executive Directors:
Christian Lawrence Hogg "°*¢ v v v v
Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny v v v v
Weiguo Su 4 4 v v
Non-executive Directors:
Dan Eldar 4 v 4 v
Edith Shih 4 v 4 4
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Paul Rutherford Carter v v 4 4
Karen Jean Ferrante (4 v v v
Graeme Allan Jack 4 v v 4
Mok Shu Kam, Tony 4 v v v

Note: Retired on March 4, 2022

All Directors have confirmed that they have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group for the year. In addition, Directors have disclosed
to the Company in a timely manner their other commitments, such as directorships in other public listed companies and major appointments as well as
updated the Company on any subsequent changes.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Code on Dealings in Shares which is on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules as the protocol regulating Directors’ dealings
in securities of the Company. In summary, a Director who wishes to deal in the securities of the Company must notify the Chairman (or a Director
designated by the Board for such specific purpose) in writing prior to any dealings and obtain a dated written acknowledgement before any dealing.
Any clearance to deal granted in response to a Director’s request would be valid for no longer than five business days of clearance being received. After
dealings, the Director must submit a disclosure of interests filing with respect to the dealing, within one business day of transaction.

In response to specific enquiries made, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in such code regarding
their securities transactions throughout their tenure during the year ended December 31, 2021.
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established five permanent board committees: Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee, Sustainability
Committee and Technical Committee, details of which are described later in this report. Other board committees are established by the Board as and
when warranted to take charge of specific tasks.

74



COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms Edith Shih, is accountable to the Board

for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and Board activities

are efficiently and effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved
through adherence to proper Board processes and timely preparation of
and dissemination to Directors of comprehensive Board meeting papers.
Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board Committees are prepared
and maintained by the Company Secretary to record in sufficient detail
the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or Board
Committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by
any Director. All draft and final minutes of Board meetings and meetings
of Board Committees are sent to Directors or Board Committee members
as appropriate for comments, approval and records. Board records are
available for inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary who works closely with the Board to formulate
the vision, values and strategy of the Company, take charge in developing
a robust compliance and ethical culture to meet both regulatory and
investor expectations, and to ensure the culture and the purpose, value
and strategy of the Group are aligned.

The Company Secretary plays a leading role in helping the Company
develop and maintain a sound and effective corporate governance
framework, in particular, a set of risk management and internal control
system to ensure that regulatory compliance, good corporate governance
practices and culture are upheld by the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board is

fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory, corporate governance and

ESG developments of relevance to the Group and that it takes these
developments into consideration when making decisions for the

Group. From time to time, she organizes seminars on specific topics of
importance and interest and disseminates reference materials to Directors
for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the Group’s
compliance with all obligations of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, AIM
Rules for Companies and applicable Nasdaq listing rules (collectively, the
“Rules”), including the preparation, publication and dispatch of annual
and interim reports within the time limits laid down in the Rules, the
timely dissemination to shareholders and the market of announcements,
press releases and information relating to the Group and assisting in the
notification of Directors’ dealings in securities of the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on related
party transactions, connected transactions, notifiable transactions and
price-sensitive/inside information, and Directors’ obligations for disclosure
of interests and dealings in the Company’s securities, to ensure that

the standards and disclosures requirements of the Rules are complied
with and, where required, reported in the annual and interim reports of
the Company. In relation to related party transactions and connected
transactions, detailed analysis is performed on all potential related party
transactions and connected transactions to ensure full compliance and
for Directors’ consideration.

The Company Secretary also serves as a crucial conduit of
communications internally and externally. The Company Secretary
facilitates information flow and communication among Directors and
also conveys the Board’s decisions to the Management from time to time
and ensures a good channel of communication with shareholders. She
also works with the Board and Management to assist in responding to
regulators in a timely manner.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
Board approval. Whilst the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman,
all members of the Board have access to her advice and service. The
Company Secretary of the Company has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group’s affairs. She confirms that she has complied with all the required
qualifications, experience and training requirements under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The annual and interim results of the Company are published in a timely
manner, within three months of the year end and two months of the
half-year end respectively.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the consolidated financial
statements is set out below. This should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 92 to 95
which acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditor.
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ANNUAL REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual report and consolidated financial statements of the Company,
ensuring that the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, is
fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company’s position, performance, business
model and strategy in accordance with the HK CG Code, Cayman Islands
Companies Law and the applicable accounting standards.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Directors consider that in preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting policies that
are consistently adopted and made judgments and estimates that are
reasonable in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose the financial position of the Group,
upon which the consolidated financial statements of the Group could be
prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

SAFEGUARDING ASSETS

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities within the Group.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate inquiries, are of the view that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors who possess the relevant business and financial management
experience and skills to understand financial statements and monitor
the financial governance, internal controls and risk management of the
Company. It is chaired by Mr Graeme Allan Jack with Mr Paul Rutherford
Carter and Dr Karen Jean Ferrante as members. None of the Committee
Members are related to the Company’s external auditor.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2021 with 100% attendance
of its members.

Name of Member Attended/Eligible to attend

Graeme Allan Jack (Chairman) 3/3
Paul Rutherford Carter 3/3
Karen Jean Ferrante 3/3

Under the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee, the role of the Audit
Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its duties through the review
and supervision of the Company’s financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems and to take on any other responsibility as
may be delegated by the Board from time to time. The Audit Committee
is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the Group’s interim and
annual results, and interim and annual consolidated financial statements,
reviewing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems as
well as overseeing the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors. The Audit Committee is also required to develop and review

the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance including
compliance with statutory and Hong Kong Listing Rules requirements;
and review the scope, extent and effectiveness of the activities of the
Group’s internal audit function. The Committee is authorized to obtain, at
the Company’s expense, external legal or other professional advice on any
matters within its Terms of Reference.

Throughout 2021, the Audit Committee discharged the duties and
responsibilities under its terms of reference and the applicable corporate
governance code. The following paragraphs set out a summary of the
work performed by the Audit Committee during 2021 and 2022 (up to the
date of this report).

During 2021 and 2022 (up to the date of this report), the Audit Committee
met with the CFO and other senior management of the Company to review
the annual and interim results, the annual and interim reports and other
financial, internal control, corporate governance and risk management
matters of the Company. It received, considered and discussed the
reports and presentations of Management and the Group’s internal
auditor and external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), with a
view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements were
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States. It also met with the Group’s principal external auditor,
PwC, to consider the reports of PwC on the scope, strategy, progress and
outcome of its independent review of the interim financial report and
annual audit of the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
Audit Committee held private sessions with the external auditor, the CFO
and the internal auditor of CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CKHH”, being
the largest shareholder of the Company) separately without the presence
of Management.



To assist the Board in assessing the overall governance, risk management
and internal control framework and maintaining effective risk
management and internal control systems, in 2021, the Audit Committee
also reviewed the process by which the Group evaluated its control
environment and managed significant risks (including sustainability risks).
It received and considered the risk management report, the composite
risk register, the risk heat map as well as the Management presentation
on their review with respect to the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. It also reviewed the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

In addition, the Audit Committee reviewed, in conjunction with the
internal auditor of CKHH, the 2021 work plans and resource requirements,
and deliberated on the reports regarding the effectiveness of risk
management and internal controls in the business operations of the
Group. Further, it also considered the reports from the Legal Department
on the Group’s material litigation proceedings and compliance status

on legal and regulatory requirements. These reviews and reports were
taken into consideration by the Audit Committee when it made its
recommendation to the Board for approval of the consolidated financial
statements. During 2021, the Audit Committee also received periodic
presentations on, and reviewed, the compliance status of the Group with
respect to the applicable corporate governance code as well as other
corporate governance topics including the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. It has also received
update reports on CPD training of Directors.

The Audit Committee also conducted a review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy and having
reviewed the multiple channels of communication and engagement in
place (see “Relationship with Shareholders and Other Stakeholders”

on pages 89 to 90 of this report), it is satisfied that the Shareholders
Communication Policy has been properly implemented during 2021 and
is effective.

The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee and the Complaints
Procedures adopted by the Board are published on the website of the
Company.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the external auditor’s
independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. Each
year, the Audit Committee receives a letter from the external auditor
confirming its independence and objectivity. It holds meetings with
representatives of the external auditor to consider the scope of its audit,
and approves its fees and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and retention of the
external auditor.

The Group’s policy regarding the engagement of its external auditor for
the various services listed below is as follows:

+  Audit services - include audit services provided in connection with
the audit of the consolidated financial statements. All such services
are to be provided by the external auditor.

«  Audit related services - include services that would normally be
provided by an external auditor but not generally included in the
audit fees, for example, audits of the Group’s pension plans, due
diligence and accounting advice related to mergers and acquisitions,
internal control reviews of systems and/or processes, and issuance of
special audit reports for tax or other purposes. The external auditor
is to be invited to undertake those services that it must, or is best
placed to, undertake in its capacity as an auditor.

«  Taxation related services - include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services of the
external auditor where it is best suited. All other significant taxation
related work is undertaken by other parties as appropriate.

+  Other services - include amongst others, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, and non-financial systems
consultations. The external auditor is also permitted to assist
Management and the internal auditor of CKHH with internal
investigations and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These
services are subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

+  General consulting services — the external auditor is not eligible to
provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of PwC is shown in Item 16C of the Form 20-F. For
the year ended December 31, 2021, fees of US$5.0 million charged by PwC
in total were for both audit and non-audit services. The non-audit services,
which amounted to approximately USS$0.4 million, were related to the
provision of tax advices. These non-audit services had been reviewed
prior to the engagement by the Audit Committee, which considered

such services not having an impairing effect on the independence of the
auditor.

AUDIT REPORT ON THE ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
companies for the year ended December 31, 2021 have been audited by
PwC in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
The unqualified auditor’s report is set out on pages 92 to 95. The
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
companies for the year ended December 31, 2021 have also been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL
CONTROL AND LEGAL &
REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

BOARD OVERSIGHT

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of risk
management, internal control and legal and regulatory compliance.

In meeting its responsibility, with due regard to the Company’s risk
appetite, the Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
the risks (including sustainability risks) that the Company is willing to
accept in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives. In addition, the
Board inculcates risk culture across the business operations of the Group
and has put in place a comprehensive range of policies and systems,
including parameters of delegated authority, which provide a framework
for the identification, reporting and management of risks. It also reviews
and monitors the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and
internal control on an ongoing basis. Reporting and review activities
include review by the Executive Directors and the Board and approval of
detailed operational and financial reports, budgets and plans provided
by management of the business operations, review by the Board of actual
results against budget, review by the Audit Committee of the ongoing
work of the internal audit and risk management functions of CKHH, as well
as regular business reviews by the Executive Directors and the executive
management team of each core business division.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
mis-statement, errors, losses, fraud or non-compliance.

To ensure compliance with the requirements of section 404 of SOX, the
Company conducted a SOX compliance project, which assessed the
management of internal controls and procedures, and the evaluation
of the internal control systems relating to financial reporting of the
Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is integrated into the day-to-day operations of the
Group, and is a continuous and proactive process carried out at all
levels. Coupled with a strong internal control environment, the Group is
committed to effectively managing the risks it faces, be they strategic,
financial, operational or compliance, by adopting an Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM) framework based on the COSO (the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) model.

The ERM framework facilitates a systematic approach in identifying,
assessing and managing risks within the Group. There are ongoing
dialogues between the Executive Directors and the management team of
each core business division to assess the plausible impact of current and
emerging risks and their mitigation measures so as to institute additional
controls and deploy appropriate insurance instruments, such as Directors’
and Officers’ Liability Insurance, in minimizing or eliminating potential
financial, compliance or other risks to the Group’s businesses.

The Group adopts a “top-down and bottom-up” approach with respect
to formal risk review and reporting. Such approach involves regular input
from each core business unit as well as discussions and reviews by the
Executive Directors. On a half-yearly basis, each core business unit is
responsible for formally identifying the significant risks their business
faces and considering the likelihood of occurrence and potential impact
to the business, whilst the Executive Directors provide input after taking
a holistic assessment of all the significant risks that the Group faces.
Relevant risk information including key mitigation measures and plans are
recorded in a risk register to facilitate the ongoing review and tracking of
progress.

The review of the risk management system is overseen by the Board
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the
composite Risk Register together with the related risk assessment report
every six months, and provides input as and where appropriate so as

to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system.

The following table summarizes the principal risks of the Group and the
related mitigation actions.



RISK MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

RISK FACTOR

RISK DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT ACTIONS

Risks Related to the Financial Position and Need for Capital

Funding for product development
programs and commercialization
efforts

The research and development of drug candidates, as
well as commercialization in the areas of manufacturing,
marketing, sales and distribution of such drug candidates,
requires significant expenditures. Failure to raise capital
on attractive terms may compromise the Group’s ability to
execute its business plans.

+ Active monitoring of available cash resources against
future cash requirements
+ Diversified sources of funding
o Cash inflows from commercial operations
o Sharing of clinical development costs with and
receipt of milestone income from partners through
collaborations
0 Ready access to capital markets as listed on AIM,
Nasdaq and HKEX
o Bank borrowing facilities
Proceeds from private placements of shares
o Divestment of non-core business

Risks Related to Oncology/Immunology Operations and Development of the Group’s Drug Candidates

The Group’s future profitability

is dependent on the successful
development and commercialization
of the drug candidates

The Group does not expect to be significantly profitable
unless and until it successfully completes its clinical trials,
receives relevant regulatory approval and generates
substantial sales of approved innovative drugs in
developments.

Regularly evaluating the research and development
strategy of the Group in light of unmet medical needs.
Three oncology drugs, ELUNATE® in metastatic colorectal
cancer, SULANDA® in pancreatic and non-pancreatic
neuroendocrine tumors and ORPATHYS® in non-small cell
lung cancer with MET exon 14 skipping alterations, were
approved and launched

Competition in discovering,
developing and commercializing
drugs

The development and commercialization of new drugs

is highly competitive. The competition from other
pharmaceutical companies with respect to current drug
candidates, as well as any future drug candidates, is always
present given market dynamics.

+ Targeting potential markets with high unmet demands
in drug discovery process

Formation of strategic partnerships and collaborations
with other companies

+ Expanding our clinical and regulatory operations
worldwide including the U.S. and Europe

Attract, retain and motivate key
executives and qualified personnel

Attracting, retaining and motivating key executives

and personnel is critical to an organization’s success,
particularly in the innovative pharmaceutical industry.
The loss of key executives and personnel could impede
the achievement of research, development and
commercialization initiatives.

+ Building culture of innovation and high engagement
and empowerment with high focus on reward and
recognition

+  Benchmarking salary and compensation structure
against peer groups

+  Share-based compensation provided to incentivize key
management/talent

+ Establishing key performance measurement and talent
development schemes

Commercial strategy for newly
approved drug products

Following the commercial launches of the Group’s pipeline
products, a comprehensive strategy is required to be
formulated to secure manufacturing and commercialization
capacity.

Building a large-scale global production facility in
Shanghai

Setting up commercial infrastructure to perform
commercialization activities of developed drug
products in China, the U.S., the EU and other markets
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RISK FACTOR

RISK DESCRIPTION

MANAGEMENT ACTIONS

Risks Related to Sales of the Group’s Internally Developed Drugs and Other Drugs

Compliance with extensive regulatory
requirements for pharmaceutical
companies in China

The regulatory framework in China governs and addresses
all aspects of operations within the pharmaceutical
industry, including licensing and certification requirements,
periodic renewal and reassessment processes, and
registration of new drugs, interactions with healthcare
professionals and organizations among others. Violations
of such requirements may adversely affect the Group’s
businesses.

Setting up compliance team and implementing internal
policies and procedures to monitor compliance
Benchmarking against regulatory reviews of industry
groups and best practices of peers

Product liability claims

The Group’s businesses face an inherent risk of product
liability exposure related to sales of products or the
products licensed from third parties. If the Group cannot
successfully defend against product liability claims, if any,
product reputation and financial results could be materially
affected.

Establishing measures to ensure product safety
o Independent laboratory testing

o Compliance with relevant quality practices
o Sourcing from well-established suppliers
Procuring product liability insurance

Risks Related to the Group’s Dependence on Third Parties

Relationships with collaboration
partners

Poor relationships with collaboration partners could lead
to disagreement regarding clinical development and
commercialization, and termination or expiration of the
collaboration. Any such matters would cause adverse
impacts to business reputation and financial results.

Establishing joint steering committees to make key
decisions and resolve any differences

Ongoing dialogue and regular meetings at executive
levels to facilitate strategic alignment and planning

Sourcing of materials for clinical trials
and commercial products

The development and commercialization of drug
candidates requires sufficient supplies (including Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredient (API)) for clinical testing and
commercial demand. Development and commercialization
could be interrupted if suppliers fail to provide a stable
supply of necessary materials.

Active monitoring of the supply of materials and
inventory levels

Sourcing from well-established clinical suppliers with
long-term relationships

Investing to build our in-house biologics and API
manufacturing facilities to meet our long-term
requirements

Compliance with clinical trial
regulatory requirements of
collaboration with partner/clinical
research organization

The regulatory approval process for clinical trials may be
delayed or subject the Group to enforcement action in
cases where clinical research organizations or collaboration
partners fail to comply with clinical trial regulations. Any
non-compliance may require clinical trials to be repeated
and delay regulatory approval.

Implementation of measures to ensure compliance
o Sourcing from well-established clinical suppliers
o Maintaining relevant liability insurance

Other Risks and Risks Related to Doing Business in China

The COVID-19 pandemic and other
adverse public health developments
could materially and adversely affect
the Group’s business

As of the date of this annual report, the Group does not
expect any material impact to its long-term activities. As
the situation evolves, the Group does not yet know the

full extent of potential delays or near-term impacts on

the business, the clinical trials, the research programs,
healthcare systems or the global economy as a whole,
which could have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and results of operations and cash
flows.

The COVID-19 outbreak continues to pose some
challenges to the Group’s operations in 2021 resulting
from restrictions in travel

The Group has been able to adapt and minimize the
effect across the businesses

The Group will continue to closely monitor the evolving
situation
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National Reimbursement Drug List
(“NRDL”) pricing risk on innovative
products

China’s NRDL system is driving down the price of innovative
drugs which affects the profitability of all biotech
companies. Inclusion into the NRDL will result in a higher
sales volume and sales growth as well as a reduction in the
price.

Undertaking of holistic assessments to determine
whether to apply for inclusion in the NRDL or to pursue
alternative commercial strategy by taking various
factors into consideration, such as patient population
size, patient out-of-pocket costs, etc

Uncertainties with respect to the
legal system and changes in laws and
regulations in China

The implementation of laws and regulations in China may
be in part based on government policies and internal
rules that are subject to the interpretation and discretion
of different government agencies. Unexpected changes

to laws and regulations can materially affect business
operations and financial results.

Close monitoring of the pharmaceutical regulatory
environment in China

Benchmarking against regulatory reviews of industry
groups and best practices of peers

Adverse information technology
incidents

Pharmaceutical companies which develop and
commercialize new drugs rely significantly on information
technology for storing clinical and financial data.
Information technology systems could be vulnerable

to damage from external or internal security incidents,
breakdowns, malicious intrusions and cybercrimes,
which may cause significant interruptions or losses to the
business.

Setting up of information technology systems security
subject to regular reviews internally and by external
experts

Regular maintenance and upgrade of information
technology systems security

Compliance with best-practice cybersecurity guidelines
published by the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (NIST)

Foreign currency fluctuations

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and
other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by changes
in political and economic conditions. Appreciation or
depreciation in the value of the Renminbi relative to U.S.
dollars would affect financial results reported in U.S. dollar
terms regardless of any underlying change in the business
or results of operations.

Active cash management to mitigate foreign currency

exposure

o Active monitoring of China operations and its
funding requirements to plan remittances and
timely conversion to address exposure to currency
exchange rate variations

Compliance with personal information
and data protection and privacy
regulations

The business is subject to personal information and data
protection and privacy laws at the local, state, national and
international levels where applicable. Legal requirements
regarding personal information and data protection and
privacy continue to evolve and may result in ever-increasing
public security and escalating levels of enforcement action.

Establishing Information Security Policy and other
related policies and procedures on personal and
customer data governance with relevant compliance
requirements

Closely monitoring the development in the relevant
regulatory regime to ensure compliance with the
requirements

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Protect product intellectual property
rights

The discovery and development of innovative

medicines require significant investment of resources. A
pharmaceutical company’s success depends in part on

its ability to protect such investments, products and drug
candidates from competition by establishing and enforcing
intellectual property rights. Failure could cause additional
competition to harm the business.

Active management and tracking of intellectual
property rights

Frequent consultations with external counsel
Establishing protection mechanisms including
execution of confidentiality and non-competition
agreements, registration of intellectual property rights
and defense of any intellectual property related claims

Pages 7 to 61 of Form 20-F provide a further discussion of these and other important risk factors which could affect the Group’s financial condition or

results of operations that differ materially from expected or historical results.
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INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

Group structures covering all subsidiaries, associated companies and
joint ventures are maintained and updated on a timely and regular basis.
Executive Directors are appointed to the boards of all material operating
subsidiaries and associated companies for overseeing and monitoring
those companies, including attendance at board meetings, review and
approval of budgets and plans, and determination of business strategies
with associated risks identified and key business performance targets
set. The executive management team of each core business division is
accountable for the conduct and performance of each business in the
division within the agreed strategies, and similarly, management of each
business is accountable for its conduct and performance. The Executive
Directors monitor the performance and review the risk profiles of the
companies within the Group on an ongoing basis.

The internal control procedures of the Group include a comprehensive
system for reporting information to the executive management team of
each core business division and the Executive Directors.

Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by management of
individual businesses and subject to review and approval by both the
executive management team and Executive Directors as part of the
Group’s five-year corporate planning cycle. Reforecasts for the current year
are prepared on a quarterly basis, reviewed for variances to the budget
and for approval. When setting budgets and reforecasts, management
identifies, evaluates and reports on the likelihood and potential financial
impact of significant business risks.

Executive Directors review monthly management reports on the financial
results and key operating statistics of each business division and

discuss with the executive management team and senior management
of business operations to review these reports, business performance
against budgets, forecasts, significant business risk sensitivities and
strategies. In addition, financial controllers of the executive management
team of each core business division discuss with the representatives of
the Finance Department to review monthly performance against budget
and forecast, and to address accounting and finance related matters.

The Finance Department has established guidelines and procedures for
the approval and control of expenditures. Operating expenditures are
subject to overall budget control and are controlled within each business
with approval levels set by reference to the level of responsibility of each
executive and officer. Capital expenditures are subject to overall control
within the annual budget review and approval process, and more specific
control and approval prior to commitment by the Finance Department
or Executive Directors are required for unbudgeted expenditures and
material expenditures within the approved budget. Quarterly reports of
actual versus budgeted and approved expenditures are also reviewed.
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The Group’s internal audit activity continues to be outsourced to CKHH,
which appoints a General Manager with responsibility for the internal
audit to report directly to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
believes that outsourcing offers the Group access to the range of skills and
resources required and endorsed its continuing use. The Audit Committee
monitors and reviews the internal audit relationship with CKHH and

the procedures used, as described in further detail below, to ensure the
effectiveness of the internal audit process.

The General Manager of the internal audit function of CKHH, reporting
directly to the Audit Committee, provides independent assurance as to
the existence and effectiveness of the risk management activities and
controls in the Group’s business operations in various countries. Using
risk assessment methodology and taking into account the dynamics of
the Group’s activities, internal audit derives its yearly audit plan which
is reviewed by the Audit Committee, and reassessed during the year as
needed to ensure that adequate resources are deployed and the plan’s
objectives are met. Internal audit function of CKHH is responsible for
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
formulating an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings
to the Audit Committee, the CEO, the CFO and the senior management
concerned as well as following up on all reports to ensure that all
issues have been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a regular dialogue
is maintained with the external auditor so that both are aware of the
significant factors which may affect their respective scope of work.

Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of individual
business units, the scope of work performed by the internal audit function
includes financial, IT and operations reviews, recurring and surprise
audits, fraud investigations and productivity efficiency reviews.

Reports from the external auditor on internal controls and relevant
financial reporting matters are presented to the General Manager of the
internal audit function of CKHH and, as appropriate, to the CFO. These
reports are reviewed and appropriate actions are taken.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has monitored the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended December
31, 2021 covering all material financial, operational and compliance
controls, has conducted a review of their effectiveness, and is satisfied
that such systems are effective and adequate. In addition, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting and internal audit functions,
and their training programs and budget.



LEGAL AND REGULATORY CONTROL COMPLIANCE

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated in
compliance with local and international laws, rules and regulations. The
Legal Department has the responsibility of safeguarding the legal interests
of the Group, including preparing, reviewing and approving all legal and
corporate secretarial documentation of Group companies, working in
conjunction with finance, tax, treasury, corporate secretarial and business
unit personnel on the review and co-ordination process, and advising
Management of legal and commercial issues of concern. In addition,

the Legal Department is also responsible for overseeing regulatory
compliance matters of all Group companies. It analyzes and monitors

the regulatory frameworks within which the Group operates, including
reviewing applicable laws and regulations and preparing and submitting
responses or filings to relevant regulatory and/or government authorities
on regulatory issues and consultations. In addition, the Legal Department
prepares and updates internal policies where necessary so as to
strengthen the internal controls and compliance procedures of the Group.
The Legal Department also determines and approves the engagement of
external legal advisors, ensuring the requisite professional standards are
adhered to as well as most cost effective services are rendered. Further,
the Legal Department organizes and holds from time to time continuing
education on legal and regulatory matters of relevance to the Group for
Directors and the business executives.

GOVERNANCE POLICIES

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of Directors and employees of the Group. The
Board is committed to upholding high standards of business integrity,
honesty and transparency in all its business dealings. The Group has
adopted and implemented a number of governance policies imposing
requirements on Directors and employees to conduct themselves in
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. These policies are
reviewed from time to time to ensure their relevance and appropriateness
to the Group’s business, corporate strategy and stakeholder expectations.

Key governance policies and guidelines of the Group include:

Code of Ethics

The Code of Ethics of the Group sets the standards for employees as are
necessary to promote honest and ethical conduct, accurate and timely
disclosure in the reports and documents that the Group files or submits
to regulators, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, prompt
internal reporting of violations and accountability for compliance with
the Code of Ethics. Every employee is required to undertake to adhere

to the Code of Ethics, which includes provisions dealing with conflict of
interest, equal opportunities, diversity and a respectful workplace, health
and safety, protection and proper use of company assets, record keeping,
bribery and corruption, personal data protection and privacy as well

as reporting procedures forillegal and unethical behaviour. Employees
are required to report any non-compliance with the Code of Ethics in
accordance with the established reporting and escalation procedures.

Complaints Procedures (Whistleblowing)

In line with the commitment to achieve and maintain high standards

of openness, probity and accountability, the Company expects and
encourages employees of the Group and those who deal with the

Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) to report to

the Company, in confidence, any suspected impropriety, misconduct

or malpractice concerning the Group. In this regard, the Company has
adopted the Complaints Procedures, which are posted on the website

of the Group. The procedures aim to provide reporting channels and
guidance on reporting possible improprieties and reassurance to
whistleblowers of the protection that the Group will extend to them in
the formal system, including anonymity and legal protection against
unfair dismissal or victimization for any genuine reports made. The Board
delegated the authority to the Audit Committee which is responsible for
ensuring that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of any matters raised and appropriate follow-up actions are
taken.

Anti-Bribery and Anti-corruption Policy

In its business dealings, the Group does not tolerate any form of bribery,
whether direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees,
agents or consultants or any persons or companies acting for it or on its
behalf. The Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy, which outlines the
Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and corruption, assists
employees in recognizing circumstance which may lead to or give the
appearance of being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct,
so as to avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to promptly
seek guidance where necessary. Each business unit is required to report
any actual or suspected incident of bribery, corruption, theft, fraud or
similar offences to the internal auditor of CKHH for independent analyses
and necessary follow up.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Group is committed to enhancing long-term shareholder value
through regular communication with its shareholders, both individual and
institutional. To this end, the Group strives to ensure that all shareholders
have ready and timely access to all publicly available information of the
Group. The Shareholders Communication Policy sets out the framework
the Company has put in place to promote effective communication with
shareholders so as to enable them to engage actively with the Company
and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

Policy on Handling of Confidential and Price-sensitive
Inside Information, and Securities Dealing

With a view to ensuring that inside information is identified, handled and
disseminated in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations,
and proper internal control procedures are in place to guard against
mishandling of inside information which may constitute insider dealing or
breach of any other statutory obligations, the Group has implemented the
Policy on Handling of Confidential and Price-sensitive Inside Information
and Securities Dealing. The policy also adopts additional precautions
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which should be taken by employees who are in possession of inside
information, including identification of project by code name and
communication of information for stated purpose and on a need-to-know
basis only. Whilst all employees are absolutely prohibited at all times from
dealing in the securities of the Company when they are in possession of
unpublished inside information, certain members of senior management
or staff are subject to specific additional compliance requirements as are
communicated to them individually from time to time (including but not
limited to obtaining written pre-clearance from designated members of
management prior to any dealing in any such securities is allowed).

Policy on Personal Data Governance

The Group is also committed to the safeguard and protection of the
personal data of its customers and employees. Employees must only
collect and use personal data in accordance with applicable data
protection laws, as well as the Policy on Personal Data Governance and
the applicable local policies and procedures.

Information Security Policy

Employees must not disclose any confidential information of the Group,
its customers, suppliers, business partners or shareholders, except when
disclosure is authorized by the Group in accordance with the Information
Security Policy which defines the common policies for information
confidentiality, integrity and availability to be applied across the entire
Group.

Employees are required to make a self-declaration every year to confirm
that he/she has read, understood and will continue to comply with the
various Group policies.

Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy

The two Board policies, Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy adopted by the Board in July 2014 and December 2020, respectively
were updated in December 2020 and June 2021. These two policies set
out the approach and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination
and selection of Directors as well as the approach to achieving diversity.
Further details of the policies are provided on page 85 Nomination
Process section of this report.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal audit, reporting directly to the Audit Committee, provides
independent assurance as to the existence and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems in the business operations

of the Group. It has wide authority to access to documents, records,
properties and personnel of the Group. By applying risk assessment
methodology and considering the dynamics of the activities of the Group,
internal audit devises its three-year risk-based audit plan for the Audit
Committee’s review. The plan is subject to continuous reassessment
taking into account external and internal factors such as macro economic
and regulatory changes, business and operational changes, as well as
audit and fraud findings that may affect the risk profile of the Group
during the year.
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Internal audit is responsible for assessing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, including reviewing the continuing
connected transactions of the Company (refer to pages 52 to 55 of this
annual report for more details), formulating an impartial opinion on the
systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee, the Executive
Director and the executive management team concerned as well as
following up on the issues to ensure that they are satisfactorily resolved.
In addition, internal audit maintains a regular dialogue with the external
auditor so that the parties are aware of the significant factors which may
affect their respective scope of work.

Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of individual
business units, the scope of work performed by internal audit includes
financial, IT, operations, business ethics, governance policy and regulatory
compliance reviews, recurring and surprise audits, as well as productivity
efficiency reviews.

Internal audit is also responsible for periodic fraud analyses and
independent investigations. In accordance with the Code of Ethics and
Anti-Bribery and Anti-corruption Policy of the Group, each business

unit is required to report in a timely manner to the Company any actual
or suspected bribery, fraudulent or suspicious activities. These cases,
together with those escalated through the Complaints Procedures, are
recorded in the Company’s centralized fraud incidents register under the
internal audit’s custody, and are independently assessed and investigated
as appropriate. Internal audit would promptly escalate any incidents of
material nature to the Chairman of the Audit Committee for his direction.
Also, a summary of the fraud incidents and relevant statistics (including
results of independent investigations and actions taken) is presented to
the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

Reports from the external auditor on internal controls and relevant
financial reporting matters are presented to internal audit and, as
appropriate, to the Chief Financial Officer. These reports are reviewed and
appropriate actions are taken.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has received confirmation from
Management on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. It
has also conducted a review of the effectiveness covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and is
of the view that such systems are effective and adequate. In addition, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed and is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.



NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The current Nomination Committee, chaired by Professor Mok Shu Kam, Tony, an Independent Non-executive Director and with the Chairman Mr To Chi
Keung, Simon and Independent Non-executive Director Mr Graeme Allan Jack as members, is in full compliance with the code provision of the HK CG
Code.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size, diversity profile and skills set of the Board against its needs and make
recommendations on the composition of the Board to achieve the Group corporate strategy as well as promote shareholder value. It identifies suitable
director and senior management candidates and selects or makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors,
succession planning for Directors and selection of individuals to be nominated as senior management. Furthermore, it also assesses the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors having regard to the criteria under the Hong Kong Listing Rules and U.S. Nasdaq Listing Rules and reviews the
Director Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy periodically and makes recommendation on any proposed revisions to the Board.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The nomination process has been, and will continue to be, conducted in accordance with the Director Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy,
which are available on the website of the Company. The Board will from time to time review these policies and monitor their implementation to ensure
continued effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practices.

Pursuant to the Director Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee, in determining the suitability of a candidate, will consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board including the attributes complementary to the Board, the commitment, motivation and integrity of the
candidate, having due consideration of the benefits of a diversified Board.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, Board candidates are selected based on merit and the contribution such candidate can bring to the Board to
complement and expand the competencies, experience and perspectives of the Board as a whole, taking into account the corporate strategy of the
Group and the benefits of various aspects of diversity, including gender, age, culture, ethnicity, educational background, professional experience and
other factors that the Nomination Committee may consider relevant from time to time towards achieving a diversified Board.

The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at December 31, 2021:

Board Composition and Diversity

10

Years on Board Gender Ethnicity Designation
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Gender diversity of the Board stands at 20% (two out of ten), above
average amongst companies listed on HKEX. The Board places
tremendous emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity) across
all levels of the Group. Gender diversity of the workforce also stands

at a relatively high level (male represents 46% and female represents
54%). Further details on the gender ratio of the Group and initiatives
taken to improve gender diversity across senior management and the
wider workforce, together with relevant data, can be found in the 2021
Sustainability Report of the Group, which will be published in May 2022.

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement Director is
required, the Nomination Committee will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable director candidates, including referral from Directors,
shareholders, management, advisors of the Company and external
executive search firms. Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers
himself/herself for re-election, the Nomination Committee will consider
and, if appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for re-
election. A circular containing the requisite information on retiring
Directors who are standing for re-election will be sent to shareholders
prior to a general meeting in accordance with the Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

Shareholders of the Company may also nominate a person to stand for
election as a Director at a general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company and applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures for such proposal are posted on the website of the Company.

The Terms of Reference for the Nomination Committee adopted by the
Board are published on the website of the Company.

The Nomination Committee held six meetings in 2021 with 100%
attendance of its members.

Attended/
Eligible to
Name of Member attend
Mok Shu Kam, Tony (Chairman) 6/6
Graeme Allan Jack 6/6
To Chi Keung, Simon 6/6

During 2021, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and

composition (including skills set, knowledge and experience) of the Board,

ensuring that it has a balanced composition of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Group and that
appropriate individuals with relevant expertise and leadership qualities
are appointed to the Board to complement the capabilities of existing
Directors.

The Nomination Committee also assessed the independence of all the

Independent Non-executive Directors and considered all of them being
independent, having regard to their annual independence confirmation
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and the assessment of their independence with reference to the
independence criteria set out in Hong Kong Listing Rules and Nasdaq
Listing Rules. In particular, the Nomination Committee considered that
the Independent Non-Executive Directors continue to provide a balanced
and independent view to the Board and play a leading role in the Board
committees and bring independent and external dimension as well

as constructive and informed comments on issues of the Company’s
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct. In addition, none of the Independent Non-
executive Directors have any involvement in the daily management of
the Company, or any financial or other interests or relationships in the
business of the Company or there exist any circumstances which would
materially interfere with their exercise of independent judgment. It also
discussed the succession planning for Directors and Senior Management.

In March 2022, the Nomination Committee reviewed again the structure,
skills set, expertise and competencies of the Board, affirmed the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, deliberated
and selected Directors for retirement and re-election at the 2022 annual
general meeting and recommended to the Board for consideration. It
also reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy
as well as their implementation during 2021. These are determined to be
effective.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members and is chaired
by Mr Paul Rutherford Carter, an Independent Non-executive Director, with
the Chairman Mr To Chi Keung, Simon and Independent Non-executive
Director Mr Graeme Allan Jack, as members. The composition of the
Remuneration Committee meets the requirements of chairmanship and
independence under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The Remuneration
Committee meets towards the end of each year to determine the
remuneration package of Executive Directors and senior management of
the Group and during the year to consider grants of share options and
long term incentive plan awards and other remuneration related matters.
Remuneration matters are also considered and approved by way of
written resolutions and where warranted, at additional meetings.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings in 2021 with 100%

attendance.
Attended/
Eligible to
Name of Member attend
Paul Rutherford Carter (Chairman) 3/3
Graeme Allan Jack 3/3
To Chi Keung, Simon 3/3



The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to assist the Board in achieving its objectives of attracting, retaining and motivating employees
of the highest caliber and experience needed to shape and execute strategy across the Group’s substantial, diverse and international business operations.
It assists the Group in the administration of a fair and transparent procedure for setting remuneration policies including assessing the performance of
Executive Directors and senior executives of the Group and determining their remuneration packages.

The Terms of Reference for the Remuneration Committee adopted by the Board are published on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed background information on market data (including economic indicators, statistics and

the Remuneration Bulletin), headcount and staff costs. It also reviewed and approved the proposed 2022 directors’ fees, year-end bonus and 2022
remuneration package of Executive Directors and senior executives of the Company. No Director or any or his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg, Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny and Dr Weiguo Su (Executive Directors) and senior executives is
determined by the Remuneration Committee with reference to the expertise and experience of those individuals in the industry, the performance and
profitability of the Group and remuneration benchmarks from other local and international companies as well as prevailing market conditions. Senior
management also participates in bonus arrangements which are determined in accordance with the performance of the Group and of the individual.

The compensation of the Chairman, Mr To Chi Keung, Simon, the Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
has been structured approximately as to one-third cash (in the form of fixed Directors’ fees) and two-thirds restricted share units bought in the market by
the trustee of the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) (in the form of non-performance based LTIP awards) and they do not receive any performance related
remuneration from the Company (Please refer to the Directors’ Report for more information about Directors’ compensation). Such non-performance
based LTIP awards vest 25% annually over a four year period. All Directors’ compensation arrangements are approved by the Board of Directors with the
relevant Directors declaring their interest and abstaining from voting where it relates to their compensation. In addition, the Nomination Committee of
the Company assesses the independence of all the Independent Non-executive Directors every year having regard to the criteria under the HK CG Code.
Therefore, the current compensation arrangements will not compromise the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors.

2021 REMUNERATION

Directors” emoluments comprise payments to Directors from the Company and its subsidiaries. The emoluments of each of the Directors disclosed in the
below table exclude amounts received by certain Directors from the subsidiaries of the Company but which were not retained and were paid onward by
the respective Directors to a subsidiary of the Company or subsidiaries of CKHH. The amounts paid to each Director for 2021 are as below:

Non- Other
Benefits-in- Taxable Pension Performance Share-based
Name of Director Salary and fees Bonus kind benefits  contributions based LTIP” compensation® Total
Us$ us$ Us$ us$ Us$ us$ us$ Us$
Executive Directors:
To Chi Keung, Simon 85,000 1 - - - - 91,572 - 176,572
Christian Lawrence Hogg ¥ 469,038 @6 1,000,000 9,936 18,365 30,250 - 2,245,625 3,773,214
Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny 390,412 ¢ 410,256 9,936 - 27,903 - 733,119 1,571,626
Weiguo Su 470,065 ¥ 834,621 6,790 10,000 34,946 - 1934678 3,291,100
Non-executive Directors:
Dan Eldar 70,000 - - - - 91,572 - 161,572
Edith Shih 74,301 66 - - - - 91,5720 - 165,873
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Paul Rutherford Carter 117,000 - - - - 91,572 - 208,572
Karen Jean Ferrante 102,500 - - - - 91,572 - 194,072
Graeme Allan Jack 111,000 - - - - 91,572 - 202,572
Mok Shu Kam, Tony 99,011 - - - - 91,572 - 190,583
Aggregate emoluments 1,988,327 2,244 877 26,662 28,365 93,099 641,004 4913,442 9,935,756

HUTCHMED (China) Limited 2021 Annual Report 87



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Notes:

(1) Such Director’s fees and non-performance based LTIP were paid/to be
transferred to his employer, Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited.

(2) Emoluments paid include Director’s fees of US$77,151.
(3) Emoluments paid include Director’s fees of US$72,151.
(4) Emoluments paid include Director’s fees of US$75,000.

(5) Such Director’s fees and non-performance based LTIP were paid/to be
transferred to her employer, Hutchison International Limited.

(6) Director’s fees received from the subsidiaries of the Company during the
year he/she served as director that were paid to a subsidiary of the Company
or subsidiaries of CKHH are not included in the amounts above.

(7) LTIP awards to the Chairman, Mr To Chi Keung, Simon, the Non-executive
Directors and the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
in the form of non-performance based LTIP only. Amounts above reflect the
annual amortization of the fixed monetary amounts of the LTIP awards over
their vesting periods.

(8) Other share based compensation to Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg,
Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny and Dr Weiguo Su includes share options and
performance based LTIP awards granted to Executive Directors. Amounts
above reflect the annual amortization of the fixed or determinable monetary
amounts of the LTIP awards and the grant date fair value of the share
options over their vesting periods. For performance based LTIP awards,
the monetary amount of LTIP awards are estimated based on the expected
achievement of the performance targets. The fair value of share options
granted is estimated in accordance with the methodology disclosed on page
106 of this annual report. This methodology does not take into account
the actual share price at the date of exercise or whether any vested share
options would be exercised. The significant inputs to the valuation model
are disclosed on page 121 of this annual report and the details of the share
options granted are set out in the “Directors’ Report” section on pages 58 to
63.

(9) Retired on March 4, 2022.

In 2021, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the approach to
remuneration and reporting on executive remuneration in detail. Aimed
at attracting and retaining top talent, the Remuneration Committee
appointed an independent advisor, Aon Hewitt Consulting (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. (“Aon”) to conduct a compensation benchmarking research on peer
group U.S. and China biotech companies. Aon has no other connection
with the Company or individual Directors. The Remuneration Committee
comprehensively reviewed the Group’s compensation and share-based
incentives policies, performed benchmarking research on peer group

U.S. and China biotech companies and established an attractive policy

to ensure the Group is able to recruit and retain top talent. Vesting of
share-based awards under the policy is in line with that peer group. The
Committee takes seriously its responsibility to ensure that the executive
remuneration practices of the Group drive strong performance, are aligned
with the strategy and sustainability of the Group and are appropriate in
the context of the external regulatory environment and the expectations
of our stakeholders.
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The Committee consulted with the Group’s largest shareholder when
developing its remuneration policy. In reviewing and setting remuneration,
including that of Executive Directors, the Committee receives updates on
investors’ views from time to time. These lines of communication ensure
that emerging best-practice principles are factored into the Committee’s
decision-making.

The remuneration paid to the members of senior management, including
salaries, pension contributions, performance related bonuses and share-
based compensation (the annual amortization of share options and LTIP
awards), by bands during the year (or for the period of employment in
2021) is set out below:

Remuneration Bands Number of Individuals

US$200,000 to US$600,000
US$600,000 to US$1,000,000
US$1,000,000 to US$1,400,000
US$1,400,000 to US$1,800,000

TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

The Technical Committee was chaired by Dr Karen Jean Ferrante with

N W N

the Chairman Mr To Chi Keung, Simon, Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg

and Dr Weiguo Su, Executive Directors, Mr Paul Rutherford Carter and
Professor Mok Shu Kam, Tony, both Independent Non-executive Directors,
as members. The Committee considers from time to time matters relating
to the technical aspects of the business and research and development. It
also invites such executives as it thinks fit to attend meetings as and when
required.

The Terms of Reference for the Technical Committee adopted by the
Board are published on the website of the Company.

The Technical Committee held three meetings in 2021 with 94%
attendance. All members attended the Technical Committee meetings
held during 2021 except for one Independent Non-executive Director who
was not able to attend one of the meetings due to other prior business
commitment.

Attended/
Name of Member Eligible to attend
Karen Jean Ferrante (Chairman) 3/3
Paul Rutherford Carter 2/3
Christian Lawrence Hogg "¢ 3/3
Mok Shu Kam, Tony 3/3
Weiguo Su 3/3
To Chi Keung, Simon 3/3

Note: Retired on March 4, 2022



RELATIONSHIP WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group gives high priority to, and actively promotes investor relations
and constructive dialogue with the investment community throughout the
year. Through the CEO, the CFO, the Investor Relations Department and
the Corporate Secretarial team, in addition to corporate communication
of the Company, the Group engages with and responds to requests

for information and queries from the investment community including
shareholders, analysts and the media through regular briefing meetings,
webcasts, announcements, conference calls and presentations. In 2021,
over 100 investor interactions including virtual meetings, in-person
meetings and conference calls and correspondence were conducted.

The Shareholders Communication Policy, which is available on the
website of the Company, sets out the framework in place to promote
two-way communication with shareholders so as to enable them

to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights as
shareholders in an informed matter. The Audit Committee is responsible
for regular review of the effectiveness and compliance with prevailing
regulatory and other requirements of the policy. In June 2021, the
Shareholders Communication Policy was updated to elaborate on the
multiple avenues available for shareholders to communicate with the
Company and vice versa. In March 2022, the Audit Committee reviewed
the policy again and considered that the implementation of the policy
effective during 2021, see “Audit Committee” on page 76 of this report.

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy for the Company. The Board intends
to retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of

the business of the Company and does not have any present plan to pay
any dividends for the immediate future. The declaration and payment

of any dividends in the future will be determined by the Board, and will

be dependent on a number of factors, including the earnings, capital
requirements, overall financial condition, and contractual obligations of
the Company.

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information

on the Group to shareholders through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. The Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company is published on the websites of
the Company and HKEX. Moreover, additional information on the Group

is also available to shareholders and stakeholders on the website of the
Company.

AGM and other general meetings of the Company provide one of the
primary forums for communication with shareholders and for shareholder
participation. Such meetings provide shareholders with the opportunity
to share their views and to meet the Board and certain members of senior
management. Question and answer sessions at general meetings foster
constructive dialogues between shareholders of the Company, Board
members and management.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate at general meetings of the
Company physically, through electronic means, or by proxy if they are
unable to attend in person. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of
the Company, any one or more shareholders (or one shareholder which
is a recognized clearing house, or its nominee(s)) holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company, carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, have rights to call
for general meetings and to put forward agenda items for consideration
by shareholders, by depositing at the principal office of the Company

in Hong Kong a written requisition for such general meetings, signed by
the shareholders concerned together with the objects of the meeting.
The Board would within 21 days from the date of deposit of requisition
convene the meeting to be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

All substantive resolutions at general meetings are decided on a poll
which is conducted by the Company Secretary and scrutinized by the
Share Registrars of the Company. The results of the poll are published on
the websites of the Company and applicable stock exchanges. In addition,
regular updated financial, business and other information on the Group
are made available to the shareholders and stakeholders on the website
of the Company.

The latest shareholders” meeting of the Company was the 2021 annual
general meeting (the “2021 AGM”), which was held on April 28, 2021 as
a hybrid meeting at which shareholders attended both physically and
by electronic facilities respectively, and attended by all Directors and
its external auditor. The respective chairmen of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Technical Committee were all present. Directors are requested
and encouraged to attend shareholders’ meetings.
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2021 AGM on each substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favor of such resolutions as disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated April 28, 2021 are set out below:

Resolutions proposed at the 2021 AGM Percentage of Votes

1 Adoption of the audited financial statements and the reports of the directors and independent auditor for the year ended 91.60%
December 31, 2020.

2(A)  Re-election of Mr To Chi Keung, Simon as a director. 88.11%

2(B)  Re-election of Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg as a director. 99.67%

2(C)  Re-election of Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny as a director. 99.45%

2(D)  Re-election of Dr Weiguo Su as a director. 99.59%

2(E)  Re-election of Dr Dan Eldar as a director. 94.22%

2(F)  Re-election of Ms Edith Shih as a director. 94.21%

2(G)  Re-election of Mr Paul Rutherford Carter as a director. 87.74%

2(H)  Re-election of Dr Karen Jean Ferrante as a director. 89.99%

2(1) Re-election of Mr Graeme Allan Jack as a director. 87.66%

2(J) Re-election of Professor Mok Shu Kam, Tony as a director. 94.13%

3 Re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company and authorization of Directors to fix the auditor’s 99.94%
remuneration.

4 Ordinary Resolution No. 4(A): Granting of a general mandate to the directors of the Company to issue additional shares. 99.63%
Special Resolution No. 4(B): Disapplication of pre-emption rights (general power). 99.39%
Special Resolution No. 4(C): Disapplication of pre-emption rights (in connection with an equity raise). 83.29%
Ordinary Resolution No. 4(D): Granting a general mandate to the directors of the Company to repurchase shares of the 99.95%

Company.
5 Special Resolution: Change of the English name of the Company to “HUTCHMED (China) Limited” and the 99.99%

Chinese name of the Company to “M&E 28 4% (R E) BRAF]".

Accordingly, all resolutions put to shareholders at the 2021 AGM were passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the websites of the
Company and applicable stock exchanges.

The Articles of Association of the Company was amended and approved by shareholders by special resolutions on May 29, 2019 and effective upon Hong
Kong listing on June 30, 2021.

Other corporate information relating to the Company is set out in the “Information for Shareholders” section of this annual report. This includes, among
others, dates for key corporate events for 2022 and public float capitalization as at December 31, 2021.

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Comments and suggestions

to the Board or the Company are welcome and can be addressed to the Company Secretary by mail/e-mail or to the Company by e-mail at
info@hutch-med.com.
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SUSTAINABILITY

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE & APPROACHES

The key sustainability mission of the Group is to create long-term value
for all stakeholders by aligning its corporate social responsibility and
sustainability objectives to the strategic development of its businesses.
The Group is committed to contributing to sustainable living by providing
connectivity and innovative services to its customers, while building

trust with all stakeholders by behaving ethically and responsibly. Its
sustainability governance structure is embedded at all levels of the

Group to provide a solid foundation for developing and delivering on its
commitment to sustainability.

The Sustainability Committee, chaired by Ms Edith Shih, Non-executive
Director and Company Secretary, with Mr Christian Lawrence Hogg and
Mr Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny, Executive Directors, and Professor Mok Shu
Kam, Tony, Independent Non-executive Director, as members, was formed
as a Board committee on July 28, 2021 to strengthen the Company’s
corporate governance and reporting framework. It advises the Board and
Management on and oversees the development and implementation of
corporate social responsibility and sustainability initiatives of the Group,
including reviewing related policies and practices as well as assessing
and making recommendations on matters pertaining to the sustainability
governance, strategies, planning and risk management of the Group.

The Sustainability Committee (established in July 2021) held one meeting
in 2021 with 100% attendance.

Attended/
Name of Member Eligible to attend
Edith Shih (Chairman) 1/1
Cheng Chig Fung, Johnny 1/1
Christian Lawrence Hogg "¢ 1/1
Mok Shu Kam, Tony 1/1

Note: Retired on March 4, 2022

During 2021, the Sustainability Committee reviewed the future
sustainability initiatives with respect to the employees, customers,
community and environment. It also received and recommended the
2020 Sustainability Report of the Company to the Board which was
subsequently approved by the Board.

A standalone Sustainability Report of the Company for 2021 will be
published to further discuss the sustainability mission and strategies,
management approach, progress, material quantitative data, as well as

policies and key initiatives of the Group.

By Order of the Board

Edith Shih
Director and Company Secretary

March 3, 2022
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AUDITOR’S

To the Shareholders of HUTCHMED (China) Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of HUTCHMED (China) Limited
(formerly known as “Hutchison China MediTech Limited”) (the “Company”)

and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 97 to 150,
comprise:

the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 2021;
the consolidated statements of operations for the year then ended;

the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for
the year then ended;

the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the allowances for
credit losses on accounts receivable and other receivables (except for
prepayments).



Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Allowances for credit losses on accounts receivable and other
receivables (except for prepayments)

Refer to Notes 3, 6 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

As described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, as of
December 31, 2021, the gross balance of accounts receivable was US$83.6
million and an allowance for credit losses of less than USS$0.1 million was
made. As described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, as
of December 31, 2021, the gross balance of other receivables was US$81.0
million which consisted of the balance of prepayments of US$14.1 million,
and no allowance for credit losses was made. As described in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, the allowances for credit losses were
made based on estimate of current expected credit losses to be incurred
over the expected life of the receivables.

There were significant estimates and judgments by management when
developing the current expected credit losses to be incurred over the
expected life of the receivables, which in turn led to a high degree of
auditor judgment and significant audit effort in evaluating the audit
evidence related to the accounts receivable and other receivables (except
for prepayments) portfolio groups and estimated loss rates used by
management.

We performed the following audit procedures on the allowance for
credit losses on accounts receivable and other receivables (except for
prepayments):

We obtained an understanding of management’s assessment process of
allowances for credit losses on accounts receivable and other receivables
(except for prepayments) and internal controls and assessed the degree of
complexity, subjectivity and uncertainty related to the significant management
estimates and judgements used.

We evaluated and validated key internal controls relating to management’s
estimate of allowances for credit losses on accounts receivable and other
receivables (except for prepayments).

We evaluated the appropriateness of the model and methodology used by
management to develop the current expected credit losses.

We assessed the reasonableness of accounts receivable and other receivables
(except for prepayments) portfolio groups used by management by evaluating
the credit risk characteristics of these receivables.

We assessed the reasonableness of estimated loss rates used by management
by evaluating the historical default rates and application of forward-looking
information.

We tested the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data, including
historical collection records and aging of the receivables, on a sample basis, by
comparing selected items with relevant supporting documents, and tested the
mathematical accuracy of allowance for credit losses.

Based on the audit procedures performed, we found that the estimates used
and judgments made by management in developing the allowances for credit
losses on accounts receivable and other receivables (except for prepayments)
were supportable in light of available evidence.

Other Information

The directors of the Group are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.



From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law

or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheuk Chi Shing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 3, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

HUTCHMED (CHINA) LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN US$°000, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

December 31,

Note 2021 2020

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 377,542 235,630

Short-term investments 5 634,158 199,546

Accounts receivable 6 83,580 47,870

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 7 81,041 27,928

Inventories 8 35,755 19,766
Total current assets 1,212,076 530,740
Property, plant and equipment 9 41,275 24,170
Right-of-use assets 10 11,879 8,016
Deferred tax assets 25(ii) 9,401 1,515
Investments in equity investees 1 76,479 139,505
Other non-current assets 12 21,551 20,172
Total assets 1,372,661 724,118
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 13 41177 31,612

Other payables, accruals and advance receipts 14 210,839 121,283

Bank borrowings 15 26,905 —

Income tax payable 25(iii) 15,546 1,120

Other current liabilities 17,191 4,382
Total current liabilities 311,658 158,397
Lease liabilities 10 7,161 6,064
Deferred tax liabilities 25(ii) 2,765 5,063
Long-term bank borrowings 15 — 26,861
Other non-current liabilities 11,563 8,784
Total liabilities 333,147 205,169
Commitments and contingencies 16
Company'’s shareholders’ equity

Ordinary shares; $0.10 par value; 1,500,000,000 shares

authorized; 864,530,850 and 727,722,215 shares issued at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 respectively 17 86,453 72,772

Additional paid-in capital 1,505,196 822,458

Accumulated losses (610,328) (415,591)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 5,572 4 477
Total Company’s shareholders’ equity 986,893 484,116
Non-controlling interests 52,621 34,833
Total shareholders’ equity 1,039,514 518,949
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,372,661 724,118

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUTCHMED (CHINA) LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(IN US$’°000, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

Note

Year Ended December 31,

2021

2020

2019

Revenues
Goods  —third parties
—related parties 24(i)
Services —commercialization—third parties
—collaboration research and
development
—third parties
—research and development
—related parties 24(i)
Other collaboration revenue
—royalties—third parties
—licensing—third parties
Total revenues 19
Operating expenses
Costs of goods—third parties
Costs of goods—related parties
Costs of services—commercialization —
third parties
Research and development expenses 21
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Total operating expenses

Gain on divestment of an equity investee 23
Other income/(expense)
Interest income 27
Other income
Interest expense 27

Other expense

Total other income/(expense)

Loss before income taxes and equity in
earnings of equity investees

Income tax expense 25(i)
Equity in earnings of equity investees, net of tax 11
Net loss

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests

Net loss attributable to the Company

Losses per share attributable to the Company—

basic and diluted (US$ per share) 26
Number of shares used in per share calculation—
basic and diluted 26

266,199 203,606 175,990
4,256 5,484 7,637
27,428 3,734 2,584
18,995 9,771 15,532
525 491 494
15,064 4,890 2,653
23,661 — —
356,128 227,976 204,890
(229,448) (178,828) (152,729)
(3,114) (3,671) (5,494)
(25,672) (6,020) (1,929)
(299,086) (174,776) (138,190)
(37,827) (11,334) (13,724)
(89,298) (50,015) (39,210)
(684,445) (424,644) (351,276)
(328,317) (196,668) (146,386)
121,310 — —
2,076 3,236 4,944
2,426 4,600 1,855
(592) (787) (1,030)
(12,643) (115) (488)
(8,733) 6,934 5,281
(215,740) (189,734) (141,105)
(11,918) (4,829) (3,274)
60,617 79,046 40,700
(167,041) (115,517) (103,679)
(27,607) (10,213) (2,345)
(194,648) (125,730) (106,024)
(0.25) (0.18) (0.16)
792,684,524 697,931,437 665,683,145

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



HUTCHMED (CHINA) LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(IN US$’000)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Net loss (167,041) (115,517) (103,679)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) 2,964 9,530 (4,331)
Total comprehensive loss (164,077) (105,987) (108,010)
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to

non-controlling interests (28,029) (11,413) (1,620)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to the Company (192,106) (117,400) (109,630)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUTCHMED (CHINA) LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(IN US$°000, EXCEPT SHARE DATA IN ’000)

Accumulated Total
Ordinary Ordinary Additional Other Company’s Non- Total
Shares Shares Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’ controlling Shareholders’
Number Value Capital Losses (Loss)/Income Equity Interests Equity
As at January 1, 2019 666,577 66,658 505,585 (183,659) (243) 388,341 23,243 411,584
Net (loss)/income — — — (106,024) — (106,024) 2,345 (103,679)
Issuances in relation to share option
exercises 329 33 218 — — 251 — 251
Share-based compensation
Share options — — 7,157 — — 7,157 16 7173
Long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) — — 2,239 — — 2,239 12 2,251
— — 9,396 — — 9,396 28 9,424
LTIP—treasury shares acquired and
held by Trustee — — (346) — — (346) — (346)
Transfer between reserves — — 51 (51) — — — —
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — — — — (3,606) (3,606) (725) (4,331)
As at December 31, 2019 666,906 66,691 514,904 (289,734) (3,849) 288,012 24,891 312,903
Net (loss)/income — — — (125,730) — (125,730) 10,213 (115,517)
Issuance in relation to public offering 23,669 2,366 115,975 — — 118,341 — 118,341
Issuances in relation to private
investment in public equity
(“PIPE") 36,667 3,667 196,333 — — 200,000 — 200,000
Issuance costs — — (8,317) — — (8,317) — (8,317)
Issuances in relation to share option
exercises 480 48 545 — — 593 — 593
Share-based compensation
Share options — — 8,727 — — 8,727 10 8,737
LTIP — — 7,203 — — 7,203 16 7,219
— — 15,930 — — 15,930 26 15,956
LTIP—treasury shares acquired and
held by Trustee — — (12,904) — — (12,904) — (12,904)
Dividends declared to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries — — — — — — (1,462) (1,462)
Purchase of additional interests in a
subsidiary of an equity investee
(Note 11) — — (52) (83) (4) (139) (35) (174)
Transfer between reserves — — 44 (44) — — — —
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — — — — 8,330 8,330 1,200 9,530
As at December 31, 2020 727,722 72,772 822,458 (415,591) 4,477 484,116 34,833 518,949
Net (loss)/income — — — (194,648) — (194,648) 27,607 (167,041)
Issuance in relation to public offering 119,600 11,960 602,907 — — 614,867 — 614,867
Issuance in relation to PIPE 16,393 1,639 98,361 — — 100,000 — 100,000
Issuance costs — — (29,806) — — (29,806) — (29,806)
Issuances in relation to share option
exercises 816 82 2,370 — — 2,452 — 2,452
Share-based compensation
Share options — — 16,339 — — 16,339 26 16,365
LTIP — — 19,808 — — 19,808 70 19,878
— — 36,147 — — 36,147 96 36,243
LTIP—treasury shares acquired and
held by Trustee — — (27,309) — — (27,309) — (27,309)
Dividends declared to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries — — — — — — (9,894) (9,894)
Transfer between reserves — — 89 (89) — — — —
Divestment of an equity investee
(Note 23) — — (21) — (1,447) (1,468) (443) (1,911)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — — — — 2,542 2,542 422 2,964
As at December 31, 2021 864,531 86,453 1,505,196 (610,328) 5,572 986,893 52,621 1,039,514

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUTCHMED (CHINA) LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN US$’000)

Year Ended December 31,

Note 2021 2020 2019

Net cash used in operating activities 28 (204,223) (62,066) (80,912)
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16,401) (7,949) (8,565)
Purchase of leasehold land (355) (11,631) —
Refund/(payment) of leasehold land deposit 12 930 (2,326) —
Deposits in short-term investments (1,355,976) (732,908) (478,140)
Proceeds from short-term investments 921,364 629,373 597,044
Purchase of a warrant 20 (15,000) — —
Proceeds from divestment of an equity investee 23 159,118 — —
Purchase of a subsidiary company — — (8,080)
Cash acquired in purchase of a subsidiary company — — 16,769
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (306,320) (125,441) 119,028
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuances of ordinary shares 717,319 318,934 251
Purchases of treasury shares 18(ii) (27,309) (12,904) (346)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of

subsidiaries (9,894) (1,462) (1,282)
Repayment of loan to a non-controlling shareholder of a

subsidiary (579) — —
Proceeds from bank borrowings — — 26,807
Repayment of bank borrowings — — (26,923)
Payment of issuance costs (29,509) (8,134) —
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 650,028 296,434 (1,493)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 139,485 108,927 36,623
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents 2,427 5,546 (1,502)

141,912 114,473 35,121

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 235,630 121,157 86,036
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 377,542 235,630 121,157
Supplemental disclosure for cash flow information
Cash paid for interest 425 815 917
Cash paid for tax, net of refunds 25(iii) 5,014 5,940 3,249
Supplemental disclosure for non-cash activities
Increase in accrued capital expenditures 8,607 298 1,068
Vesting of treasury shares for LTIP 18(ii) 1,450 4,828 944

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HUTCHMED (CHINA) LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Nature of Business

HUTCHMED (China) Limited (formerly known as “Hutchison China MediTech Limited”) (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in researching, developing, manufacturing
and marketing pharmaceutical products. The Group and its equity investees have research and development
facilities and manufacturing plants in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and sell their products mainly
in the PRC, including Hong Kong. In addition, the Group has established international operations in the United
States of America (the “U.S.”) and Europe.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKEX”) (listing completed in June 2021) and the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange, and its American
depositary shares (“ADS”) are traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Liquidity

As at December 31, 2021, the Group had accumulated losses of US$610,328,000 primarily due to its
spending in drug research and development activities. The Group regularly monitors current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient cash balances and adequate credit facilities to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and long term. As at December 31, 2021, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of US$377,542,000, short-term investments of US$634,158,000 and unutilized bank borrowing
facilities of US$157,430,000. Short-term investments comprised of bank deposits maturing over three months.
The Group’s operating plan includes the continued receipt of dividends from an equity investee. Dividends
received for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were US$49,872,000, US$86,708,000 and
US$28,135,000 respectively.

Based on the Group’s operating plan, the existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and
unutilized bank borrowing facilities are considered to be sufficient to meet the cash requirements to fund planned
operations and other commitments for at least the next twelve months (the look-forward period used).



2. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries and Equity Investees

Place of Equity interest attributable

establishment to the Group
and December 31,
Name operations 2021 2020 Principal activities

Subsidiaries

HUTCHMED Limited (formerly PRC 99.75 % 99.75 % Research, development,
known as “Hutchison MediPharma manufacture and
Limited”) commercialization of

pharmaceutical products

HUTCHMED International u.sS. 99.75 % 99.75 % Provision of professional, scientific
Corporation (formerly known as and technical support services
“Hutchison MediPharma
International Inc.”)

Hutchison Whampoa Sinopharm PRC 50.87 % 50.87 % Provision of sales, distribution and
Pharmaceuticals (Shanghai) marketing services to
Company Limited (“HSPL”) pharmaceutical manufacturers

Hutchison Hain Organic (Hong Hong 50 % 50 % Wholesale and trading of
Kong) Limited (“‘HHOHK”) Kong healthcare and consumer
(note (a)) products

Hutchison Healthcare Limited PRC 100 % 100 % Manufacture and distribution of

healthcare products

HUTCHMED Science Nutrition Hong 100 % 100 % Wholesale and trading of
Limited (formerly known as Kong healthcare and consumer
“Hutchison Consumer Products products
Limited”)

Equity investees

Shanghai Hutchison PRC 50 % 50 % Manufacture and distribution of
Pharmaceuticals Limited (“SHPL”) prescription drug products

Hutchison Whampoa Guangzhou PRC — % 40 % Manufacture and distribution of
Baiyunshan Chinese Medicine over-the-counter drug products
Company Limited (“HBYS”)

(note (b))

Notes:

(@) HHOHK is regarded as a subsidiary of the Company, as while both its shareholders have equal
representation at the board, in the event of a deadlock, the Group has a casting vote and is therefore able
to unilaterally control the financial and operating policies of HHOHK.

(b) On September 28, 2021, the Group completed a transaction to sell its entire investment in HBYS to a third
party (Note 23).

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries in which a controlling interest is maintained. All inter-company balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“‘U.S. GAAP”).

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s presentation currency and functional currency is the U.S. dollar (“US$”). The financial
statements of its subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the US$ have been translated into the
Company’s presentation currency. All assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are translated using year-end
exchange rates and revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the year. Translation
adjustments are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income in shareholders’ equity.

Net foreign currency exchange gains of US$1,671,000, US$3,265,000 and US$246,000 were recorded
in other income in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019 respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s operating transactions and its assets and liabilities in the PRC are mainly denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. The Group’s cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB are subject to government controls. The value of the RMB is subject to
fluctuations from central government policy changes and international economic and political developments
that affect the supply and demand of RMB in the foreign exchange market. In the PRC, certain foreign exchange
transactions are required by law to be transacted only by authorized financial institutions at exchange rates set
by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”). Remittances in currencies other than RMB by the Group in the
PRC must be processed through the PBOC or other PRC foreign exchange regulatory bodies which require
certain supporting documentation in order to complete the remittance.

Allowance for Current Expected Credit Losses and Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments, and financial assets not carried at fair value including accounts receivable
and other receivables.

The Group recognizes an allowance for current expected credit losses on financial assets not carried
at fair value. Current expected credit losses are calculated over the expected life of the financial assets on an
individual or a portfolio basis considering information available about the counterparties’ credit situation and
collectability of the specific cash flows, including information about past events, current conditions and future
forecasts.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group places substantially all of its cash
and cash equivalents and short-term investments in major financial institutions, which management believes
are of high credit quality. The Group has a practice to limit the amount of credit exposure to any particular
financial institution. Additionally, the Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers. Normally
the Group does not require collateral from trade debtors.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on hand and bank deposits
and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments include deposits placed with banks with original maturities of more than three
months but less than one year.



Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from customers based
on their outstanding invoices. The allowance for credit losses reflects the Group's current estimate of credit
losses expected to be incurred over the life of the receivables. The Group considers various factors in
establishing, monitoring, and adjusting its allowance for credit losses including the aging of the accounts and
aging trends, the historical level of charge-offs, and specific exposures related to particular customers. The
Group also monitors other risk factors and forward-looking information, such as country risk, when determining
credit limits for customers and establishing adequate allowances for credit losses. Accounts receivable are
written off after all reasonable means to collect the full amount (including litigation, where appropriate) have
been exhausted.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average cost method. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labor, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. A provision for excess and
obsolete inventory will be made based primarily on forecasts of product demand and production requirements.
The excess balance determined by this analysis becomes the basis for excess inventory charge and the written-
down value of the inventory becomes its cost. Written-down inventory is not written up if market conditions
improve.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of buildings, leasehold improvements, plant and equipment,
furniture and fixtures, other equipment and motor vehicles. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost,
net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the depreciable assets.

Buildings 20 years
Plant and equipment 5-10 years
Furniture and fixtures, other equipment
and motor vehicles 4-5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of (a) 5 years or (b) remaining term of lease

Additions and improvements that extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Repairs and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Group evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets in accordance with authoritative guidance
on accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. The Group evaluates long-lived assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may
not be recoverable. If indicators of impairment exist, the first step of the impairment test is performed to assess
if the carrying value of the net assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows of the assets. If yes, the second
step of the impairment test is performed in order to determine if the carrying value of the net assets exceeds
the fair value. If yes, impairment is recognized for the excess.

Investments in Equity Investees

Investments in equity investees over which the Group has significant influence are accounted for using
the equity method. The Group evaluates equity method investments for impairment when events or
circumstances suggest that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment charge would be
recognized in earnings for a decline in value that is determined to be other-than-temporary after assessing the
severity and duration of the impairment and the likelihood of recovery before disposal. The investments are
recorded at fair value only if impairment is recognized.

Leasehold Land

Leasehold land represents fees paid to acquire the right to use the land on which various plants and
buildings are situated for a specified period of time from the date the respective right was granted and are stated
at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment loss, if any. Amortization is computed using the straight-
line basis over the lease period of 50 years.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price plus fair value of non-controlling interests over
the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment
at the reporting unit level on at least an annual basis or when an event occurs or circumstances change that
would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. When performing
an evaluation of goodwill impairment, the Group has the option to first assess qualitative factors, such as
significant events and changes to expectations and activities that may have occurred since the last impairment
evaluation, to determine if it is more likely than not that goodwill might be impaired. If as a result of the qualitative
assessment, that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount,
the quantitative fair value test is performed to determine if the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying
value.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
impairment loss, if any. Amortization is computed using the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the assets.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of debt issuance costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of debt issuance costs) and
the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Ordinary Shares

The Company’s ordinary shares are stated at par value of US$0.10 per ordinary share. The difference
between the consideration received, net of issuance cost, and the par value is recorded in additional paid-in
capital.

Treasury Shares

The Group accounts for treasury shares under the cost method. The treasury shares are purchased for
the purpose of the LTIP and held by a trustee appointed by the Group (the “Trustee”) prior to vesting.

Share-Based Compensation
Share options

The Group recognizes share-based compensation expense on share options granted to employees
and directors based on their estimated grant date fair value using the Polynomial model. This Polynomial pricing
model uses various inputs to measure fair value, including the market value of the Company’s underlying
ordinary shares at the grant date, contractual terms, estimated volatility, risk-free interest rates and expected
dividend yields. The Group recognizes share-based compensation expense in the consolidated statements of
operations on a graded vesting basis over the requisite service period, and accounts for forfeitures as they
occur.

Share options are classified as equity-settled awards. Share-based compensation expense, when
recognized, is charged to the consolidated statements of operations with the corresponding entry to additional
paid-in capital.

LTIP

The Group recognizes the share-based compensation expense on the LTIP awards based on a fixed
or determinable monetary amount on a straight-line basis for each annual tranche awarded over the requisite
period. For LTIP awards with performance targets, prior to their determination date, the amount of LTIP awards
that is expected to vest takes into consideration the achievement of the performance conditions and the extent
to which the performance conditions are likely to be met. Performance conditions vary by awards, and may
include targets for shareholder returns, financings, free cash flows, revenues, net profit after taxes and the
achievement of clinical and regulatory milestones.



These LTIP awards are classified as liability-settled awards before the determination date (i.e. the date
when the achievement of any performance conditions are known), as they settle in a variable number of shares
based on a determinable monetary amount, which is determined upon the actual achievement of performance
targets. As the extent of achievement of the performance targets is uncertain prior to the determination date, a
probability based on management’s assessment of the achievement of the performance targets has been
assigned to calculate the amount to be recognized as an expense over the requisite period.

After the determination date or if the LTIP awards have no performance conditions, the LTIP awards
are classified as equity-settled awards. If the performance target is achieved, the Group will pay the determined
monetary amount to the Trustee to purchase ordinary shares of the Company or the equivalent ADS. Any
cumulative compensation expense previously recognized as a liability will be transferred to additional paid-in
capital, as an equity-settled award. If the performance target is not achieved, no ordinary shares or ADS of the
Company will be purchased and the amount previously recorded in the liability will be reversed and included in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC participate in a government-mandated multi-employer defined
contribution plan pursuant to which certain retirement, medical and other welfare benefits are provided to
employees. The relevant labor regulations require the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC to pay the local labor
and social welfare authority’s monthly contributions at a stated contribution rate based on the monthly basic
compensation of qualified employees. The relevant local labor and social welfare authorities are responsible
for meeting all retirement benefits obligations and the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC have no further
commitments beyond their monthly contributions. The contributions to the plan are expensed as incurred.

The Group also makes payments to other defined contribution plans for the benefit of employees
employed by subsidiaries outside the PRC. The defined contribution plans are generally funded by the relevant
companies and by payments from employees.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019 amounted to US$7,181,000, US$2,660,000 and US$3,479,000 respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a customer, and excludes
any sales incentives and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Taxes assessed by a governmental
authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction, that are
collected by the Group from a customer, are also excluded from revenue. The Group recognizes revenue when
it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a good, service or license to a customer.

(i) Goods and services

The Group principally generates revenue from (1) sales of goods, which are the manufacture or
purchase and distribution of pharmaceutical products and other consumer health products, and (2) provision of
services, which are the provision of sales, distribution and marketing services to pharmaceutical manufacturers.
The Group evaluates whether it is the principal or agent for these contracts. Where the Group obtains control
of the goods for distribution, it is the principal (i.e. recognizes sales of goods on a gross basis). Where the Group
does not obtain control of the goods for distribution, it is the agent (i.e. recognizes provision of services on a net
basis). Control is primarily evidenced by taking physical possession and inventory risk of the goods.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when the customer takes possession of the goods. This
usually occurs upon completed delivery of the goods to the customer site. The amount of revenue recognized
is adjusted for expected sales incentives as stipulated in the contract, which are generally issued to customers
as direct discounts at the point-of-sale or indirectly in the form of rebates. Sales incentives are estimated using
the expected value method. Additionally, sales are generally made with a limited right of return under certain
conditions. Revenues are recorded net of provisions for sales discounts and returns.

Revenue from provision of services is recognized when the benefits of the services transfer to the
customer over time, which is based on the proportionate value of services rendered as determined under the
terms of the relevant contract. Additionally, when the amounts that can be invoiced correspond directly with the
value to the customer for performance completed to date, the Group recognizes revenue from provision of
services based on amounts that can be invoiced to the customer.
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Deferred revenue is recognized if consideration is received in advance of transferring control of the
goods or rendering of services. Accounts receivable is recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to bill
the customer, which is generally when the customer takes possession of the goods or services are rendered.
Payment terms differ by subsidiary and customer, but generally range from 45 to 180 days from the invoice
date.

(i) License and collaboration contracts

The Group’s Oncology/Immunology reportable segment includes revenue generated from license and
collaboration contracts, which generally contain multiple performance obligations including (1) the license to
the commercialization rights of a drug compound and (2) the research and development services for each
specified treatment indication, which are accounted for separately if they are distinct, i.e. if a product or service
is separately identifiable from other items in the arrangement and if a customer can benefit from it on its own or
with other resources that are readily available to the customer.

The transaction price generally includes fixed and variable consideration in the form of upfront payment,
research and development cost reimbursements, contingent milestone payments and sales-based royalties.
Contingent milestone payments are not included in the transaction price until it becomes probable that a
significant reversal of revenue will not occur, which is generally when the specified milestone is achieved. The
allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation is based on the relative standalone selling
prices of each performance obligation determined at the inception of the contract. The Group estimates the
standalone selling prices based on the income approach. Control of the license to the drug compounds transfers
at the inception date of the collaboration agreements and consequently, amounts allocated to this performance
obligation are generally recognized at a point in time. Conversely, research and development services for each
specified indication are performed over time and amounts allocated to these performance obligations are
generally recognized over time using cost inputs as a measure of progress. The Group has determined that
research and development expenses provide an appropriate depiction of measure of progress for the research
and development services. Changes to estimated cost inputs may result in a cumulative catch-up adjustment.
Royalty revenues are recognized as future sales occur as they meet the requirements for the sales-usage
based royalty exception.

Deferred revenue is recognized if allocated consideration is received in advance of the Group rendering
research and development services or earning royalties on future sales. Accounts receivable is recognized
based on the terms of the contract and when the Group has an unconditional right to bill the customer, which is
generally when research and development services are rendered.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include the following: (i) research and development costs, which
are expensed as incurred; (ii) acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) expenses, which
include the initial costs of externally developed IPR&D projects, acquired directly in a transaction other than a
business combination, that do not have an alternative future use; and (iii) milestone payment obligations for
externally developed IPR&D projects incurred prior to regulatory approval of the product in the in-licensed
territory, which are accrued when the event requiring payment of the milestone occurs (milestone payment
obligations incurred upon regulatory approval are recorded as other intangible assets).

Collaborative Arrangements

The Group enters into collaborative arrangements with collaboration partners that fall under the scope
of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 808, Collaborative Arrangements (“ASC 808”). The Group
records all expenditures for such collaborative arrangements in research and development expenses as
incurred, including payments to third party vendors and reimbursements to collaboration partners, if any.
Reimbursements from collaboration partners are recorded as reductions to research and development
expenses and accrued when they can be contractually claimed.

Government Grants

Grants from governments are recognized at their fair values. Government grants that are received in
advance are deferred and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government grants in relation to the
achievement of stages of research and development projects are recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations when amounts have been received and all attached conditions have been met. Non-refundable
grants received without any further obligations or conditions attached are recognized immediately in the
consolidated statements of operations.



Leases

In an operating lease, a lessee obtains control of only the use of the underlying asset, but not the
underlying asset itself. An operating lease is recognized as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding liability at
the date which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. The Group recognizes an obligation to make
lease payments equal to the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The lease terms may
include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise that
option.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: (i) fixed payments; (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate; and (iii) payments of penalties for terminating the
lease if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option, if any. Lease liabilities exclude the following
payments that are generally accounted for separately: (i) non-lease components, such as maintenance and
security service fees and value added tax, and (ii) any payments that a lessee makes before the lease
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that
rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate being the rate that the lessee would have
to pay to borrow the funds in its currency and jurisdiction necessary to obtain an asset of similar value, economic
environment and terms and conditions.

An asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term is recognized that
consists of the initial measurement of the operating lease liability, any lease payments made to the lessor at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, any initial direct cost incurred by the Group
and any restoration costs.

After commencement of the operating lease, the Group recognizes lease expenses on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and any impairment provision. The amortization of the right-of-use asset represents the difference
between the straight-line lease expense and the accretion of interest on the lease liability each period. The
interest amount is used to accrete the lease liability and to amortize the right-of-use asset. There is no amount
recorded as interest expense.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognized as lease expenses on a straight-line basis
over the period of the leases.

Subleases of right-of-use assets are accounted for similar to other leases. As an intermediate lessor,
the Group separately accounts for the head-lease and sublease unless it is relieved of its primary obligation
under the head-lease. Sublease income is recorded on a gross basis separate from the head-lease expenses.
If the total remaining lease cost on the head-lease is more than the anticipated sublease income for the lease
term, this is an indicator that the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset associated with the head-lease may
not be recoverable, and the right-of-use asset will be assessed for impairment.

Income Taxes

The Group accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Under the liability method, deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and
income tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the income tax rates that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not
that some of the net deferred income tax asset will not be realized.

The Group accounts for an uncertain tax position in the consolidated financial statements only if it is
more likely than not that the position is sustainable based on its technical merits and consideration of the
relevant tax authority’s widely understood administrative practices and precedents. If the recognition threshold
is met, the Group records the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized
upon ultimate settlement.

The Group recognizes interest and penalties for income taxes, if any, under income tax payable on its
consolidated balance sheets and under other expenses in its consolidated statements of operations.

Losses per Share
Basic losses per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted

average number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue during the year. Weighted average number of
outstanding ordinary shares in issue excludes treasury shares.
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Diluted losses per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to the Company by the weighted
average number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue and dilutive ordinary share equivalents outstanding
during the year. Dilutive ordinary share equivalents include ordinary shares and treasury shares issuable upon
the exercise or settlement of share-based awards or warrants issued by the Company using the treasury stock
method. The computation of diluted losses per share does not assume conversion, exercise, or contingent
issuance of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
executive officer who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker reviews
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

Profit Appropriation and Statutory Reserves

The Group’s subsidiaries and equity investees established in the PRC are required to make
appropriations to certain non-distributable reserve funds.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations established in the PRC, the Company’s
subsidiaries registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprise have to make appropriations from their after-tax
profits (as determined under generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC (“PRC GAAP”)) to reserve
funds including general reserve fund, enterprise expansion fund and staff bonus and welfare fund. The
appropriation to the general reserve fund must be at least 10% of the after-tax profits calculated in accordance
with PRC GAAP. Appropriation is not required if the general reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered
capital of the company. Appropriations to the enterprise expansion fund and staff bonus and welfare fund are
made at the respective company'’s discretion. For the Group's equity investees, the amount of appropriations to
these funds are made at the discretion of their respective boards.

In addition, Chinese domestic companies must make appropriations from their after-tax profits as
determined under PRC GAAP to non-distributable reserve funds including statutory surplus fund and
discretionary surplus fund. The appropriation to the statutory surplus fund must be 10% of the after-tax profits
as determined under PRC GAAP. Appropriation is not required if the statutory surplus fund has reached 50% of
the registered capital of the company. Appropriation to the discretionary surplus fund is made at the respective
company'’s discretion.

The use of the general reserve fund, enterprise expansion fund, statutory surplus fund and discretionary
surplus fund is restricted to the offsetting of losses or increases to the registered capital of the respective
company. The staff bonus and welfare fund is a liability in nature and is restricted to fund payments of special
bonus to employees and for the collective welfare of employees. All these reserves are not permitted to be
transferred to the company as cash dividends, loans or advances, nor can they be distributed except under
liquidation.

4. Fair Value Disclosures

The following table presents the Group’s financial instruments by level within the fair value hierarchy under
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement:

Fair Value Measurement Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in US$’000)

As at December 31, 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 377,542 — — 377,542
Short-term investments 634,158 — — 634,158
Warrant (Note 20) — 2,452 — 2,452
As at December 31, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 235,630 — — 235,630
Short-term investments 199,546 — — 199,546

Accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts payable and other payables are carried at cost, which
approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments, and are therefore excluded
from the above table. Bank borrowings are floating rate instruments and carried at amortized cost, which
approximates their fair values, and are therefore excluded from the above table.



5. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$’000)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand 104,620 87,828
Bank deposits maturing in three months or less 272,922 147,802
377,542 235,630

Short-term Investments

Bank deposits maturing over three months (note) 634,158 199,546
1,011,700 435,176

Note: The maturities for short-term investment ranged from 91 to 180 days for the year ended December 31,
2021 and 2020.

Certain cash and bank balances denominated in RMB, US$ and UK Pound Sterling (“£”) were deposited
with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these balances into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. Cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments were denominated in the following currencies:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$’000)

Us$ 895,935 352,162
RMB 53,455 64,870
Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$") 60,535 16,880
£ 1,090 954
Euro 685 310
1,011,700 435,176

6. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable from contracts with customers consisted of the following:

December 31,

2021 2020

(in US$°000)
Accounts receivable—third parties 82,434 46,743
Accounts receivable—related parties (Note 24(ii)) 1,166 1,222
Allowance for credit losses (20) (95)
Accounts receivable, net 83,580 47,870

Substantially all accounts receivable are denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$ and are due within one year
from the end of the reporting periods. The carrying values of accounts receivable approximate their fair values
due to their short-term maturities.

An aging analysis for accounts receivable—third parties based on the relevant invoice dates is as follows:

December 31,

2021 2020

(in US$°000)
Not later than 3 months 78,288 42,434
Between 3 months to 6 months 2,867 3,118
Between 6 months to 1 year 78 23
Later than 1 year 1,201 1,168
Account receivable—third parties 82,434 46,743
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Movements on the allowance for credit losses:

2021 2020 2019
(in US$°000)
As at January 1 95 16 41
Increase in allowance for credit losses 16 95 16
Decrease in allowance due to subsequent collection (92) (18) (41)
Exchange difference 1 2 —
As at December 31 20 95 16
7. Other receivables, prepayments and deposits
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Dividend receivables (Note 23) 46,387 —
Value-added tax receivables 16,616 14,957
Prepayments 14,128 7,038
Deposits 1,255 905
Amounts due from related parties (Note 24(ii)) 1,149 1,142
Leasehold land deposit (Note 12) — 930
Others 1,506 2,956
81,041 27,928

No allowance for credit losses have been made for other receivables, prepayments and deposits for the

year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

8. Inventories

Inventories, net of provision for excess and obsolete inventories, consisted of the following:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$’000)
Raw materials 15,837 4,502
Finished goods 19,918 15,264
35,755 19,766




9. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

Furniture
and fixtures,
other

equipment
Leasehold Plant and and motor Construction
Buildings improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
(in US$°000)

Cost

As at January 1, 2021 2,372 16,346 5,643 23,040 3,050 50,451

Additions — 452 24 3,189 19,669 23,334

Disposals — (275) (19) (705) — (999)

Transfers — 916 197 1,849 (2,962) —

Exchange differences 60 389 142 584 213 1,388

As at December 31,

2021 2,432 17,828 5,987 27,957 19,970 74174
Accumulated depreciation

As at January 1, 2021 1,626 8,652 1,747 14,256 — 26,281

Depreciation 120 2,904 574 3,244 — 6,842

Disposals — (223) (18) (688) — (929)

Exchange differences 42 238 49 376 — 705

As at December 31,

2021 1,788 11,571 2,352 17,188 — 32,899
Net book value

As at December 31,

2021 644 6,257 3,635 10,769 19,970 41,275

Furniture

and fixtures,
other

equipment
Leasehold Plant and and motor Construction
Buildings improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
(in US$°000)

Cost

As at January 1, 2020 2,212 17,022 4,474 19,571 928 44,207

Additions — 269 59 2,993 4,571 7,892

Disposals — (3,103) (3) (1,846) — (4,952)

Transfers — 1,014 789 913 (2,716) —

Exchange differences 160 1,144 324 1,409 267 3,304

As at December 31,

2020 2,372 16,346 5,643 23,040 3,050 50,451
Accumulated depreciation

As at January 1, 2020 1,406 8,304 1,155 12,487 — 23,352

Depreciation 112 2,701 484 2,646 — 5,943

Disposals — (3,051) (1) (1,815) — (4,867)

Exchange differences 108 698 109 938 — 1,853

As at December 31,

2020 1,626 8,652 1,747 14,256 — 26,281
Net book value

As at December 31,

2020 746 7,694 3,896 8,784 3,050 24,170
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10. Leases
Leases consisted of the following:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)

Right-of-use assets
Offices (note) 10,605 6,789
Factories 702 945
Warehouse 281 197
Others 291 85
Total right-of-use assets 11,879 8,016
Lease liabilities—current 4,917 2,785
Lease liabilities—non-current 7,161 6,064
Total lease liabilities 12,078 8,849

Note: Includes US$1.4 million right-of-use asset for corporate offices in Hong Kong that is leased through May
2024 in which the contract has a termination option with 1-month advance notice. The termination option was
not recognized as part of the right-of-use asset and lease liability as it is uncertain that the Group will exercise
such option.

Lease activities are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Lease expenses:
Short-term leases with lease terms equal or less than 12 months 106 323
Leases with lease terms greater than 12 months 4,306 3,400
4,412 3,723
Cash paid on lease liabilities 4,954 3,340
Non-cash: Lease liabilities recognized from obtaining right-of-use
assets 7,665 3,098
Non-cash: Lease liabilities changed in relation to modifications and
terminations (33) 2,259

Lease contracts are typically within a period of 1 to 8 years. The weighted average remaining lease term
and the weighted average discount rate as at December 31, 2021 was 3.38 years and 3.33% respectively. The
weighted average remaining lease term and the weighted average discount rate as at December 31, 2020 was
3.72 years and 3.87% respectively.

Future lease payments are as follows:

December 31,

2021
(in US$’000)
Lease payments:
Not later than 1 year 5,216
Between 1 to 2 years 3,376
Between 2 to 3 years 1,882
Between 3 to 4 years 679
Between 4 to 5 years 680
Later than 5 years 795
Total lease payments 12,628
Less: Discount factor (550)

Total lease liabilities 12,078



11. Investments in Equity Investees

Investments in equity investees consisted of the following:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)
SHPL 75,999 79,408
HBYS (note) — 59,712
Other 480 385
76,479 139,505

Note: On September 28, 2021, the Group completed a transaction to sell its entire investment in HBYS to a third

party (Note 23). The Group has accounted for the investment in HBY'S under the equity method up to September
28, 2021.

The equity investees are private companies and there are no quoted market prices available for their shares.

Summarized financial information for the significant equity investees SHPL and HBYS, both under Other
Ventures segment, is as follows:

(i) Summarized balance sheets

SHPL HBYS
December 31,
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Current assets 190,260 175,965 — 177,888
Non-current assets 91,605 93,361 — 95,731
Current liabilities (128,993) (109,873) — (137,179)
Non-current liabilities (7,131) (6,739) — (16,034)
Net assets 145,741 152,714 — 120,406
Non-controlling interests — — — (982)
145,741 152,714 — 119,424
(i) Summarized statements of operations
SHPL HBYS"ote (@)
Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019 2021 (mote () 2020 2019
(in US$°000)

Revenue 332,648 276,354 272,082 209,528 232,368 215,403
Gross profit 255,089 204,191 194,769 111,066 116,804 115,124
Interest income 1,216 975 582 205 271 160
Finance cost — — — — (5) (16)
Profit before taxation 105,325 77,837 72,324 36,715 107,715 22,926
Income tax expense (note (c)) (15,896) (10,833) (11,015) (4,840) (16,494) (3,634)
Net income 89,429 67,004 61,309 31,875 91,221 19,292
Non-controlling interests — — — (36) 62 505
Net income attributable to the

shareholders of equity

investee 89,429 67,004 61,309 31,839 91,283 19,797
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Notes:

(a) In June 2020, HBYS entered into an agreement with the government to return the land use right for a plot

of land in Guangzhou to the government (the “Land Compensation Agreement”) for cash consideration
which aggregated to RMB679.5 million (approximately US$103.1 million). In November 2020, HBYS
completed all material obligations as stipulated in the Land Compensation Agreement and recognized land
compensation of RMB569.2 million (approximately US$86.1 million). In June 2021, HBYS received a
completion confirmation from the government and became entitled to an additional land compensation
bonus of RMB110.3 million (approximately US$17.0 million). HBYS recorded a gain before tax of RMB106.8
million (approximately US$16.4 million) after deducting costs of RMB3.5 million (approximately US$0.6
million).

(b) The summarized statement of operations for HBYS for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes the

(€)

period when HBYS was the Group’s equity investee from January 1, 2021 to September 28, 2021, the
completion date of the divestment.

The main entities within each of the SHPL and HBYS groups have been granted the High and New
Technology Enterprise (“‘HNTE”) status (the latest renewal of this status covers the years from 2020 to
2022). These entities were eligible to use a preferential income tax rate of 15% for the year ended December
31, 2021 on this basis.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, other equity investees had net income of

approximately US$41,000, net losses of approximately US$194,000 and net income of approximately
US$294,000 respectively.

(iii

) Reconciliation of summarized financial information

Reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented to the carrying amount of investments in

equity investees is as follows:

SHPL HBYS
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
(in US$’000)

Opening net assets after non-controlling

interests as at January 1 152,714 146,759 131,778 119,424 44,541 121,984
Impact of change in accounting policy

(ASC 842—Leases) — — (2) — — (19)
Net income attributable to the shareholders

of equity investee 89,429 67,004 61,309 31,839 91,283 19,797
Purchase of additional interests in a

subsidiary of an equity investee (note) — — — — (347) —
Dividends declared (99,744) (72,179) (41,654) (106,159) (20,756) (93,957)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 3,342 11,130 (4,672) 1,387 4,703 (3,264)
Closing net assets after non-controlling

interests as at December 31 145,741 152,714 146,759 46,491 119,424 44,541
Group’s share of net assets 72,871 76,357 73,380 23,246 59,712 22,271
Divestment (Note 23) — — — (23,246) — —
Goodwill 3,128 3,051 2,846 — — —
Carrying amount of investments as at

December 31 75,999 79,408 76,226 — 59,712 22,271

Note: During the year ended December 31, 2020, HBY'S acquired an additional 30% interest in a subsidiary and
after the acquisition, it became a wholly owned subsidiary of HBYS.

SHPL had the following capital commitments:

December 31, 2021
(in US$°000)

Property, plant and equipment

Contracted but not provided for 155




12. Other Non-Current Assets

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)

Leasehold land (note) 13,169 13,121
Goodwill 3,380 3,307
Warrant (Note 20) 2,452 —
Leasehold land deposit (note) 1,436 1,396
Long term prepayment 951 950
Other intangible asset 163 227
Deferred issuance cost — 1,171

21,551 20,172

Note: In December 2020, HUTCHMED Limited acquired a land use right in Shanghai for consideration of
US$12.0 million. In addition, a leasehold land deposit amounting to US$2.3 million was required to be paid to
the government which is refundable upon reaching specific milestones for the construction of a manufacturing
plant on the land. US$0.9 million was returned in January 2021 (Note 7) and US$1.4 million was included in
other non-current assets based on the expected timing of the specific milestones.

13. Accounts Payable

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Accounts payable—third parties 39,115 26,756
Accounts payable—non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (Note 24(iv)) 2,062 4,856
41,177 31,612

Substantially all accounts payable are denominated in RMB and US$ and due within one year from the end
of the reporting period. The carrying values of accounts payable approximate their fair values due to their short-
term maturities.

An aging analysis based on the relevant invoice dates is as follows:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Not later than 3 months 35,615 26,270
Between 3 months to 6 months 3,705 3,364
Between 6 months to 1 year 588 782
Later than 1 year 1,269 1,196
41,177 31,612
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14. Other Payables, Accruals and Advance Receipts

Other payables, accruals and advance receipts consisted of the following:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)

Accrued research and development expenses 116,134 72,697
Accrued salaries and benefits 41,786 21,982
Accrued administrative and other general expenses 15,836 10,319
Accrued capital expenditures 11,343 2,736
Accrued selling and marketing expenses 8,412 5,747
Deposits 2,111 1,408
Amounts due to related parties (Note 24(ii)) 1,915 401
Deferred government grants 314 374
Others 12,988 5,619

210,839 121,283

15. Bank Borrowings

Bank borrowings consisted of the following:

December 31,
2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Current 26,905 —
Non-current — 26,861

The weighted average interest rate for outstanding bank borrowings for the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020 was 1.08% per annum and 1.89% per annum respectively. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
outstanding bank borrowings were denominated in HK$.

(i) 3-year revolving loan facility and 3-year term loan and revolving loan facilities

In November 2018, the Group through its subsidiary, renewed a 3-year revolving loan facility with a bank in
the amount of HK$234,000,000 (US$30,000,000) with an interest rate at the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) plus 0.85% per annum. This credit facility is guaranteed by the Company. No amount had been
drawn from the revolving loan facility and it expired in November 2021.

In May 2019, the Group through its subsidiary, entered into a separate facility agreement with the bank for
the provision of additional unsecured credit facilites in the aggregate amount of HK$400,000,000
(US$51,282,000). The 3-year credit facilities include (i) a HK$210,000,000 (US$26,923,000) term loan facility
and (ii) a HK$190,000,000 (US$24,359,000) revolving loan facility, both with an interest rate at HIBOR plus
0.85% per annum, and an upfront fee of HK$819,000 (US$105,000) on the term loan. These credit facilities are
guaranteed by the Company. The term loan was drawn in October 2019 and is due in May 2022. No amount
has been drawn from the revolving loan facility.



(ii) 2-year revolving loan facilities

In August 2018, the Group through its subsidiary, entered into two separate facility agreements with banks
for the provision of unsecured credit facilities in the aggregate amount of HK$507,000,000 (US$65,000,000).
The first credit facility was a HK$351,000,000 (US$45,000,000) revolving loan facility, with a term of 2 years and
an interest rate at HIBOR plus 1.35% per annum. The second credit facility was a HK$156,000,000
(US$20,000,000) revolving loan facility, with a term of 2 years and an interest rate at HIBOR plus 1.35% per
annum. These credit facilities were guaranteed by the Company. No amount has been drawn from either of the
revolving loan facilities. Both loan facilities expired in August 2020.

In August 2020, the Group through its subsidiary, entered into a 2-year revolving loan facility with a bank in
the amount of HK$117,000,000 (US$15,000,000) with an interest rate at HIBOR plus 4.5% per annum. This
credit facility is guaranteed by the Company. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, no amount has been drawn
from the revolving loan facility.

(iii) 10-year fixed asset loan facility

In October 2021, a subsidiary entered into a 10-year fixed asset loan facility agreement with a bank for the
provision of a secured credit facility in the amount of RMB754,880,000 (US$118,071,000) with an annual interest
rate at the 5-year China Loan Prime Rate less 0.65%. This credit facility is guaranteed by the immediate holding
company of the subsidiary and secured by the underlying leasehold land and buildings. As at December 31,
2021, no amount has been drawn from the fixed asset loan facility.

The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as from the dates indicated as follows:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$°000)
Not later than 1 year 26,923 —
Between 1 to 2 years — 26,923
26,923 26,923

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group had unutilized bank borrowing facilities of US$157,430,000
and US$69,359,000 respectively.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

The Group had the following capital commitments:

December 31, 2021
(in US$°000)

Property, plant and equipment
Contracted but not provided for 44,204

The Group does not have any other significant commitments or contingencies.
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17. Ordinary Shares
As at December 31, 2021, the Company is authorized to issue 1,500,000,000 ordinary shares.

On January 27, 2020, the Company issued 22,000,000 ordinary shares in the form of 4,400,000 ADS for
gross proceeds of US$110.0 million. On February 10, 2020, the Company issued an additional 1,668,315 ordinary
shares in the form of 333,663 ADS for gross proceeds of US$8.3 million. Issuance costs totaled US$8.0 million.

On July 2, 2020 and July 3, 2020, the Company issued (1) aggregate 20,000,000 ordinary shares and (2)
warrants to a third party for gross proceeds of US$100.0 million through a PIPE. The warrants allowed the third
party to purchase up to 16,666,670 ordinary shares of the Company within 18 months of the issuance date for
an exercise price of US$6.00 per ordinary share, which have since expired. Issuance costs totaled US$0.2
million.

On November 26, 2020, the Company issued 16,666,670 ordinary shares to a third party for gross proceeds
of US$100.0 million through a PIPE. Issuance costs totaled US$0.1 million.

On April 14, 2021, the Company issued 16,393,445 ordinary shares to a third party for gross proceeds of
US$100.0 million through a PIPE. Issuance costs totaled US$0.1 million.

On June 30, 2021 and July 15, 2021, the Company issued an aggregate of 119,600,000 ordinary shares in a
public offering on the HKEX with over-allotment option exercised in full for aggregate gross proceeds of
US$614.9 million. Issuance costs totaled US$29.7 million.

Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote. The holders of ordinary shares are also entitled to receive
dividends whenever funds are legally available and when declared by the Board of Directors of the Company.

18. Share-based Compensation
(i) Share-based Compensation of the Company

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on June 4, 2005 (as amended on March 21,
2007) and such scheme has a term of 10 years. It expired in 2016 and no further share options can be granted.
Another share option scheme was conditionally adopted on April 24, 2015 (the “Hutchmed Share Option
Scheme”). Pursuant to the Hutchmed Share Option Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company may, at its
discretion, offer any employees and directors (including Executive and Non-executive Directors but excluding
Independent Non-executive Directors) of the Company, holding companies of the Company and any of their
subsidiaries or affiliates, and subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company share options to subscribe for shares of
the Company.

As at December 31, 2021, the aggregate number of shares issuable under the Hutchmed Share Option
Scheme was 50,059,198 ordinary shares and the aggregate number of shares issuable under the prior share
option scheme which expired in 2016 was 705,060 ordinary shares. The Company will issue new shares to
satisfy share option exercises. Additionally, the number of shares authorized but unissued was 635,469,150
ordinary shares.

Share options granted are generally subject to a four-year vesting schedule, depending on the nature and
the purpose of the grant. Share options subject to the four-year vesting schedule, in general, vest 25% upon
the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date as defined in the grant letter, and 25% every subsequent
year. However, certain share option grants may have a different vesting schedule as approved by the Board of
Directors of the Company. No outstanding share options will be exercisable or subject to vesting after the expiry
of a maximum of eight to ten years from the date of grant.



A summary of the Company’s share option activity and related information is as follows:

Outstanding at January 1, 2019
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled

Expired

Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled

Expired

Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled

Expired

Outstanding at December 31, 2021

Vested and exercisable at December

31, 2020

Vested and exercisable at December

31, 2021

Weighted
Weighted average Aggregate
average remaining intrinsic
Number of exercise price contractual life value

share options in US$ per share (years) (in US$°000)

18,554,850 4.57 7.35 19,277
2,315,000 412
(329,000) 0.76
(1,012,110) 6.33
(96,180) 6.51

19,432,560 448 6.67 24,316
15,437,080 4.66
(480,780) 1.23
(4,486,200) 5.02
(741,670) 6.46

29,160,990 4.49 7.21 53,990
10,174,840 5.96
(815,190) 3.01
(1,287,650) 5.50
(42,400) 5.52

37,190,590 4.88 7.04 82,377

11,529,280 3.74 4.57 29,433

16,077,770 4.24 4.9 46,491

In estimating the fair value of share options granted, the following assumptions were used in the Polynomial
model for awards granted in the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Weighted average grant date fair value of share options (in US$ per 2.24 1.76

share) 1.33
Significant inputs into the valuation model (weighted average):

Exercise price (in US$ per share) 5.96 4.66 412

Share price at effective date of grant (in US$ per share) 5.91 4.66 3.98

Expected volatility (note (a)) 41.1% 42.6% 38.4%

Risk-free interest rate (note (b)) 1.62% 0.59% 0.56%

Contractual life of share options (in years) 10 10 10

Expected dividend yield (note (c)) 0% 0% 0%

Notes:

(a) The Company calculated its expected volatility with reference to the historical volatility prior to the issuances
of share options.

(b) For share options exercisable into ordinary shares, the risk-free interest rates reference the sovereign yield
of the United Kingdom because the Company’s ordinary shares are currently listed on AIM and
denominated in £. For share options exercisable into ADS, the risk-free interest rates reference the U.S.
Treasury yield curves because the Company’s ADS are currently listed on the NASDAQ and denominated
in US$.

(c) The Company has not declared or paid any dividends and does not currently expect to do so prior to the

exercise of the granted share options, and therefore uses an expected dividend yield of zero in the
Polynomial model.
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The Company will issue new shares to satisfy share option exercises. The following table summarizes the
Company'’s share option exercises:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
(in US$°000)
Cash received from share option exercises 2,452 593 251
Total intrinsic value of share option exercises 2,999 2,475 1,189

The Group recognizes compensation expense on a graded vesting approach over the requisite service
period. The following table presents share-based compensation expense included in the Group’s consolidated
statements of operations:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
(in US$’000)
Research and development expenses 8,460 4,061 6,634
Selling and administrative expenses 7,783 4,586 539
Cost of revenues 122 90 —
16,365 8,737 7,173

As at December 31, 2021, the total unrecognized compensation cost was US$23,051,000, and will be
recognized on a graded vesting approach over the weighted average remaining service period of 3.04 years.

(i)  LTIP

The Company grants awards under the LTIP to participating directors and employees, giving them a
conditional right to receive ordinary shares of the Company or the equivalent ADS (collectively the “Awarded
Shares”) to be purchased by the Trustee up to a cash amount. Vesting will depend upon continued employment
of the award holder with the Group and will otherwise be at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the
Company. Additionally, some awards are subject to change based on annual performance targets prior to their
determination date.

LTIP awards prior to the determination date

Performance targets vary by award, and may include targets for shareholder returns, financings, free cash
flows, revenues, net profit after taxes and the achievement of clinical and regulatory milestones. As the extent
of achievement of the performance targets is uncertain prior to the determination date, a probability based on
management’s assessment on the achievement of the performance target has been assigned to calculate the
amount to be recognized as an expense over the requisite period with a corresponding entry to liability.

LTIP awards after the determination date

Upon the determination date, the Company will pay a determined monetary amount, up to the maximum
cash amount based on the actual achievement of the performance target specified in the award, to the Trustee
to purchase the Awarded Shares. Any cumulative compensation expense previously recognized as a liability
will be transferred to additional paid-in capital, as an equity-settled award. If the performance target is not
achieved, no Awarded Shares of the Company will be purchased and the amount previously recorded in the
liability will be reversed through share-based compensation expense.



Granted awards under the LTIP are as follows:

Maximum cash amount Covered Performance target
Grant date (in US$ millions) financial years determination date
August 5, 2019 0.7 2019 note (a)
October 10, 2019 0.1 note (b) note (b)
April 20, 2020 5.3 2019 note (d)
April 20, 2020 37.4 2020 note (a)
April 20, 2020 1.9 note (b) note (b)
April 20, 2020 0.2 note (c) note (c)
August 12, 2020 21 2020 note (a)
August 12, 2020 0.3 note (b) note (b)
March 26, 2021 57.3 2021 note (a)
September 1, 2021 7.3 2021 note (a)
September 1, 2021 0.5 note (b) note (b)
October 20, 2021 1.7 note (b) note (b)
December 14, 2021 0.1 note (b) note (b)
December 14, 2021 0.1 note (c) note (c)

Notes:

(a) The annual performance target determination date is the date of the announcement of the Group’s annual
results for the covered financial year and vesting occurs two business days after the announcement of the
Group’s annual results for the financial year falling two years after the covered financial year to which the
LTIP award relates.

(b) This award does not stipulate performance targets and is subject to a vesting schedule of 25% on each of
the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant.

(c) This award does not stipulate performance targets and will be vested on the first anniversary of the date of
grant.

(d) This award does not stipulate performance targets and vesting occurs two business days after the
announcement of the Group’s annual results for the financial year falling two years after the covered
financial year to which the LTIP award relates.

The Trustee has been set up solely for the purpose of purchasing and holding the Awarded Shares during
the vesting period on behalf of the Company using funds provided by the Company. On the determination date,
if any, the Company will determine the cash amount, based on the actual achievement of each annual
performance target, for the Trustee to purchase the Awarded Shares. The Awarded Shares will then be held by
the Trustee until they are vested.
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The Trustee’s assets include treasury shares and funds for additional treasury shares, trustee fees and
expenses. The number of treasury shares (in the form of ordinary shares or ADS of the Company) held by the
Trustee were as follows:

Number of Cost
treasury shares (in US$°000)
As at January 1, 2019 1,121,030 6,677
Purchased 60,430 346
Vested (240,150) (944)
As at December 31, 2019 941,310 6,079
Purchased 3,281,920 12,904
Vested (712,555) (4,828)
As at December 31, 2020 3,510,675 14,155
Purchased 4,907,045 27,309
Vested (278,545) (1,450)
As at December 31, 2021 8,139,175 40,014

Based on the estimated achievement of performance conditions for 2021 financial year LTIP awards, the
determined monetary amount was US$52,056,000 which is recognized to share-based compensation expense
over the requisite vesting period to March 2024.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, US$6,618,000, US$7,038,000 and US$262,000
of the LTIP awards were forfeited respectively based on the determined or estimated monetary amount as at
the forfeiture date.

The following table presents the share-based compensation expenses recognized under the LTIP awards:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
(in US$°000)

Research and development expenses 16,880 7,252 2,640
Selling and administrative expenses 8,451 3,552 1,779
Cost of revenues 294 101 —

25,625 10,905 4,419
Recorded with a corresponding credit to:
Liability 14,263 7,778 2,694
Additional paid-in capital 11,362 3,127 1,725

25,625 10,905 4,419

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, US$8,516,000, US$4,092,000 and US$526,000
were reclassified from liability to additional paid-in capital respectively upon LTIP awards reaching the
determination date. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, US$12,836,000 and US$7,089,000 were recorded as
liabilities respectively for LTIP awards prior to the determination date.

As at December 31, 2021, the total unrecognized compensation cost was approximately US$53,152,000,
which considers expected performance targets and the amounts expected to vest, and will be recognized over
the requisite periods.



19. Revenues

The following table presents disaggregated revenue, with sales of goods recognized at a point-in-time and
provision of services recognized over time:

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Oncology/
Immunology Other Ventures Total
(in US$°000)
Goods—Marketed Products 33,937 — 33,937
Goods—Distribution — 236,518 236,518
Services—Commercialization—Marketed 27,428 — 27,428
Products
—Collaboration Research and 18,995 — 18,995
Development
—Research and Development 525 — 525
Royalties 15,064 — 15,064
Licensing 23,661 — 23,661
119,610 236,518 356,128
Third parties 119,085 232,262 351,347
Related parties (Note 24(i)) 525 4,256 4,781
119,610 236,518 356,128
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Oncology/
Immunology Other Ventures Total
(in US$°000)
Goods—Marketed Products 11,329 — 11,329
Goods—Distribution — 197,761 197,761
Services—Commercialization—Marketed 3,734 — 3,734
Products
—Collaboration Research and 9,771 — 9,771
Development
—Research and Development 491 — 491
Royalties 4,890 — 4,890
30,215 197,761 227,976
Third parties 29,724 192,277 222,001
Related parties (Note 24(i)) 491 5,484 5,975
30,215 197,761 227,976
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Oncology/
Immunology Other Ventures Total
(in US$°000)
Goods—Marketed Products 8,113 — 8,113
Goods—Distribution — 175,514 175,514
Services—Commercialization — 2,584 2,584
—Collaboration Research and 15,532 — 15,532
Development
—Research and Development 494 — 494
Royalties 2,653 — 2,653
26,792 178,098 204,890
Third parties 26,298 170,461 196,759
Related parties (Note 24(i)) 494 7,637 8,131
26,792 178,098 204,890
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The following table presents liability balances from contracts with customers:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$’000)

Deferred revenue
Current—Oncology/Immunology segment (note (a)) 11,078 1,450
Current—Other Ventures segment (note (b)) 1,196 147
12,274 1,597
Non-current—Oncology/Immunology segment (note (a)) 878 484
Total deferred revenue (note (c) and (d)) 13,152 2,081

Notes:

(a) Oncology/Immunology segment deferred revenue relates to invoiced amounts for royalties which the
customer has not yet completed the in-market sale, unamortized upfront and milestone payments and
advance consideration received for cost reimbursements which are attributed to research and development
services that have not yet been rendered as at the reporting date.

(b) Other Ventures segment deferred revenue relates to payments in advance from customers for goods that
have not been transferred and services that have not been rendered to the customer as at the reporting
date.

(c) Estimated deferred revenue to be recognized over time as from the date indicated is as follows:

December 31,

2021 2020
(in US$’000)
Not later than 1 year 12,274 1,597
Between 1 to 2 years 476 211
Between 2 to 3 years 255 205
Between 3 to 4 years 147 68
13,152 2,081

(d) As atJanuary 1, 2021, deferred revenue was US$2.1 million, of which US$0.7 million was recognized during
the year ended December 31, 2021.

License and collaboration agreement with Eli Lilly

On October 8, 2013, the Group entered into a licensing, co-development and commercialization agreement
in China with Eli Lilly and Company (“Lilly”) relating to Elunate (“Lilly Agreement”), also known as fruquintinib,
a targeted oncology therapy for the treatment of various types of solid tumors. Under the terms of the Lilly
Agreement, the Group is entitled to receive a series of payments up to US$86.5 million, including upfront
payments and development and regulatory approval milestones. Development costs after the first development
milestone are shared between the Group and Lilly. Elunate was successfully commercialized in China in
November 2018, and the Group receives tiered royalties in the range of 15% to 20% on all sales in China.

In December 2018, the Group entered into various amendments to the Lilly Agreement (the “2018
Amendment”). Under the terms of the 2018 Amendment, the Group is entitled to determine and conduct future
life cycle indications (“LCI") development of Elunate in China beyond the three initial indications specified in the
Lilly Agreement and will be responsible for all associated development costs. In return, the Group will receive
additional regulatory approval milestones of US$20 million for each LCI approved, for up to three LCI or US$60
million in aggregate, and will increase tiered royalties to a range of 15% to 29% on all Elunate sales in China
upon the commercial launch of the first LCI. Additionally, through the 2018 Amendment, Lilly has provided
consent, and freedom to operate, for the Group to enter into joint development collaborations with certain third-
party pharmaceutical companies to explore combination treatments of Elunate and various immunotherapy
agents. The 2018 Amendment also provided the Group rights to promote Elunate in provinces that represent
30% to 40% of the sales of Elunate in China upon the occurrence of certain commercial milestones by Lilly.
Such rights were further amended below.



In July 2020, the Group entered into an amendment to the Lilly Agreement (the “2020 Amendment”) relating
to the expansion of the Group’s role in the commercialization of Elunate across all of China. Under the terms of
the 2020 Amendment, the Group is responsible for providing promotion and marketing services, including the
development and execution of all on-the-ground medical detailing, promotion and local and regional marketing
activities, in return for service fees on sales of Elunate made by Lilly. In October 2020, the Group commenced
such promotion and marketing services. In addition, development and regulatory approval milestones for an
initial indication under the Lilly Agreement were increased by US$10 million in lieu of cost reimbursement.

Upfront and cumulative milestone payments according to the Lilly Agreement received up to December 31,
2021 are summarized as follows:

(in US$°000)
Upfront payment 6,500
Development milestone payments achieved 40,000

The Lilly Agreement has the following performance obligations: (1) the license for the commercialization
rights to Elunate and (2) the research and development services for the specified indications. The transaction
price includes the upfront payment, research and development cost reimbursements, milestone payments and
sales-based royalties. Milestone payments were not included in the transaction price until it became probable
that a significant reversal of revenue would not occur, which is generally when the specified milestone is
achieved. The allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation was based on the relative
standalone selling prices of each performance obligation determined at the inception of the contract. Based on
this estimation, proportionate amounts of transaction price to be allocated to the license to Elunate and the
research and development services were 90% and 10% respectively. Control of the license to Elunate
transferred at the inception date of the agreement and consequently, amounts allocated to this performance
obligation were recognized at inception. Conversely, research and development services for each specified
indication are performed over time and amounts allocated are recognized over time using the prior and
estimated future development costs for Elunate as a measure of progress. Royalties are recognized as future
sales occur as they meet the requirements for the sales-usage based royalty exception.

The 2018 Amendment is a separate contract as it added distinct research and development services for the
LCIs to the Lilly Agreement. The 2020 Amendment related to the promotion and marketing services is a
separate contract as it added distinct services to the Lilly Agreement. Such promotion and marketing services
are recognized over time based on amounts that can be invoiced to Lilly. The 2020 Amendment related to the
additional development and regulatory approval milestone amounts is a modification as it only affected the
transaction price of research and development services for a specific indication under the Lilly Agreement, and
therefore, such additional milestone amounts will be included in the transaction price accounted under the Lilly
Agreement once the specified milestones are achieved.

Revenue recognized under the Lilly Agreement and subsequent amendments is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
(in US$°000)
Goods—Marketed Products 15,792 11,329 8,113
Services—Commercialization—Marketed Products 27,428 3,734 —
—~Collaboration Research and Development 4,491 1,991 4,005
Royalties 10,292 4,890 2,653
58,003 21,944 14,771
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License and collaboration agreement with AstraZeneca

On December 21, 2011, the Group and AstraZeneca AB (publ) (“AZ”) entered into a global licensing, co-
development, and commercialization agreement for Orpathys (“AZ Agreement”), also known as savolitinib, a
novel targeted therapy and a highly selective inhibitor of the c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase for the treatment of
cancer. Under the terms of the AZ Agreement, the Group is entitled to receive a series of payments up to US$140
million, including upfront payments and development and first-sale milestones. Additionally, the AZ Agreement
contains possible significant future commercial sale milestones. Development costs for Orpathys in China will
be shared between the Group and AZ, with the Group continuing to lead the development in China. AZ will lead
and pay for the development of Orpathys for the rest of the world. Orpathys was successfully commercialized
in China in July 2021, and the Group receives fixed royalties of 30% based on all sales in China. Should
Orpathys be successfully commercialized outside China, the Group would receive tiered royalties from 9% to
13% on all sales outside of China.

In August 2016 (as amended in December 2020), the Group entered into an amendment to the AZ
Agreement whereby the Group shall pay the first approximately US$50 million of phase III clinical trial costs
related to developing Orpathys for renal cell carcinoma (“RCC”), and remaining costs will be shared between
the Group and AZ. Subject to approval of Orpathys in RCC, the Group would receive additional tiered royalties
on all sales outside of China, with the incremental royalty rates determined based on actual sharing of
development costs. In November 2021, the Group entered into an additional amendment which revised the
sharing between the Group and AZ of development costs for Orpathys in China for non-small cell lung cancer,
as well as adding potential development milestones.

Upfront and cumulative milestone payments according to the AZ Agreement received up to December 31,
2021 are summarized as follows:

(in US$°000)
Upfront payment 20,000
Development milestone payments achieved 25,000
First-sale milestone payment achieved 25,000

The AZ Agreement has the following performance obligations: (1) the license for the commercialization
rights to Orpathys and (2) the research and development services for the specified indications. The transaction
price includes the upfront payment, research and development cost reimbursements, milestone payments and
sales-based royalties. Milestone payments were not included in the transaction price until it became probable
that a significant reversal of revenue would not occur, which is generally when the specified milestone is
achieved. The allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation was based on the relative
standalone selling prices of each performance obligation determined at the inception of the contract. Based on
this estimation, proportionate amounts of transaction price to be allocated to the license to Orpathys and the
research and development services were 95% and 5% respectively. Control of the license to Orpathys
transferred at the inception date of the agreement and consequently, amounts allocated to this performance
obligation were recognized at inception. Conversely, research and development services for each specified
indication are performed over time and amounts allocated are recognized over time using the prior and
estimated future development costs for Orpathys as a measure of progress.

Revenue recognized under the AZ Agreement and subsequent amendments is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
(in US$’000)
Goods—Marketed Products 6,509 — —
Services—Collaboration Research and Development 14,113 7,780 11,527
Royalties 4772 — —
Licensing 23,661 — —
49,055 7,780 11,527




20. In-Licensing arrangement

On August 7, 2021, the Group and Epizyme, Inc. (“Epizyme”) entered into a license agreement (the “In-
license Agreement”) for tazemetostat, a novel inhibitor of EZH2 that is approved by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration for the treatment of certain patients with epithelioid sarcoma and follicular lymphoma. The Group
will be responsible for the development and commercialization of tazemetostat in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan (the “Territory”) and also holds rights to manufacture tazemetostat for the Territory. The Group also
received a 4-year warrant, exercisable up to August 7, 2025, to purchase up to 5,653,000 shares of Epizyme
common stock for an exercise price of US$11.50 per share.

Under the terms of the In-license Agreement and warrant, the Group paid Epizyme a US$25 million upfront
payment and is obligated for a series of success-based payments up to US$110 million in development and
regulatory milestones and up to US$175 million in sales milestones. Success-based payments are recognized
when the related milestone is achieved. After tazemetostat is commercialized in the Territory, the Group will
incur tiered royalties based on net sales. As at December 31, 2021, no amounts of development and regulatory
milestones, sales milestones or royalties had been paid.

The US$25 million upfront payment was first allocated to the warrant for its initial fair value of US$15 million,
and the remainder was allocated to the rights to tazemetostat which were expensed to research and
development expense as in-process research and development.

The warrant was recorded as a financial asset at fair value with changes to fair value recognized to the
consolidated statements of operations. As at December 31, 2021, the warrant had not been exercised. For the
year ended December 31, 2021, a fair value loss of US$12.5 million was recognized to other expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations. In estimating the fair value of the warrant, the following assumptions
were used in the Black Scholes model for the dates indicated:

August 7, December 31,
2021 2021
Fair value of the warrant (in US$'000) 15,000 2,452
Significant inputs into the valuation model:
Exercise price (in US$ per share) 11.50 11.50
Share price (in US$ per share) 6.47 2.50
Expected volatility (note (a)) 74.48% 72.03%
Risk-free interest rate (note (b)) 0.59% 1.05%
Remaining contractual life of the warrant (in years) 4.00 3.60
Expected dividend yield (note (c)) 0% 0%
Notes:

(a) Expected volatility references the historical volatility for the remaining contractual life of the warrant.

(b) The risk-free interest rates reference the U.S. Treasury yield curves because Epizyme’s common stock is
currently listed on the NASDAQ and denominated in USS$.

(c) Epizyme has not declared or paid any dividends and the Group does not currently expect it to do so within
the remaining contractual life 